# INDIVIDUALIZED CHOICES AND DIGITAL NUDGING: MULTIPLE STUDIES IN DIGITAL RETAIL CHANNELS

Zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktors der Wirtschaftswissenschaften

Dr. rer. pol.

von der Fakultät für Wirtschaftswissenschaften des Karlsruher Instituts für Technologie (KIT) genehmigte

DISSERTATION

von

Dennis Kaiser (geb. Hummel), M.Sc.

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:

Referent:

Korreferent:

03. Dezember 2018

Prof. Dr. Alexander Mädche

Prof. Dr. Martin Klarmann

Karlsruhe, 2018

# Table of Contents

1	Intro	duction	1
	1.1 N	Motivation	1
	1.2 H	Research Questions	3
	1.3	Thesis Structure	5
2	Theo	retical and Conceptual Foundations	7
	2.1 I	Research Streams	7
	2.2 I	Frameworks of Multi-Channel Management and Multi-Channel Behavior	8
	2.2.1	Provider Perspective	8
	2.2.2	Consumer Perspective	9
	2.3 I	ndividual Characteristics	11
	2.3.1	Personality	11
	2.3.2	Gender	14
	2.4 H	Sehavioral Economics and Nudging	15
	2.4.1	Behavioral Economics	15
	2.4.2	Nudging	16
	2.4.3	Digital Nudging	
	2.5	Overview of Studies and Theoretical and Conceptual Foundations	19
3	Indiv	idualized Channel Choices in Digital Retail Channels	21
	3.1 \$	Study 1: Systematic Literature Review on Determinants of Multi-Channel Behavior	21
	3.1.1	Introduction	21
	3.1.2	Theoretical Background	22
	3.1.3	Research Methodology	24
	3.1.4	Results	
	3.1.5	Research Distribution and Services Relevance	29
	3.1.6	Conclusion and Outlook	
	3.2 \$	Study 2: The Role of Personality Traits and Gender Roles in Digital Retail Channels	
	3.2.1	Introduction	
	3.2.2	Theoretical Background	
	3.2.3	Hypotheses Development	
	3.2.3 3.2.4	Hypotheses Development Research Methodology	39 41
	3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.5	Hypotheses Development Research Methodology Results	39 41 44
	<ul><li>3.2.3</li><li>3.2.4</li><li>3.2.5</li><li>3.2.6</li></ul>	Hypotheses Development Research Methodology Results Discussion	39 41 44 48
	3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.5 3.2.6 3.2.7	Hypotheses Development Research Methodology Results Discussion Conclusion	

4	Nud	ging Consumer Choices in Digital Retail Channels	53
	4.1	Study 3: How Effective is Nudging? A Quantitative Literature Review	53
	4.1.1	Introduction	53
	4.1.2	2 Theoretical Background	55
	4.1.3	Research Methodology	57
	4.1.4	Results Literature Review	61
	4.1.5	Results Quantitative Analysis	65
	4.1.6	Discussion and Avenues for Future Research in Digital Nudging	69
	4.1.7	Conclusion	73
	4.2	Study 4: Individualized Digital Nudges for Sustainable Choices in Digital Retail Channels	75
	4.2.1	Introduction	75
	4.2.2	2 Theoretical Background and Hypotheses Development	77
	4.2.3	Research Methodology	83
	4.2.4	Results	86
	4.2.5	Discussion	94
	4.2.6	6 Conclusion	96
5	Disc	ussion	99
	5.1	Overall Discussion	99
	5.2	Contributions to Theory	. 101
	5.3	Contributions to Practice	. 104
	5.4	Limitations	. 105
	5.5	Future Research	. 106
	5.6	Concluding Remarks	. 108
6	Ref	Prences	109
Ū.			
A	ppendi	X	137
	Appen	lix A: Zusammenfassung (deutsch)	. 137
	Appen	lix B: Measurement items for Study 2 and Study 4	. 142
	Appen	dix C: Additional material for Study 2 and Study 4	. 148
	Appen	dix D: List of primary studies for systematic literature reviews	. 150
	Appen	lix E: Screenshots of experiment prototypes	. 152

# Tables

Table 1. Mindspace framework based on Dolan et al. (2012)	17
Table 2. Overview of ten important nudges based on Sunstein (2014)	17
Table 3. Overview of studies and theoretical foundations of this thesis	19
Table 4. Subset of related work on multi-channel behavior	23
Table 5. Related work on personality traits and gender roles in online environments	37
Table 6. Demographics of laboratory experiment participants	44
Table 7. Measurement model assessment and descriptive statistics	45
Table 8. Inter-construct correlation matrix	46
Table 9. Overview of existing literature reviews and meta-analyses on nudging	56
Table 10. Search string, databases and narrow-down of systematic literature review	59
Table 11. Exemplary extract of data storage	59
Table 12. Category-context matrix of number of effect sizes	64
Table 13. Overview of data points of quantitative analysis	66
Table 14. Average and median effect sizes per context	66
Table 15. Average and median effect sizes per category of nudge	67
Table 16. Key challenges and research streams in digital nudging for the IS community	72
Table 17. Related work on nudging and personality traits in a sustainability context	78
Table 18. Overview of experimental treatments	84
Table 19. Overview of personality traits	87
Table 20. Regression output of logistic regression model of main treatment effects	88
Table 21. Regression output of logistic regression model including personality traits	89
Table 22. Inter-construct correlation matrix	93
Table 23. Theoretical contributions according to theory type	101
Table 24. Measurement items (Study 2)	142
Table 25. Measurement items (Study 4)	145
Table 26. Regression output of mixed effects logistic regression model of main treatment effects	148
Table 27. Regression output of mixed effects logistic regression model including personality traits	s 149

# Figures

Figure 1. Model of IS research identity based on Sidorova et al. (2008)	2
Figure 2. Structure of the thesis	5
Figure 3. Overview of research streams, theoretical foundations and research gaps	7
Figure 4. MCMD framework based on Neslin and Shankar (2009)	
Figure 5. Exemplary model of channel choices based on Kim et al. (2008)	11
Figure 6. Sociogenomic model of personality traits based on Roberts (2009)	
Figure 7. Gender schema theory based on Bem et al. (1981)	14
Figure 8. Morphological box of determinants of MC behavior	
Figure 9. Morphological box of determinants of MC behavior including research coverage	
Figure 10. Research model	
Figure 11. Experiment process	
Figure 12. Results of the structural model	
Figure 13. Morphological box of experimental nudging studies	
Figure 14. Morphological box of experimental nudging studies including counting	
Figure 15. Distribution of papers according to category (left) and context (right) per year	65
Figure 16. Boxplot of relative effect sizes per context	67
Figure 17. Boxplot of relative effect sizes per category of nudge (alphabetical order)	
Figure 18. Avenues for future research along the digital nudging cycle	71
Figure 19. Research model	
Figure 20. Boxplot of number of sustainable products chosen per treatment group	
Figure 21. Interaction effects of defaults and openness and warnings and conscientiousness	
Figure 22. Full research model (Study 2)	148
Figure 23. Screenshot of banking website for information stage (Study 2)	152
Figure 24. Screenshot of banking website for channel choice (Study 2)	152
Figure 25. Exemplary screenshot of the different labels of the pre-test (Study 4)	153
Figure 26. Screenshot of online shop with social norms nudge (Study 4)	153
Figure 27. Screenshot of online shop with default nudge (Study 4)	154
Figure 28. Screenshot of online shop with warnings nudge (Study 4)	154

# List of Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
AVE	Average Variance Extracted
BFI	Big Five Inventory
BIT	Behavioral Intervention Team
BSRI	Bem Sex Role Inventory
Cb. a	Cronbach's Alpha
CB-SEM	Covariance-Based Structural Equation Modelling
CR	Composite Reliability
DINU	Digital Nudging Process Model
DSR	Design Science Research
DSS	Decision Support System
EU	European Union
EUR	Euro
GDPR	General Data Protection Regulation
Н	Hypothesis
HCI	Human-Computer-Interaction
IQR	Interquartile Range
IS	Information Systems
IT	Information Technology
MA	Meta-Analysis
MC	Multi-Channel
MCMD	Multichannel Customer Management Decision
No.	Number

PLS	Partial Least Squares
PLS-SEM	Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling
QA	Quantitative Analysis
RQ	Research Question
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trials
SD	Standard Deviation
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SEM	Structural Equation Modelling
SLR	Systematic Literature Review
S-O-R	Stimulus-Organism-Response
TAM	Technology Acceptance Model
UI	User Interface
UN	United Nations
VIF	Variance Inflation Factor

## Summary

Information technology has led to the development of new digital retail channels (Avalaunch Media 2009; Watson et al. 2015). This has dramatically increased consumers' options to purchase products and services in different channels, enabling a multi-channel behavior of consumers (Verhoef et al. 2007). With many advantages, the development also bears negative consequences for consumers, e.g. by a prolonged purchasing process or by competing information and experiences in different channels (Brynjolfsson et al. 2013; Rawson et al. 2013). In turn, providers suffer from cross-channel free-riding behavior of consumers (Chiu et al. 2011; Chou et al. 2016) or the choice of those channels with higher transaction costs (PwC 2012).

The negative consequences can, in part, be balanced with an individualized user interface (UI) which can be more effective than a standard interface for the whole population (Nov, Arazy, López, et al. 2013). UIs can be individualized on the basis of consumer characteristics (e.g. Nov, Arazy, Lotts, et al. 2013; Oulasvirta and Blom 2008). Among such characteristics, particularly the personality of consumers is applicable (Codish and Ravid 2014; Nov, Arazy, López, et al. 2013). Yet, current research lacks the knowledge of how channel characteristics interact with individual consumer characteristics. Once the interaction is known, it can be used to guide, or to "nudge" (Thaler and Sunstein 2008) consumer behavior. Hence, we assume that the knowledge of such interaction effects can also be used to individualize tools of choice architecture (Strahilevitz and Porat 2014; Thaler and Sunstein 2008). Based on this assumption, we aim to understand consumer behavior, and how to nudge it through the interplay between channel characteristics and individual consumer characteristics in digital retail channels.

The first study addresses determinants of multi-channel behavior by means of a systematic literature review (Webster and Watson 2002) as we identified the need to integrate knowledge from a wide range of disciplines. Based on 53 studies we develop a morphological box and cluster multitudinous characteristics and outcomes into four dimensions: channel, context, consumer and product. Through a numerical counting approach, we highlight under-researched areas, and derive three important research questions (RQs) for future exploration.

Based on the findings of the first study, the second study investigates the link between individual characteristics, especially personality traits and gender roles, and channel characteristics. This link is particularly helpful for the individualization of digital retail channels. A laboratory experiment with 236 participants is conducted and the resulting data is analyzed using structural equation modelling (Hair et al. 1998). Thereby, we are able to extend an existing decision-making model (Kim et al. 2008) with personality traits and gender roles. For example, we can show that agreeableness is positively related to trust, and that neuroticism has a strong negative relationship with perceived benefits. This knowledge can be used to influence consumer behavior.

When turning to influencing consumer behavior, we use the concept of nudging (Thaler and Sunstein 2008). Thus, the third study particularly aims to clarify how nudges can be classified. It also determines the influencing factors for the effect sizes of different categories of nudges in previous studies. Therefore, we conduct a quantitative literature review with 100 primary studies from different disciplines and derive another morphological box with eight dimensions to classify nudging studies. We estimate that the nudges have a median effect size of 21% and that only 63% of all nudging treatments produce significant results. Moreover, we find that the type of nudge as well as the context have an influence on the effect size of the treatment. The results contribute to a nuanced view on nudging and provide avenues for future research for researchers as well as implications for practitioners.

The third study has taught us that nudge treatments are often insignificant. Digital environments offer the chance to individualize digital nudges according to the individual consumer characteristics, such as their personality. To test for this interaction in the fourth study, we design and conduct an online survey experiment with 452 participants implementing three different digital nudges (defaults, social norms, warnings) in a sustainable consumption context. The results are surprising: While defaults are effective in increasing the choice of sustainable products, social norms reduce this choice. Further, we show that the interaction of certain digital nudges and personality traits can enhance or diminish the effectiveness of the digital nudge. This sheds light on digital nudging and shows that digital nudges can have positive as well as negative effects, depending on the type and the recipient of it.

The contributions of the thesis are multifold. Overall, we enhance the understanding of consumer behavior in digital retail channels by providing opportunities and insights on the limits of influencing it. In particular, we conceptualize determinants of multi-channel behavior and offer avenues for future research. Following these avenues, we extend a prominent decision-making model (Kim et al. 2008), and show how personality traits and gender roles antecede channel characteristics. Moreover, based on a quantitative literature review, we develop a morphological box of empirical nudging studies and extend the knowledge of the (in)effectiveness of nudging. In addition, we shed light on the moderating effects of personality traits in digital nudging.

Practitioners can use the findings from this work to adapt their digital retail channels to the individual consumer characteristics. To do so, designers of digital retail channels can use today's technological advancements of deriving personality traits based on social media data (Bachrach et al. 2012; Markovikj et al. 2013) and adapt their channels by adding certain channel characteristics (Study 2) or digital nudges (Study 4). Moreover, policy makers can implement the findings to increase the impact of environmentally friendly policies, for example by wording social norms to promote sustainable behavior online exactly and cautiously.

## 1 Introduction

## 1.1 Motivation

New technologies are at the center of humankind's innovation efforts. Among others, they have led to the development of new retail channels (Avalaunch Media 2009; Watson et al. 2015) which gives consumers unprecedented access to products and services independent of time and location. This access has created a new type of consumer behavior across different channels. Before the age of online and mobile channels, consumers frequented stores and branches while nowadays they are able to combine several channels within one purchasing process (Gensler et al. 2012; Neslin and Shankar 2009; Verhoef et al. 2007). The terms online channel or Internet refer here to the traditional desktop-based access possibilities and, together with other channels relying on modern communication technologies, can be subsumed under the term "digital retail channels" (Bianchi et al. 2016) (hereafter referred to as "digital channels").

This multi-channel behavior has several implications for consumers and providers. On the one hand, providers can increase sales and profits through better access to their channels, and operating multiple channels generally benefits the firm (Kumar and Venkatesan 2005; Neslin and Shankar 2009). On the other hand, consumers can choose those channels with higher transaction costs for providers by visiting the branch instead of using digital channels (PwC 2012). Moreover, they can engage in cross-channel free-riding behavior (Chiu et al. 2011; Chou et al. 2016) which could outweigh the benefits of additional sales. Similarly, consumers now profit from an increased variety, higher flexibility and convenience in their shopping behavior (e.g. Farag et al. 2006; Gensler et al. 2012). Yet, consumers could suffer from a prolonged purchasing process or from competing information and experiences in different channels (Brynjolfsson et al. 2013; Rawson et al. 2013). Moreover, many consumers still associate high risks with and demonstrate little trust in digital channels (Chou et al. 2016; Dinev and Hart 2006; Everard and Galletta 2006). As a consequence, only few consumers rely exclusively on digital channels (Sopadjieva et al. 2017). Overall, we conclude that consumers and providers do not profit from technological innovation as much as they could.

One possible solution to this dilemma is individualizing the design of digital channels. Especially by implementing an individualized user interface, which can be more effective than a standard interface for the whole population (Nov, Arazy, López, et al. 2013), the negative consequences can be balanced. Previous studies have shown that individualizing the UI according to the individual user or consumer characteristics increases user's online contribution (Nov, Arazy, López, et al. 2013) or participation (Nov, Arazy, Lotts, et al. 2013). Moreover, a well-designed individualization might increase the use of new technology (Oulasvirta and Blom 2008), and it has proven to be effective in other areas of information systems (IS), e.g. in gamification (Codish and Ravid 2014) or nudging based on big data

(Strahilevitz and Porat 2014; Thaler and Sunstein 2008). Hence, similar advantages and outcomes are also expected for the domain of digital channels (Walsh and Godfrey 2000). Yet, few consumers want to customize or individualize the UI themselves so that it is the responsibility of the providers to integrate an automated individualization. However, researchers and practitioners lack the knowledge of how channel characteristics interact with individual characteristics. In particular, UIs can be individualized based on the personality of consumers (Codish and Ravid 2014; Nov, Arazy, López, et al. 2013).

Personality traits can be described as "an individual's dispositions or tendencies that lead to certain attitudinal and behavioral patterns across situations" (Junglas et al. 2008, p. 391; McCrae and Costa 1987). In other words, personality traits predefine to some extent patterns of how we act in different situations. They are particularly applicable to the individualization of user interfaces as they have proven to be meaningful moderators in a variety of studies in digital environments (Bansal et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2013; Nov, Arazy, López, et al. 2013; Rodríguez-Torrico et al. 2017). Personality traits can be measured with established inventories, such as the Big Five Inventory (BFI) (McCrae and Costa 1987; McCrae and John 1992) (see Chapter 2.3.1)

The interplay between digital channels ("IT Artifact") and individual characteristics ("Individuals") is also reflected in the identity of IS research (Sidorova et al. 2008) which is depicted in Figure 1. The dimension of IT and individuals is one integral part of the IS Research Identity and it is comprised of four sub-dimensions, namely impact, usage, capabilities, and practices (Sidorova et al. 2008). These sub-dimensions examine primarily psychological aspects of human-computer interactions (HCI) and focus for instance on individual technology acceptance, online consumers or personalization and privacy (Sidorova et al. 2008). Hence, it fits perfectly with the challenges describe above as well as the theoretical and conceptual foundations in Chapter 2.



Once the interaction of IT and individuals is known, it can be used to guide, or "nudge" (Thaler and Sunstein 2008), consumer choices using individualized digital nudges. Individualization of nudges has been suggested by various studies in different settings (e.g. Goldstein et al. 2008; Halpern 2016; Johnson et al. 2012), but is a concept that has not been verified empirically. Individualization of nudges is difficult in conventional settings but more promising where digital environments are concerned ("digital nudging"), which becomes increasingly important due to the development of new channels.

Therefore, this thesis aims to understand the interplay between channel characteristics and individual consumer characteristics in digital channels to individualize channel choices and nudge consumer choices. The challenges and strategies of understanding and influencing consumer behavior are translated into research questions (RQs) in the following section.

### 1.2 Research Questions

The rise of new technologies and the combination of different channels by consumers raise the question which channel is considered under which circumstances. Only few studies have collected determinants of multi-channel (MC) behavior (Mirsch et al. 2016a; Neslin et al. 2006; Trenz and Veit 2015; Zhang and Benyoucef 2016). All of these studies have some drawbacks, mostly because they do not derive the clusters of determinants methodologically, because they focus on the provider perspective (Mirsch et al. 2016a), or because they do not use a systematic literature review (SLR) (Trenz and Veit 2015). Moreover, multi-channel behavior in the context of physical products is widely researched (e.g. Inman et al. 2004; Keen et al. 2004; Thomas and Sullivan 2005), but not all results are transferrable to services. This leads to the following research question:

#### RQ 1: What are determinants of multi-channel behavior for products and services?

Research question 1 is addressed by a systematic literature review in Study 1.

Once the determinants of multi-channel behavior are conceptualized, the next step is to look at the linkage between individual characteristics, especially personality traits and gender roles, and channel characteristics. Only few consumers rely exclusively on digital channels and most combine offline and online channels during the purchasing process (Sopadjieva et al. 2017). This bears negative consequences for providers (Chou et al. 2016; PwC 2012) and consumers (Brynjolfsson et al. 2013; Rawson et al. 2013). One possibility to curb such consequences might be an individualization of digital channels according to the individual consumer characteristics. Yet, to be able to design and to individualize digital channels requires an understanding of the interplay between individual and channel characteristics. To do so, we build upon an existing decision-making model (Kim et al. 2008). Hence, we address the following research question:

**RQ 2**: *What is the effect of personality traits and gender roles on perceived risk, trust, and perceived benefits?* 

To answer research question 2, we conducted a laboratory experiment in a mid-sized German city with 236 participants.

Research questions 3 and 4 are dedicated to individualized nudging (Thaler and Sunstein 2008) of consumer choices. Since the origin of the nudging concept in 2008, governments in the United Kingdom (UK), Germany and other countries have implemented departments of behavioral economics (e.g. Behavioral Insights Team 2016; Social and Behavioral Sciences Team 2016). Therefore, nudges now affect citizens through their influence on the political decision-making process, but it remains unclear if nudges really work and, if so, under which conditions. For example, the Science and Technology Committee of the UK, overseeing the Behavioral Intervention Team (BIT), has raised doubts whether experiments can be supported by appropriate evidence (see Halpern 2016; Kosters and Van der Heijden 2015). In addition, recent studies indicate limited effects of nudging (D'Adda et al. 2017; Esposito et al. 2017), or even report backfire effects with unintended consequences (e.g. Liu et al. 2016; See et al. 2013). Moreover, one of the authors of the nudging concept has even dedicated a separate journal paper on "nudges that fail" (Sunstein 2017). Consequently, we address the following research question:

# **RQ 3**: *How can nudges be classified and what are the influencing factors for the effect sizes of different categories of nudges?*

Research question 3 is addressed by a SLR (vom Brocke et al. 2009) and a quantitative analysis (QA) (Kitchenham 2004; Pickering and Byrne 2014; Stanley 2001).

Finally, the preceding findings are translated into a veritable real-world problem, that is the lack of sustainability which is one of the key challenges of our time (United Nations 2018). While many consumers wish to contribute to a more sustainable world, they often fail to behave as intended, which is labelled "attitude-behavior gap" (Ajzen 2001; Vermeir and Verbeke 2006). Digital tools of choice architecture, so-called digital nudges (Schneider et al. 2018; Thaler and Sunstein 2008), could help to overcome this gap. Based on the quantitative literature review (Study 3), especially defaults, social norms and warnings were identified as promising digital nudges. Moreover, it is reasonable to assume that individualizing the digital nudge according to the individual characteristics of the decision-maker improves the effectiveness of the digital nudge. While this relationship was proposed theoretically (Goldstein et al. 2008; Halpern 2016; Johnson et al. 2012), it has not yet been verified empirically. Personality traits are suitable individual characteristic as they have proven to be differentiating in earlier IS studies (Bansal et al. 2010; Svendsen et al. 2013). Hence, we aim to address the following research question:

**RQ 4**: How do different types of digital nudges (defaults, social norms and warnings) influence the choice of sustainable products in digital channels under consideration of personality traits?

Research question 4 is addressed by an online survey experiment with 452 participants. The data is analyzed using a logistic regression model.

### 1.3 Thesis Structure

This thesis is structured as follows (see Figure 2).



Firstly, the theoretical and conceptual foundations are derived and defined which we draw on throughout this doctoral thesis. Thereby, we outline different multi-channel frameworks and highlight the consumer and the provider perspective. In addition, we present theories for individual characteristics as well as their respective inventories, such as the Big Five Inventory (McCrae and Costa 1987; McCrae and John 1992) and the Bem Sex Role Inventory (Bem 1974). The chapter is concluded by a section on behavioral

economics and nudging. Secondly, Chapter 3 contains two studies that shed light on individualized channel choices. Study 1 analyzes determinants of multi-channel behavior by means of a systematic literature review while Study 2 outlines a laboratory experiment that is designed to research the relationship of personality traits and channel characteristics. Thirdly, Chapter 4 (comprised of Study 3 and Study 4) is dedicated to research the possibilities of nudging consumer choices in digital channels. Study 3 encompasses a quantitative literature review on the concept of (digital) nudging whereas Study 4 tests different digital nudges against each other to increase sustainable product choices. Finally, the thesis concludes with a discussion including limitations and areas of future research (Chapter 5).

This thesis is the synopsis of extensive research conducted throughout the past years. Parts of this dissertation have already been published at international peer-reviewed conferences or are under review in leading peer-reviewed journals of information systems and economics. Thus, this thesis provides the institutional framework of the respective research activities and publications. Specifically, this dissertation is based upon the following papers (Hummel et al. 2016; Hummel, Vogel, and Maedche 2018; Hummel, Vogel, Schacht, et al. 2018; Hummel and Maedche 2018):

- Hummel, D., Schacht, S. and Maedche, A. (2016). Determinants of Multi-Channel Behavior: Exploring Avenues for Future Research in the Services Industry. In: *Proceedings of the 37th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*, 1–12.
- Hummel, D., Vogel, T., Schacht, S. and Maedche, A. (2018). From the Why to the Who in Channel Choices: The Role of Personality Traits and Gender Roles to Individualize Digital Channels. Under review in European Journal of Information Systems, 1–24.
- Hummel, D. and Maedche, A. (2018). How Effective Is Nudging? A Quantitative Literature Review on the Effect Sizes and Limits of Empirical Nudging Studies. *Under review in Journal* of Behavioral and Experimental Economics, 1–29.
- Hummel, D., Vogel, T. and Maedche, A. (2018). Individualized Digital Nudges for Sustainable Product Choices in Digital Retail Channels: The Moderating Role of Personality Traits. *Working Paper*, 1–32.

A full list of the author's publications can be found in the Appendix.

# 2 Theoretical and Conceptual Foundations

This thesis relies on theoretical and conceptual foundations from marketing, psychology and information systems. Therefore, Chapter 2 outlines the research streams (Chapter 2.1), the frameworks of multichannel management and multi-channel behavior (Chapter 2.2), the individual characteristics of personality and gender roles (Chapter 2.3), behavioral economics and (digital) nudging (Chapter 2.4), as well as an overview of which theoretical and conceptual foundations are employed in the respective studies (Chapter 2.5).

## 2.1 Research Streams

Figure 3 provides an overview of the relevant research streams and exemplary papers within each stream. Thereby, the research stream on channel choices can be split into a marketing-oriented direction (focusing on multi- and omni-channel issues) and an IS-oriented direction (focusing on digital channel usage). The individual characteristics, labelled as "Personality, gender and IS", represent the second research stream with a focus on personality traits and gender roles in IS studies. Finally, nudging, a sub-discipline of behavioral economics, is presented as the third research stream (e.g. Ayres et al. 2013; Bond et al. 2012; Thaler and Sunstein 2008). The research gaps, which were outlined in the introduction, are illustrated in the respective research streams or at their intersections.



In the following, we outline the relevant frameworks and theories within each research stream.

# 2.2 Frameworks of Multi-Channel Management and Multi-Channel Behavior

Consumer behavior nowadays occurs in a multi- or omni-channel setting (Verhoef et al. 2007, 2015). Most studies can be divided along the lines of demand and supply, or a provider perspective and a consumer perspective (e.g. Neslin et al. 2006). While the provider perspective focuses on the implementation and management of multiple channels, the consumer perspective analyzes the motives, behaviors and characteristics of multi-channel consumers.

#### 2.2.1 PROVIDER PERSPECTIVE

The provider perspective of multiple channels evolves around the management of a system of sales and distribution channels. Therefore, *multi-channel customer management* is "the design, deployment, coordination, and evaluation of channels through which firms and customers interact, with the goal of enhancing customer value through effective customer acquisition, retention, and development" (Neslin et al. 2006, p. 95). It is thus the management of a multi-channel system from the perspective of a provider.

Building on this definition, Neslin and Shankar (2009) present a multichannel customer management decision (MCMD) framework based on five steps: Analyze Customers, Develop Multichannel Strategy, Design Channels, Implement, Evaluate (see Figure 4).



Neslin and Shankar (2009) present research questions for each phase of the MCMD framework. They conclude that prior research has developed a good understanding of some issues (e.g. the value of a multi-channel vs. single-channel consumers) while other issues remain (Neslin and Shankar 2009). For the remaining issues, they formulated avenues for future research. The framework can be matched to the structure of this thesis by analyzing and nudging (and finally evaluating) consumer behavior.

Historically, the provider perspective has dealt with question of whether multiple channels are more profitable than single channels (Bilgicer et al. 2015; Cambra-Fierro et al. 2016; Kushwaha and Shankar 2013), or how the elimination of channels affects purchase incidence, order size and channel choice (Konuş et al. 2014). Nowadays, as most companies operate multiple channels (Brynjolfsson et al. 2013; Verhoef et al. 2015), the research focuses on the interplay between the different channels which has led to the development of the term *omni-channel management* in 2015.

The concept of omni-channel management is defined as "the synergetic management of the numerous available channels and customer touchpoints, in such a way that the customer experience across channels and the performance over channels is optimized" (Verhoef et al. 2015, p. 176). Other researchers have picked up the concept to explain technology acceptance and use (Juaneda-Ayensa et al. 2016), to reflect on the strategic implications (Chopra 2016; Hosseini et al. 2018), or to refine the concept of omnichannel management (Mirsch et al. 2016b, 2016a; Saghiri et al. 2017).

In contrast to the provider perspective, this thesis focuses predominantly on the consumer perspective of multi-channel behavior.

#### 2.2.2 CONSUMER PERSPECTIVE

#### Terminology of consumer perspective

To begin, we aim to clarify the terminology of the consumer perspective. *Consumer behavior* is the overarching term used in this thesis. It describes "the behavior of the consumer or decision maker in the market place of products and services. It often is used to describe the interdisciplinary field of scientific study that attempts to understand and describe such behavior" (American Marketing Association 2018). The definition confirms the research objectives stated in the introduction to understand (and influence) consumer behavior. Consumer behavior can be divided into various sub-dimensions such as crossbuying, purchase frequency, share of wallet allocations, channel migration, and channel choices (Sullivan and Thomas 2004). Unlike Sullivan and Thomas (2004), we see channel choices as a sub-dimension of consumer choices. Among such *consumer choices*, consumers can choose between products, channels and others. Thereby, *channel choice* refers to "the decision to frequent one of the distribution channels offered by the same retailer" (Sullivan and Thomas 2004, p. 3). In turn, multichannel choice has no universally accepted definition. Hence, we refer to it as "the decision to frequent multiple distribution channels offered by one or more retailers across the different stages of the

purchasing process" (own definition). However, the terms *multi-channel choice* and *multi-channel behavior* are often used interchangeably (e.g. Oppewal et al. 2013; Sonderegger-Wakolbinger and Stummer 2015) or are combined to *multi-channel choice behavior* (Al-Majali and Prigmore 2010; Choi and Park 2006) in most publications. Therefore, similar to most researchers, multi-channel behavior and (multi-)channel choice will be used synonymously in this thesis.

The *purchasing process* consists of the five stages of problem recognition, search, evaluation, purchase, and after-sales (Gupta et al. 2004), but for reasons of simplicity, we assume that it consists of a prepurchase stage, a purchase stage as well as a post-purchase stage (see also Chapter 3.1). Finally, multichannel behavior occurs when different *retail channels* (hereafter just "channels") are combined within one purchasing process. Traditionally, consumers had to choose among various offline channels such as the branch or the catalog. With the rise of new technologies, they were also able to choose digital retail channels (hereafter referred to as "digital channels"). Digital channels encompass all channels which rely on modern communication technologies such as the online or mobile channel.

#### Theoretical and conceptual foundations of multi-channel behavior

The consumer perspective is concerned with consumer behavior in multiple channels, but also the characteristics of multi-channel consumers (e.g. Konus et al. 2008; McGoldrick and Collins 2007). For example, Konus et al. (2008) identify three segments (uninvolved shoppers, multi-channel enthusiasts and store-focused consumers), while McGoldrick and Collins (2007) segment consumers by the respective channel usage (store-prone, catalogue-prone, Internet-prone and multi-channel shoppers).

In the consumer perspective, no leading model prevails, but many different approaches with diverging constructs study the multi-channel behavior of consumers (Chou et al. 2016; Fang et al. 2006; Gensler et al. 2012; Graupner and Maedche 2015; Gupta et al. 2004; Herhausen et al. 2015; De Keyser et al. 2015; Kim et al. 2008; McKnight et al. 2017; Schoenbachler and Gordon 2002). Each one focuses on different aspects, but it is worthwhile to exemplarily highlight the model of Kim et al. (2008).

It is based on a theoretical framework of consumer trust, perceived risk, perceived benefits, and intention of purchase (see dark-colored constructs in Figure 5 below). Thereby, *perceived risk* is defined as "a consumer's belief about the potential uncertain negative outcomes from the online transaction" (Kim et al. 2008, p. 546), *perceived benefits* as "a consumer's belief about the extent to which he or she will become better off from the online transaction with a certain Website" (Kim et al. 2008, p. 547) and *trust* as "the willingness of a party to be vulnerable to the actions of another party based on the expectation that the other will perform a particular action important to the trustor, irrespective of the ability to monitor or control that other party" (Mayer et al. 1995, p. 712). These constructs are part of many channel choice models (e.g. Black et al. 2002; Lamberti et al. 2014; Verhoef et al. 2007) and date back to marketing theories from the 1970s (e.g. Peter and Tarpey 1975; Wilkie and Pessemier 1973), such as

the valence concept (Peter and Tarpey 1975). Subsequently, this basic theoretical framework is expanded with experienced-based, cognition- based, affect-based and personality-oriented constructs (Kim et al. 2008). These constructs serve, among others, as foundations for Study 1 and Study 2.



When aiming to understand consumer behavior, it is critical to highlight individual consumer characteristics (see e.g. Konus et al. 2008; Schoenbachler and Gordon 2002; Turkyilmaz et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2006). In particular, we focus on personality traits and gender roles of consumers.

## 2.3 Individual Characteristics

#### 2.3.1 PERSONALITY

#### Personality theories

Many theories in psychology and medicine can be explained through the interplay between biology, psychology and sociology, often labelled the "biopsychosocial model" (Engel 1977). Within psychology, models of personality have occurred in three waves, the psychodynamic model (mainly based on Sigmund Freud), the behavioristic model (mainly based on Iwan Pawlow and classical conditioning), and the interactionist model (Stemmler et al. 2011; Vogel and Wänke 2016). Thereby, interactionism relates to the interaction of individual, person-specific conditions with situation-specific stimuli to explain behavior (Hammond 1966; Reynolds et al. 2010; Stemmler et al. 2011; Tett and Burnett 2003). Nowadays, the latter model is regarded as the most influential one, and our research is based on the behavioristic approach.

Given the various approaches, different definitions of personality traits exist (Roberts 2009). For example, Allport (1961) describes personality traits as a "neuropsychic structure having the capacity to render many stimuli functionally equivalent, and to initiate and guide equivalent (meaningfully consistent) forms of adaptive and expressive behavior" (Allport 1961, p. 347). Other researchers define personality traits as "an individual's dispositions or tendencies that lead to certain attitudinal and behavioral patterns across situations" (Junglas et al. 2008, p. 391; McCrae and Costa 1987). A common denominator of all definitions is the finding that personality traits are stable characteristics that allow to understand, explain and predict the behavior of individuals (Stemmler et al. 2011). In other words, the definitions assume behavioral patterns and thus a certain stability across situations. Personality traits are formed at younger ages, remain somewhat stable in the following years, and are only subject to change again at older ages (Specht et al. 2011). Other researchers argue that personality traits remain stable across the entire lifespan (Junglas et al. 2008; McCrae and Costa 1991).

Various models exist to differentiate personality traits from other variables such as attitudes, states or behavior (Stemmler et al. 2011). Thereby, attitude "refers to the degree to which a person has a favorable or unfavorable evaluation or appraisal" of a construct, e.g. a behavior in question (Ajzen 1991, p. 188). Attitudes include components of states (Vogel and Wänke 2016) which are behavioral differences of an individual dependent on the situation or time (Stemmler et al. 2011). By definition, states are not stable, but dependent on the situation (Vogel and Wänke 2016). Moreover, personality traits have to be distinguished from skills (e.g. intelligence) which are as stable as personality and also vary between individuals (Vogel and Wänke 2016). Skills predict achievements and performance but, unlike personality traits, they do not reveal anything about social interactions, for example whether an individual is friendly or aggressive.

We exemplarily highlight the sociogenomic model of personality traits of Roberts and Jackson (2009) which is illustrated in Figure 6. The model reflects the biopsychosocial model (Engel 1977) by being based on biological factors (biology), traits (psychology) and environmental factors (sociology). In particular, it assumes that personality traits are based on biological factors and states. Biological factors are genetically inherited and can be for example a range of hereditary temperamental starting values (Roberts 2009). In turn, traits can also influence biological factors and states. States are formed by thoughts, behaviors and feelings (Roberts 2009; Roberts and Jackson 2009). Finally, the environment influences both states and biological factors, for example by shaping the temperamental starting values through environmental experiences (Roberts 2009; Roberts and Jackson 2009). The model can, for instance, be applied to personality trait development (Roberts 2009).



To measure personality traits, this thesis relies on the established Big Five Inventory (McCrae et al. 2005; McCrae and Costa 1987; McCrae and John 1992).

#### **Big Five Inventory**

Several inventories exist to summarize personality traits, such as the Big Five Inventory (McCrae and Costa 1987; McCrae and John 1992), the Five-Factor Personality Inventory (Hendriks et al. 1999), their respective updated versions (e.g. McCrae et al. 2005), or, less academic but popular among practitioners, the Myers–Briggs Type Indicator (Jahng et al. 2002; Myers-Briggs 1962). This thesis relies on the prominent Big Five Inventory as it is the most researched and most cited inventory of personality traits. Moreover, the BFI has proven to be predictive for a variety of variables, for example life satisfaction (Rammstedt 2007; Rammstedt and Danner 2017) or consumers' online buying impulsiveness (Turkyilmaz et al. 2015). Appendix B displays the English and German items of the Big Five Inventory that were used for Study 2 and Study 4.

John and Srivastava (1999) provide comprehensible definitions of each trait. Extraversion "implies an energetic approach toward the social and material world and includes traits such as sociability, activity, assertiveness, and positive emotionality" (p. 30). In turn, agreeableness "contrasts a prosocial and communal orientation towards others with antagonism and includes traits such as altruism, tender-mindedness, trust, and modesty" (p. 30). Conscientiousness "describes socially prescribed impulse control that facilitates task- and goal-directed behavior, such as thinking before acting, delaying gratification, following norms and rules, and planning, organizing, and prioritizing tasks" (p. 30). Neuroticism "contrasts emotional stability and even-temperedness with negative emotionality, such as

feeling anxious, nervous, sad, and tense" (p. 30). Finally, openness to experience "describes the breadth, depth, originality, and complexity of an individual's mental and experiential life" (p. 30).

Multiple studies have used personality traits in IS research (e.g. Gu and Wang 2009; Hariwibowo 2017; Junglas et al. 2008; Li 2012). Exemplarily, Junglas et al. (2008) study the relationship of personality traits and concern for privacy, and they find that agreeableness, conscientiousness, and openness influence the concern for privacy. Moreover, Hariwibowo (2017) study moderating effects of the BFI in the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) and conclude that "personality does not influence the decision to use the technology" (Hariwibowo 2017, p. 274).

Beyond personality traits, gender is an important individual characteristic in channel choices and online behavior. This is due to empirical IS studies focusing on gender differences (e.g. Aguirre-Urreta and Marakas 2010; Ogletree et al. 2014; Sonnenschein et al. 2016; Venkatesh and Morris 2000) as well as due to gender differences in personality traits (e.g. Feingold 1994; Giudice et al. 2012; Weisberg et al. 2011) within and across cultures (Costa et al. 2001; Schmitt et al. 2017). To explain these gender differences, the gender schema theory (Bem 1981) and the Bem Sex Role Inventory (Bem 1974) are used.

#### 2.3.2 GENDER

#### Gender schema theory

In general, a schema in psychology is "a cognitive structure, a network of associations that organizes and guides an individual's perception" (Bem 1981, p. 355). Consequently, a gender schema, based on the gender schema theory, describes how gender schemas influence the processing of information as well as behavior and attitudes (Bem 1981). Thereby, gender schemas are based on societally constructed gender roles, i.e. the role of men and women in a society. In turn, these gender schemas influence the daily behavior of individuals in a society (Bem 1981). This relationship is illustrated in Figure 7 below.



For example, in many societies, women are still expected to be caring, warm and understanding while men are thought to be independent, dominant and willing to take risks. This influences how we behave in our daily life and in the workplace (e.g. Venkatesh and Morris 2000). Gender schemas are difficult to assess as they are formed and applied subconsciously. Therefore, the societal beliefs about the traits of males and females are taken as an approximation which can be measured using the Bem Sex Role Inventory (BSRI).

#### **Bem Sex Role Inventory**

Gender roles can be measured among others by the Bem Sex Role Inventory (Bem 1974). It was developed by Sandra Bem and measures gender roles (masculine, feminine or androgynous) by using typical masculine or feminine characteristics. In the original version, the inventory used 20 masculine, 20 feminine and 20 neutral items (Bem 1974) and participants conducted a self-assessment of how much each trait applies to them. However, the original version is outdated with labelling traits like "intelligent" as masculine. Therefore, the inventory has been continuously updated and reassessed (Hoffmann and Borders 2001; Holt and Ellis 1998; Schneider-Düker and Kohler 1988; Sieverding 2009).

The applications of the gender schema theory and the Sex Role Inventory are endless. The theory has been used in contemporary IS studies, e.g. to explain mobile users' IT security appraisals and protective actions as well as multi-channel behavior (Hummel, Herbertz, and Maedche 2018; Sonnenschein et al. 2016). But also other researchers used gender roles to explain different forms of technology adoption (Aguirre-Urreta and Marakas 2010; Venkatesh et al. 2003; Venkatesh and Morris 2000), or texting (Ogletree et al. 2014).

Finally, we turn to theoretical and conceptual foundations of behavioral economics and nudging.

## 2.4 Behavioral Economics and Nudging

#### 2.4.1 BEHAVIORAL ECONOMICS

While traditional economics presumes rational decision-makers who have all relevant information and who always aim to maximize their welfare, behavioral economics include insights from psychology and acknowledge the boundaries of rationality (Simon 1972). Behavioral economics traces back to the work of Adam Smith in the 18<sup>th</sup> century (Camerer and Loewenstein 2004), but has received greater attention with the research of Tversky and Kahneman (e.g. Tversky and Kahneman 1973, 1981), especially on their advancement of the dual process theory (Kahneman 2003).

The dual process theory assumes that the human mind is based on two systems, System 1 and System 2 (Kahneman 2003, 2011; Thaler and Sunstein 2008). On the one hand, System 1 is characterized by fast and automatic thinking, and it is often acting intuitively. On the other hand, System 2 is slow,

effortful, reflective and rational. While System 2 seems to be better and less prone to errors, it needs more time and energy such that the human mind relies on System 1 for most decision during the day. Often System 1 relies on heuristics (Tversky and Kahneman 1973, 1974), also described as rules of thumb.

Behavioral economics has become such an influential sub-discipline of economics that, in 2017, Richard Thaler received the Nobel Memorial Prize in Economic Sciences for his work on behavioral economics (The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences 2017). Among others, he received the prize for the concept of "nudging".

#### 2.4.2 NUDGING

A nudge is "any aspect of the choice architecture that alters people's behavior in a predictable way without forbidding any options or significantly changing their economic incentives" (Thaler and Sunstein 2008, p. 6). In other words, decision-makers have the freedom to choose any option, but they are pushed towards one direction (Thaler and Sunstein 2003, 2008). This is referred to as "libertarian paternalism" which is "an approach that preserves freedom of choice but authorizes both private and public institutions to steer people indirections that will promote their welfare" (Thaler and Sunstein 2003, p. 179). The two terms, nudging and libertarian paternalism, are mostly used interchangeably and we refer to existing publications for a discussion on this matter (Hansen 2016; Sunstein and Thaler 2003; Thaler and Sunstein 2003).

The concept of nudging has been introduced by Richard Thaler and Cass Sunstein in 2008 in their book "Nudge: Improving Decisions About Health, Wealth, and Happiness" (Thaler and Sunstein 2008). Nudges work because of heuristics and cognitive biases in human decision-making (Thaler and Sunstein 2008), for example loss aversion, framing, or availability heuristic (Kahneman and Tversky 1979; Tversky and Kahneman 1973, 1981). Hence, nudging builds upon the dual process theory as nudges often make use of System 1 (Thaler and Sunstein 2008). Only a few nudges, in particular educative ones such as informing people of the nature and consequences of their own past choices (Sunstein 2014), deliberately aim to active System 2.

Later, other researchers have built a framework around the nudging concept called "MINDSPACE" (Dolan et al. 2012; Halpern 2016). Thereby, they claim to have gathered the nine most robust effects, and they divide them into the following cues: Messenger, Incentives, Norms, Defaults, Salience, Priming, Affect, Commitments, and Ego (see Table 1).

Table 1. Mindspace framework based on Dolan et al. (2012)							
Mindspace cue	Behavior						
Messenger	We are heavily influenced by who communicates information to us						
Incentives	Our responses to incentives are shaped by predictable mental shortcuts such as strongly avoiding losses						
Norms	We are strongly influenced by what others do						
Defaults	We 'go with the flow' of pre-set options						
Salience	Our attention is drawn to what is novel and seems relevant to us						
Priming	Our acts are often influenced by sub-conscious cues						
Affect	Our emotional associations can powerfully shape our actions						
Commitments	We seek to be consistent with our public promises, and reciprocate acts						
Ego	We act in ways that make us feel better about ourselves						

In addition to the Mindspace framework, several other approaches exist to classify nudges (Goldstein et al. 2008; Hansen and Jespersen 2013; Johnson et al. 2012; Münscher et al. 2016; Sunstein 2014). Among these frameworks it is noteworthy to highlight Sunstein (2014) who lists ten of the most important nudges. These nudges are detailed in Table 2 below.

Table 2. Overview of ten important nudges based on Sunstein (2014)								
Nudge	Explanation	Examples						
Default rules	Condition that is imposed when an	Automatic enrollment in programs,						
	individual fails to make a decision	including education, health, savings						
Simplification	Programs should be easily navigable,	Simplifying an enrollment process (see						
	even intuitive	also Thaler and Sunstein 2008)						
Use of social norms	Emphasizing what most people do	"Most people plan to vote" or "nine out						
		of ten hotel guests reuse their towels"						
Increase ease and	Reducing barriers, including time that	Making low-cost options or healthy						
convenience	it takes to understand what to do	foods visible						
Disclosure	Make information comprehensible,	Economic or environmental costs						
	accessible and simple	associated with energy use, or the full						
		cost of certain credit cards						
Warnings, graphics	Private or public warning to trigger	E.g. as for cigarettes						
	people's attention by using large fonts,							
	bold letters, and bright colors							
Precommitment	When people precommit to a certain	E.g. a smoking cessation program or						
strategies	course of action	Save More Tomorrow program (Thaler						
		and Benartzi 2004)						

Reminders	Reminding people of doing	By email or text message, as for overdue				
	something, timing greatly matters	bills, coming obligations or				
		appointments				
Eliciting implementation	Articulating the when, where and how	"Do you plan to vote?"				
intentions	of following through on an intention					
	(Nickerson and Rogers 2010)					
Informing people of the	Give people information about their	"Smart disclosure" in the US and the				
nature and consequences	own past choices so that their behavior	"midata project" in the UK				
of their own past	can shift					
choices						

Most of the examples of Sunstein (2014) as well as of Thaler and Sunstein (2008) are focusing on offline contexts. Yet, an increasing amount of decisions are taken in digital environments. To account for this trend, we finish Chapter 2 with outlining *digital nudging*. The ethics of nudging are addressed in Chapter 5.

### 2.4.3 DIGITAL NUDGING

In 2016, the nudging concept was transferred to digital environments, so-called "digital nudging". Digital nudging "is the use of user-interface design elements to guide people's behavior in digital choice environments" (Weinmann et al. 2016). Contrary to conventional nudging, digital nudging focuses on user interfaces. The authors suggest various applications of nudging principles and use cases/IS fields (Weinmann et al. 2016).

Beyond the above definition, two digital nudging models already exist. While Meske and Potthoff (2017) propose a "digital nudging process model" (DINU) which outlines a cycle for the design of digital nudges, also Schneider et al. (2018) developed a cyclical model to design digital nudges (see also Chapter 4.1.6).

Although digital nudging is a fairly recent concept, different types of studies were already conducted on the topic of digital nudging, such as policy papers (Gregor and Lee-Archer 2016), systematic literature reviews (Mirsch et al. 2017), research-in-progress papers (Hummel et al. 2017a; Lehrer and Jung 2017; Pahuja and Tan 2017; Stryja et al. 2017; Székely et al. 2016; Tietz et al. 2016; Weinmann et al. 2017), or even full experimental studies (Schneider et al. 2017). One example for a digital nudge is the use of warnings to prevent the purchase of incompatible digital products online (Esposito et al. 2017). Study 3 reflects on more existing related work using digital nudges.

## 2.5 Overview of Studies and Theoretical and Conceptual Foundations

Multi-channel management and behavior, individual differences as well as nudging and digital nudging are the overarching theoretical foundations of the respective studies of this thesis. Finally, Table 3 below provides an overview of which theoretical foundation is employed in which study and how the data of each study was collected.

Table 3. Overview of studies and theoretical foundations of this thesis								
Theoretical foundations	Study 1	Study 2	Study 3	Study 4				
Multi-channel behavior	Yes	Yes	No	No				
Personality traits	No	Yes	No	Yes				
Gender roles	No	Yes	No	No				
(Digital) Nudging	No	No	Yes	Yes				
Main or dependent	Determinants of	Channel choice	Effect size of	Sustainable				
variable	MC behavior		(digital) nudges	product choices				
Data collection	Systematic	Lab	Systematic	Online survey				
	literature review	experiment	literature review	experiment				
Data points	53 primary	236	100 primary	452 participants				
	publications	participants	publications					
Chapter of the thesis Chapter 3 Chapter 4								

In the next chapter, we turn to the systematic literature reviews and empirical studies of this thesis.

# 3 Individualized Channel Choices in Digital Retail Channels

## 3.1 Study 1: Systematic Literature Review on Determinants of Multi-Channel Behavior<sup>1</sup>

#### 3.1.1 INTRODUCTION

Just a decade ago, consumers relied on travel agents in physical branches to book flight tickets or a vacation package. With the rise of the Internet, this has drastically changed as firms increasingly offer multiple channels for their products and services (Neslin and Shankar 2009). Even more, well-integrated channels have become a competitive advantage and allow companies to differentiate themselves from their competitors (Hoong 2013). In turn, also consumers exhibit a multi-channel behavior (e.g. Cortinas et al. 2010; Verhoef et al. 2007) which renders their channel choice less predictable. This can have severe consequences for companies, for instance when consumers engage in free-riding behavior (e.g. Chiu et al. 2011; Chou et al. 2016). Thus, a thorough understanding of the determinants of multi-channel behavior is needed.

Multi-channel behavior in the context of physical products is widely researched (e.g. Inman et al. 2004; Keen et al. 2004; Thomas and Sullivan 2005), but not all of these results are transferrable to services. Thus, a separate research stream might be necessary, since services constitute an entirely different sector (Fisher 1939) and have very distinct properties (Macintyre et al. 2011). These properties involve mainly intangibility, heterogeneity, inseparability and perishability (Parry et al. 2011) which means that they cannot be touched, identically reproduced, separated from consumption, or stored. On the contrary, products are characterized, among others, by their tangibility, exchangeability and tradability, possibility of ownership and preservability (Parry et al. 2011). Moreover, products have a longer history of availability in multiple channels than services, and past research has shown that experience with a product category might be a driver of channel choice (e.g. Strebel et al. 2004). Also in terms of their influence on multi-channel behavior, products and services are assessed differently (e.g. Gupta et al. 2004). As products and services differ considerably in their properties, we would expect the determinants of multi-channel behavior to differ, too.

Some researchers examined multi-channel behavior with services, in particular in financial services (e.g. Albesa 2007; Black et al. 2002; Gensler et al. 2012). Yet, they have a different focus: Either they considered single dimensions such as the different stages of the buying process, the moderating role of service characteristics, the channel characteristics, or they touched on all relevant dimensions, but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This section is based on Hummel et al. (2016)

neglect several important channel or service characteristics. In any case, they have not conceptualized the determinants of multi-channel behavior or integrated them into a comprehensive framework.

Apart from the special role of services, the scientific contributions to this topic encompass a wide range of disciplines, and they are lacking a coherent picture of the determinants of multi-channel behavior. Some researchers (Neslin et al. 2006; Neslin and Shankar 2009; Trenz and Veit 2015) provided a loose list of these determinants, but did not cluster them, show the direction of their effects, or derive them by means of a systematic literature review. Thus, we have identified a need to integrate the existing knowledge into a coherent structure such as a taxonomy or morphological box (Gregor 2006). Furthermore, we offer avenues for future research and implications for practitioners.

In sum, this study aims to conceptualize the determinants of multi-channel behavior with a special focus on services. The remainder is organized as follows: Chapter 3.1.2 recaps on the theoretical background of multi-channel behavior and describes the existing related work. Next, Chapter 3.1.3 outlines the methodological approach for the systematic literature review. Thereafter, we summarize the results including the different dimensions of the morphological box in Chapter 3.1.4. In Chapter 3.1.5, we analyze the research distribution of each dimension and offer avenues for future research for IS and marketing scholars. Finally, the study is concluded with a summary and a brief outlook on an experimental design (Chapter 3.1.6).

#### 3.1.2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Since the turn of the millennium, multi-channel behavior has become a widely researched topic (Neslin and Shankar 2009) and several frameworks aim to explain multi-channel management and multi-channel behavior (Black et al. 2002; Dholakia et al. 2010; Neslin and Shankar 2009). One area of research is consumer analysis and segmentation. For instance, researchers have found that multi-channel consumers increase sales (Kumar and Venkatesan 2005; Kushwaha and Shankar 2013), are more loyal (Ansari et al. 2008; Shankar et al. 2003), and more innovative (Farag et al. 2006). Another area, which is also the focus of this study, comprises the influencing factors of multi-channel behavior. Based on prior research, multi-channel behavior is influenced by several factors, namely the stage of the buying process, channel attributes, consumer characteristics, and product attributes (e.g. Neslin et al. 2006; Neslin and Shankar 2009; Trenz and Veit 2015).

A buying process consists of several stages and various researchers identified stage-channel associations (e.g. Gensler et al. 2012; Verhoef et al. 2007). For instance, many consumers associate the search stage with the online channel, but the purchase stage with the store (Verhoef et al. 2007). Moreover, there are channel spillover effects when a consumer chooses the same channel in a later stage of the buying process (e.g. Gensler et al. 2012).

Prior literature also documents numerous channel characteristics (see Neslin et al. 2006 for a partial list). For instance, perceived convenience (e.g. Gensler et al. 2012; Verhoef et al. 2007), perceived risk (e.g. Black et al. 2002; Verhoef et al. 2007), privacy (Albesa 2007; Verhoef et al. 2007), perceived price (e.g. Gensler et al. 2012; Venkatesan et al. 2007), social interaction (e.g. Albesa 2007; Frambach et al. 2008), product assortment (e.g. Melis et al. 2015; Noble et al. 2005), service (e.g. Burke 2002; Konuş et al. 2014), immediate availability (e.g. Venkatesan et al. 2007), negotiation possibilities (e.g. Verhoef et al. 2007), accessibility (e.g. Black et al. 2002; Frambach et al. 2008), and channel design (e.g. Schoenbachler and Gordon 2002) are determinants of multi-channel behavior. Table 4 provides an excerpt of the research focusing on multi-channel behavior and consumers' channel choice.

	Table 4. Subset o	f related work on n	nulti-chann	el behavior		
Reference	Dependent	Channels	Several	Channel	Demo-	Product
	variable		Stages	charact.	graphics	charact.
Tse and Yim (2001)	Channel choice	Store, Internet	-	Х	-	-
Black et al. (2002)	Channel choice	Internet, branch,	-	X	Х	Х
		call center				
Schoenbachler and	Channel choice	Store, catalog,	-	X	Х	Х
Gordon (2002)		Internet				
Gupta et al. (2004)	Channel	Store, Internet	Х	X	Х	X
	switching					
Keen et al. (2004)	Channel choice	Store, catalog,	-	X	Х	Х
		Internet				
McGoldrick and	Attitude score for	Store, Internet,	-	X	Х	Х
Collins (2007)	certain channels	catalog				
Konus et al. (2008)	Channel utility	Store, Internet,	Х	X	Х	Х
		catalog				
Cortinas et al.	Entropy of multi-	Branch, Internet,	Х	-	Х	Х
(2010)	channel behavior	call center, ATM				
Gensler et al. (2012)	Channel choice	Branch, Internet,	Х	X	Х	-
	intention	call center, ATM				
De Keyser et al.	Channel usage	Store, Internet,	Х	X	Х	X
(2015)		call center				
Note: The terms brand	ch and store are based	d on the terminology	of the respe	ctive primar	y publication	n. The
terms are therefore us	ed synonymously the	roughout this thesis.				

Almost all studies include individuals' demographics. Mostly, the studies examine age, gender, and income, but occasionally also consider education, occupation, geo-demographics (e.g. Inman et al. 2004), or study psychographics when examining consumer characteristics (e.g. De Keyser et al. 2015; Konus et al. 2008). Various researchers argue that attitude (e.g. Keen et al. 2004; Konus et al. 2008),

loyalty (e.g. Konus et al. 2008; Melis et al. 2015), and goals (e.g. Balasubramanian et al. 2005) are also determinants of multi-channel behavior. For instance, Konus et al. (2008) document that the attitude towards a specific channel influences the choice of it.

Another strong indicator of channel choice is a consumer's prior experience. Thereby, this comprises the consumer's experience with the channel (Ansari et al. 2008; Dholakia et al. 2005; Frambach et al. 2008), the Internet (Ansari et al. 2008; Farag et al. 2006; Frambach et al. 2008), (home) shopping experience (Farag et al. 2006; Schoenbachler and Gordon 2002), experience with the product or the firm (Nicholson et al. 2002; Strebel et al. 2004; Sullivan and Thomas 2004), and the time and quality of the experience (Ansari et al. 2008; Schoenbachler and Gordon 2002).

Finally, product categories are studied by researchers in the area of multi-channel behavior. Products and services can be classified according to the purchase frequency (e.g. Inman et al. 2004; Keen et al. 2004; Konus et al. 2008), transaction volume (e.g. Black et al. 2002; Keen et al. 2004; Venkatesan et al. 2007), complexity (e.g. Black et al. 2002; Inman et al. 2004; Konus et al. 2008), and search vs. experience goods (e.g. Gupta et al. 2004; Heitz-Spahn 2013; Maity and Dass 2014). Similar to stage-channel associations, product-channel associations link certain product types with certain channels (e.g. Cortinas et al. 2010; Gensler et al. 2012).

The related work shows that the determinants of multi-channel behavior are well-researched. Yet, prior work is scattered around a variety of studies and a coherent structure is missing. Furthermore, the contributions fall into the context of products, but channel preferences might be specific to context (Wood and Neal 2009) as well as to product or service characteristics. Thus, this work represents a meaningful complement to existing literature by proposing a structure for the determinants of multi-channel behavior and by focusing on context of services.

#### 3.1.3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

For the conceptualization of multi-channel behavior and the development of the morphological box, we conducted a systematic literature review following the suggestions of Webster and Watson (2002). The literature review is organized around the concept of multi-channel behavior. In this literature review, we only considered peer-reviewed articles from journals. As a starting point, we considered various articles (e.g. Black et al. 2002; Neslin et al. 2006; Schoenbachler and Gordon 2002) which include an overview of multi-channel behavior. Each of them is referenced more than 300 times by other researchers which provides sufficient evidence of their representativeness for the topic.

Drawing on these articles, we developed several keyword-based search strings and used them in the online databases AIS library, ScienceDirect, EBSCOhost and Google Scholar to find more articles relevant for the conceptualization of multi-channel behavior. The search strings include the terms "multi-channel" AND "consumer behavior", "multi-channel" AND "purchase decisions" OR "multi-

channel behavior", or just "channel choice" and yield between 300 and 1,000 articles per search string and database. For example, "multi-channel" AND "consumer behavior" yields 341 hits in ScienceDirect between 1999 and 2016. Most of these studies, however, focus on products. Thus, in order to find more literature on services in general and financial services in particular, we added the terms "services", "financial services" or "banking" to the search string (e.g. "multi-channel" AND "consumer behavior" AND "services"). Financial services were included in the search string as they are an important domain within the overall services industry and they have a long history of multi-channel management (Hoehle et al. 2012). We used these keywords because they describe the relevant aspects of our research goal, namely consumer behavior in a multi-channel context with a focus on services. For the term "multichannel", we utilized different notations such as "multichannel" or "multi-channel".

Next, we aimed to narrow down the results and therefore developed further inclusion and exclusion criteria. In particular, we constrained our search to articles published between 1999 and 2016, because the Internet, especially as a purchasing channel, was not prevalent in the early 1990s and before. In addition, the results on determinants of multi-channel behavior might not be comparable across several decades. We also excluded articles because (a) they examine the behavior within a single channel (e.g. online) and not in a multi-channel context, (b) they treat task-channel fits and not the choices during a purchasing process, or (c) they do not aim to explain consumer behavior, but only the consequences of it. Articles were included when they cover the search and/or purchase of goods and services in a multi-channel context. Thus, we mainly considered articles that utilize dependent variables such as channel choice, channel usage, or intentions to use a channel. Overall, 53 primary publications (see Appendix D) were incorporated into the final morphological box.

In the end, the results of the literature review were conceptualized in a morphological box similar to the work of Meth (2013). We deliberately decided to develop a morphological box rather than a taxonomy, as many different dimensions are discussed in the literature which have characteristics that are not always mutually exclusive or collectively exhaustive (Nickerson et al. 2013). We have also considered flow charts such as the Conceptual Model of Post-Adoptive Behavior by Jasperson et al. (2005), yet these would have focused on one purchasing process only. Moreover, the morphological box is more flexible to the diverse range of influences on multi-channel behavior. The dimensions of the morphological box are derived from the related work (e.g. Neslin et al. 2006; Neslin and Shankar 2009) and were subsequently refined during the systematic literature review following the suggestions of Nickerson et al. (2013).

In a second step, we counted the frequency of characteristics under examination (see Chapter 3.1.5) to identify directions for future research. We included a dimension or characteristic whenever it was examined as a dependent or independent variable in the model presented in the primary publications. Thereby, it is irrespective if the variable proved to be significant or not. Also including statistically

insignificant variables in the analysis will provide a more complete picture on the entire research field and thus, will prevent us (and other researchers) to incorrectly identify research gaps that have already been studied in the literature. Lastly, we counted a dimension or characteristic whenever it was included in a conceptual or theoretical framework (e.g. Schoenbachler and Gordon 2002).

#### 3.1.4 Results

Figure 8 displays the results of our literature review (colors used for stylistic reasons only). As indicated below, the dimensions of context, consumer and product influence a consumer's multi-channel behavior. In the following, we discuss the impact of each dimension and their characteristics in detail.

Channel			Stage- Ir		ernet	tStore		Catalog		Call-center s		Self- service
y y	Stage		associat. Pre-purchase		hase	Purchase		Post-purchase / use				
Contex	Channel		Perceiv conveni	Perceived Immediate convenience availability		Social interaction		l on	Product assortment			
0	Attributes	Disadvantages	Percei	ived F	Risk	Perceived P		ed Price	d Price Pr		rivacy / Security	
ıer	Demog	graphics	Age		Gend	der Inc		ome Edu		ducation		Occupation
unsuu	Psychographics		Attitu	de	e Loyalty		Goals		;		Lifestyle	
ŭ	Experience		Interne experien	t ce	Chan experie	Channel Shopping experience experience		Pro exp	Product/firm		Time/quality experience	
duct	Product characteristics		Com	Complexity Frequ			uency Monetary			netary		
Pro	Type of	f product	Search			Experience			e			
	Figure 8. Morphological box of determinants of MC behavior											

#### Channel

Channel describes the distribution channels that are chosen to search for, purchase or use a product or service. When multiple channels are combined within one purchasing process, it is denominated as multi-channel choice, multi-channel behavior or multi-channel choice behavior (see Chapter 2.1).

#### Context

As mentioned in the related work section, stage-channel associations link a stage of the purchasing process with a certain channel. For instance, the online channel is preferred for the search whereas many purchases still occur in the store or branch (Verhoef et al. 2007). Gensler et al. (2012) find similar associations in a retail banking context. The channel is also affected by channel spillover (Gensler et al. 2012) or channel lock-in (Verhoef et al. 2007), when using a channel in one stage is affecting the choice of the same channel in another stage. In particular, channel choice in the pre-purchase and purchase
stage are closely aligned (e.g. Gensler et al. 2012). Hence, it is insufficient to examine a single stage alone. Rather, the entire purchase history needs to be considered.

Like Verhoef et al. (2007), we group the channel characteristics into advantages and disadvantages. All advantages are positively related to consumers' channel choice. Thus, the more consumers perceive a certain channel as convenient, the more likely they will choose this channel during the purchasing process. The perceived convenience is one of the main drivers of choosing digital channels (e.g. Albesa 2007; Gensler et al. 2012). In this context, immediate availability disfavors the online channel or catalog as consumers cannot take possession of the products immediately but have to wait for shipment (Venkatesan et al. 2007; Wolfinbarger and Gilly 2001). Moreover, channels are equipped with different product assortments and possibilities for social interactions. For example, consumers with a preference for social interactions are more likely to choose the offline channel, as they can come in direct contact with other consumers or salespersons when visiting a store (e.g. Balasubramanian et al. 2005). Similar to the social interaction, the product assortment are somewhat mixed. While Noble et al. (2005) cannot support any influence, Verhoef et al. (2007) find a significant positive effect of product assortment on consumers' selection of digital channels. Other studies (e.g. Konuş et al. 2014; Melis et al. 2015) support the importance of product assortment.

While factors such as convenience, immediacy, social interaction or product assortment have a positive influence on the respective channel choice (see above), consumers are negatively influenced by factors such as perceived risk, perceived price, and privacy (see below). The higher the perceived costs of a channel will be, the more likely the consumer chooses a different channel. Thereby, costs do not only cover monetary expenditures, but also search costs, switching costs, or travel costs (e.g. Dholakia et al. 2005; Noble et al. 2005). Like perceived risk, the perceived price correlates negatively with the choice of that channel (Verhoef et al. 2007). On the other hand, Gensler et al. (2012) find no influence of the perceived price on channel choice. Privacy, defined as "the users' worries about the acquisition and subsequent use of information generated or acquired about them" (Albesa 2007, p. 495), is particularly applicable to digital channels. Although some studies argue that privacy was not an issue in their study (Bellman et al. 2007). If consumers do not feel save when providing their payment details in digital channels, they might prefer to buy the products directly in a store. Security is subject to similar mechanism as privacy (Hoehle and Huff 2009).

#### Consumer

A second dimension influencing consumers' channel choice comprises consumer characteristics. The influence and direction of demographics on channel choice is, at least, disputable. In sum, many researchers come to the conclusion that younger consumers prefer digital over offline channels (e.g.

Black et al. 2002; Strebel et al. 2004; Venkatesan et al. 2007). Also, income (Black et al. 2002), education (Strebel et al. 2004) and gender (Venkatesan et al. 2007) are thought to have an influence on consumer's channel choice, i.e. males with a higher income and higher education are more likely to choose digital channels. On the other hand, many other researchers believe that demographics are not a reliable differentiator for channel choice (e.g. Cortinas et al. 2010; Konus et al. 2008). Rather, lifestyle is thought to be a more fitting concept to segment consumers than demographics. For instance, individuals following a "technological lifestyle" favor digital channels (Bellman et al. 1999).

Although there is no unanimously shared definition of psychographics (Wells 1975), the term encompasses mostly the study of "values, attitudes, and personality traits" (Wells 1975, p. 197). Within this umbrella term, attitude, loyalty and goals are determinants of the channel choice. For instance, Konus et al. (2008) demonstrate the importance of attitude on channel choice, while economic theory has identified attitude to play a key role in choice behavior (McFadden 2001). When it comes to goals, it is most important whether consumers are seeking an enjoyable experience (hedonic) or whether they are looking for the best deal (utilitarian). While digital channels largely support the attainment of functional goals (i.e. efficiency), stores and catalogs are the preferred channels for hedonic objectives (e.g. Balasubramanian et al. 2005).

A strong determinant of channel choice is the experience of a consumer. The more experienced a consumer is with a certain channel and the better and more recent these experiences are, the more likely the consumer will choose that channel again. As stated in Chapter 3.1.2, experiences include experiences with a channel, the Internet in general, (home) shopping experience and experience with the product or the firm.

#### **Product**

Product categories have been identified to have a moderating role on channel choice. They can be categorized according to product complexity, purchase and usage frequency as well as transaction volume. Products with a high purchase frequency and a low transaction volume (e.g. books) are more likely to be bought through digital channels (e.g. Gupta et al. 2004), whereas complex experience goods are more prevalent in the offline channel (e.g. Maity and Dass 2014). High purchase frequency is also associated with multi-channel behavior (Kumar and Venkatesan 2005). Services again have their own set of determinants that are similar, but not equal to their product counterparts (see Chapter 3.1.1). Finally, researchers classify products and services according to experience vs. search. Experience products (e.g. wine) are less likely to be obtained through digital channels than search products such as books (Gupta et al. 2004). Other researchers come to similar conclusions (e.g. Heitz-Spahn 2013; Maity and Dass 2014).

#### 3.1.5 RESEARCH DISTRIBUTION AND SERVICES RELEVANCE

Having gathered a clear understanding of the factors influencing consumers' channel choice, we analyzed the examined literature with regard to the frequency of studies using these constructs. By conducting such an analysis, we aimed to identify relevant research gaps. We summarized the results of the frequency analysis in Figure 9. Hereby, the numbers in brackets indicate the frequency of the respective aspects studied by researchers. The color-coding provides a visual help. Products (i.e. the left side of Figure 9) have been studied 45 times whereas services have only been considered 8 times in the past. Even a dedicated search string for services (as outlined in Chapter 3.1.3) could not resolve this imbalance.

It is apparent that the Internet and the store are studied extensively. Only a limited number of studies involve self-service terminals, such as ATMs, or call centers. Concerning the stage of the buying process, most researchers dedicate their work to the pre-purchase and purchase stage, for instance by studying research shopping (Verhoef et al. 2007), i.e. searching in one channel and buying in another one. Less attention is drawn to the post-purchase phase, e.g. when consumers use services related to the product or provide feedback on it. When comparing the channel attributes, there is a clear focus on the perceived benefits. Yet, this may be due to the nature of focusing on the enablers of channel choice and not its inhibitors. Product characteristics have been examined less frequently compared with the other dimensions. This is despite their known moderating role (e.g. Kushwaha and Shankar 2013). Finally, the dimensions of consumer characteristics, demographics and experience are studied extensively, while studies on psychographics remain rare.

Products (Se	condary Sect	tor)*	Services (Tertiary Sector)*					
Stage- channel (41) Store (37	) Catalog C (21) C	(4) Self- Service (0)	Stage- channel	nternet (8)	Store (7)	Catalog (0)	Call-center (3) Self- Service (2)	
Associat. (5) Pre-purchase (26)	ciat. ) Pre-purchase (26) Purchase (43) Post-purchase / use (6)				se (3) F	urchase (6)	Post-purchase / use (4)	
Perceived con- venience (19) Immediate availability (7	Social interaction	(9) Product (9) assortment (17)	Perceive convenien	ed Im ce (4) ava	nmediate ilability (0)	Social interaction	Product n (2) assortment (0)	
Perceived Risk (13) Perceiv	ed Price (10)	Privacy / Security (12)	Perceive	d Risk (3)	Perceived	l Price (1)	Privacy / Security (2)	
Age (30) Gender (30) Inc.	IcationOccupation16)(8)	Age (7)	Gender	(4) Incon	ne (6) Ed	(4) Occupation (3)		
Attitude (7) Loyalty (6)	Goals (27	7) Lifestyle (4)	Attitude	(1) Lo	oyalty (0)	Goals (	4) Lifestyle (1)	
Internet ex- perience (9) Channel ex- perience (8) Perience (8)	pping ex- ence (5) exp	uct/firm p. (5) Time/quality of exp. (2)	Internet experience (2)Channel experience (3)Shopping experience (0)Product/firmTime/qualityperience (2)perience (3)perience (0)exp. (0)of exp. (0)					
Complexity (4) Freq	iency (11)	Monetary (9)	Complexity (4) Frequen			ncy (1) Monetary (1)		
Search (5)	Ex	perience (5)		Search (0)		E	xperience (0)	
Not examined	Examined	d less than 5 times	Examine	ed less than	10 times	Examin	ned 10 times or more	
*A clear-cut differentiation was n	ot always possi	ible, in particular when	studies exa	mined both	, products a	nd services	(e.g. Gupta et al. 2004)	
Figure 9. Morphol	ogical box	of determinants	of MC b	behavior	includin	g researc	ch coverage	

When distinguishing between products and services, several differences are apparent. First, the catalog and the call center play a minor role in services as most services are branch- or Internet-based. The prepurchase phase also seems to be of less importance. In contrast, the post-purchase stage is relatively important in services as most (financial) services have a longer life cycle. Perceived benefits have been reviewed less frequently than perceived costs for services. The same holds true for psychographics and experience factors. Finally, also service characteristics are yet to be explored in greater detail (Gensler et al. 2012), especially since they can also be classified into different categories (Durkin et al. 2008).

What is the benefit of the morphological box and the frequency analysis? We demonstrate implications for researchers and practitioners. Researchers can benefit from avenues for future research. Based on the under-researched areas in services, we derive three exemplary research questions that enhance the knowledge of multi-channel behavior in the service industry.

A channel's capability for social interaction plays an important role for products. Surprisingly, it has to our knowledge only been considered twice in a multi-channel context in the service industry (Black et al. 2002; Lamberti et al. 2014). Banking branches and stores offer possibilities to interact socially with the providers or other consumers. It is reasonable to assume that the social interaction is a major reason for consumers to choose the offline channel. Hence, we propose:

## **RQ1**: How does a channel's capability for social interaction affect consumers' channel choice in the service industry?

Loyalty has not been studied in the context of services, although it is ascribed a central role in banking (Du Toit et al. 2015). In the dataset of Cortinas et al. (2010), the average relationship of consumers with their banks was more than 14 years. Loyalty can be divided into channel loyalty (e.g. Thomas and Sullivan 2005) and brand or firm loyalty (e.g. Konus et al. 2008), and it is documented to have an impact on channel choice for products. Consequently, we suggest:

#### **RQ2**: How does channel and firm loyalty affect consumers' channel choice in the service industry?

Product categories have a moderating role on channel choices (see above). This relationship has yet to be researched in financial services which can be segmented along different dimensions such as complexity, frequency or level of contact (Durkin et al. 2008). Other researchers have already suggested to study the role of service categories in banking (Gensler et al. 2012). Therefore, we hypothesize:

### **RQ3**: How is channel choice moderated by different service categories of financial services (e.g. savings and investment)?

Practitioners can use the morphological box as a guideline to evaluate their channels and to analyze the match with their consumer base. First, they have to assess which channels they are offering and how these channels are positioned within the firm. Second, they should segment their consumers along

individual characteristics, such as demographics, psychographics and experience (see dimension "consumer" in the morphological box). This can be done, for instance, by defining target consumers or segments. Third, they should analyze if their channels match the respective consumer segments. If not, marketing managers can actively steer consumer behavior by implementing measures which represent characteristics of the channel attributes. For example, the firm could offer the possibility to order online but to pick-up the order in the store, thus extending the breadth of the online product assortment to physical stores. Moreover, other measures could be taken to promote the channel advantages and to reduce the channel disadvantages (e.g. refund money of fraudulent transactions) for certain consumer segments. Finally, practitioners can use the morphological box to review their product portfolio and test it for stage-channel and product-channel associations (Gensler et al. 2012; Verhoef et al. 2007).

#### 3.1.6 CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

This work studies the determinants of multi-channel behavior. After conducting a systematic literature review, a morphological box is developed that structures multi-channel behavior according to the dimensions of context, consumer and product. Subsequently, the research frequency of the morphological box is derived for products and services. It documents under-researched areas in services. Based on these areas, we derived implications for researchers and practitioners.

To evaluate the results of our study, it is important to reflect on its limitations. Only 53 primary publications were considered in the systematic literature review and it is likely that there exist further studies that examine multi-channel behavior. With more studies, the morphological box could be more detailed, and the research frequency analysis could have led to a different color-coding. Further, we only considered studies that investigate the channel choice in a multi-channel context for searches or purchases. More determinants could be transferred from research on adoption of single channels (e.g. the online channel) or from multi-channel behavior for tasks (e.g. bank transfer online or in a branch).

In a next step, we reflect on a potential experimental design. The results could be used for a laboratory experiment that aims to intervene in the online banking (channel) during the post-purchase stage. Thereby, it could examine the impact of social interaction, product categories, and consumer characteristics on consumers' channel choice. As previous studies demonstrate gender-related differences, the experiment could aim to nudge women with a preference for the branch towards digital channels.

In this experiment, the participants could be shown the user interface of a regular online banking, where they have to perform tasks, such as checking their portfolio performance or initiating a transfer. Each time, they could be given the choice which channel to use for the task whereas each channel could have different representations. The branch could be represented by making an appointment with the bank adviser, the telephone banking by entering and dialing a number, or the online channel by the user interface of the online banking. Thereby, each channel could have different possibilities for social interactions.

To nudge the participants towards a certain channel, the effect of priming (Dolan et al. 2012; Palmer 1975) could be used (see Dolan et al. 2012 for a definition). The priming could be operationalized by exposing the subjects to images or representations of the respective channels before the task. In other contexts, priming has proven to be a successful influence (Thaler and Sunstein 2008). In practice, priming could be imagined as an advertisement that consumers remember when thinking about their channel choice. Marketing communications have already shown to be influencers of channel choice (e.g. Venkatesan et al. 2007). Thus, the nudge could be used to investigate RQ1 how a channel's capability for social interaction affects consumers' channel choice.

Beyond RQ1, the experiment could generate interesting findings on how much the channel choice of consumers can be influenced by the design of channel and how it is moderated by the product category. Additionally, the experiment could be useful for banks to increase the efficiency of their branch staff by nudging consumers towards digital channels for simple tasks. The staff could then be able to focus exclusively on sales activities and is less occupied with administrative activities.

# 3.2 Study 2: The Role of Personality Traits and Gender Roles in Digital Retail Channels<sup>2</sup>

#### 3.2.1 INTRODUCTION

The rise of new technologies led to the development of new retail channels, such as the online or mobile channel which are collectively referred to as digital channels. The new digital channels offer consumers a multitude of options to search, purchase, and use products and services (Verhoef et al. 2007). Yet, in a recent study, only 7% of the consumers were "online-only shoppers" while the majority of the consumers (73%) relied on multiple channels during their shopping journey (Sopadjieva et al. 2017). An increase in online-only shoppers would reduce free-riding and channel-switching (e.g. Chou et al. 2016) and lead to substantial monetary savings for channel providers as transactions in physical channels are more expensive (PwC 2012). In addition, also consumers would benefit from an increased online usage, as using multiple channels could lead to prolonged purchasing processes or competing information and experiences in different channels (Brynjolfsson et al. 2013; Rawson et al. 2013).

One possible solution to this dilemma is individualizing the design of digital channels. Especially by implementing an individualized user interface, which can be more effective than a standard interface for the whole population (Nov, Arazy, López, et al. 2013), the negative consequences can be outweighed. Previous studies have shown that individualizing the UI according to the individual user or consumer characteristics increases user's online contribution (Nov, Arazy, López, et al. 2013) or participation (Nov, Arazy, Lotts, et al. 2013). Moreover, a well-designed individualization might increase the use of new technology (Oulasvirta and Blom 2008). Therefore, also the usage of digital channels could be increased by individualizing them according to the individual consumer characteristics.

To be able to design and to individualize digital channels, the interplay between individual characteristics and channel characteristics is needed. Thereby, information systems and marketing scholars have analyzed multi-channel behavior and detected a variety of channel characteristics, such as perceived risk (Gensler et al. 2012; Verhoef et al. 2007), perceived benefits (e.g. Frambach et al. 2008), or trust (Kim et al. 2008; Yoon 2002), that function as determinants of multi-channel behavior. In addition, each study assessed demographical factors to analyze individual differences. Yet, demographics alone are not suitable to explain individual differences in channel choices (Cortinas et al. 2010; Konus et al. 2008). However, and with regard to the psychological literature, other individual characteristics might be more applicable, such as personality traits and gender roles. They have served as explanatory or moderating variables in different contexts of online behavior before (e.g. Barnett et al. 2015; Cyr et al. 2017; Johnston et al. 2016; Venkatesh and Morris 2000). Moreover, the influence of personality traits or gender roles on channel choices has not been covered in the literature. Several

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This section is based on Hummel, Vogel, Schacht et al. (2018)

literature reviews on channel choices do not cover personality traits or gender roles (e.g. Hummel et al. 2016; Neslin et al. 2006).

Personality traits and gender roles can be assessed through different inventories such as the prominent Big Five Inventory (McCrae and John 1992) or the Bem Sex Role Inventory (Bem 1974). The Big Five Inventory is based on five traits, namely extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism, and openness. Personality traits have an influence in various fields of IS Research, e.g. in various forms of decision support (e.g. Bansal et al. 2010), to advance the TAM (Svendsen et al. 2013) or the Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (Barnett et al. 2015). The same accounts for gender roles which are used in IS theories, too (e.g. Cyr et al. 2017; Venkatesh and Morris 2000). Also from a practical point of view, it is important to understand their role in channel choices as companies nowadays are able to assess personality traits based on social media data (Markovikj et al. 2013). Indeed, some researchers have addressed personality traits and gender roles in online contexts, but they did it on a qualitative level (Florenthal and Shoham 2010; Pieterson and van Dijk 2007) or they considered a different dependent variable, such as online impulse buying behavior or the intention to disclose health information (Bansal et al. 2010; Bosnjak et al. 2007; Turkyilmaz et al. 2015).

Therefore, extending existing decision-making models in the periphery of channel choices with personality traits and gender roles is important to derive insights for the individualization of digital channels. Among a variety of such models (Chou et al. 2016; Gupta et al. 2004; Kim et al. 2008), we identified the basic theoretical framework of Kim et al. (2008) to be particularly applicable. We extend this model in two ways: with personality traits and gender roles. Overall, we propose the following research question:

### **Research Question**: What is the effect of personality traits and gender roles on perceived risk, trust, and perceived benefits?

To answer the research question, we conducted a laboratory experiment with 236 participants in a German university laboratory using a multi-channel banking context. The participants had to browse a fictitious banking website and to contract a student loan. Finally, they filled out a survey with the respective items. The data is analyzed using the covariance-based approach of Structural Equation Modeling.

Our study provides several contributions to the IS literature. First, it highlights the role of personality traits and gender roles in channel choices and extends an existing decision-making model (Kim et al. 2008). We find that agreeableness, neuroticism, extraversion, masculinity and femininity are important antecedents of the channel determinants of perceived risk, trust, and perceived benefits. Thereby, we were also able to replicate the basic theoretical framework of Kim et al. (2008), which is originally based on a survey, in an experimental context. Finally, we generate empirical knowledge that can be used for

the design of digital channels. For example, practitioners can use our results as a basis for the individualization of their digital channels by highlighting the benefits of digital channels particularly to introverted consumers or consumers with low neuroticism, or by presenting trust-building seals (e.g. Mousavizadeh et al. 2016) to consumers with high masculinity.

The remainder of the study is structured as follows: In Chapter 3.2.2, we describe prior work on determinants and models of channel choices as well as inventories of personality traits and gender roles. Afterwards, we derive the hypotheses and synthesize them in a research model (Chapter 3.2.3). Chapter 3.2.4 outlines the experimental setup and the context of financial services as well as the data analysis methodology. Chapter 3.2.5 shows the results of the measurement model and structural model, which are then discussed in Chapter 3.2.6. Finally, Chapter 3.2.7 concludes the study with the contributions, the limitations, and an outlook on future research.

#### 3.2.2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

#### Determinants of multi-channel behavior

Multi-channel behavior of consumers provides the context for our study as using multiple channels has become the standard case for most consumers (Sopadjieva et al. 2017). Within this context, several studies have reviewed the determinants of multi-channel behavior and categorized them into different dimensions (Hummel et al. 2016; Neslin et al. 2006; Trenz and Veit 2015). While Trenz and Veit (2015) categorize the determinants into four groups (channel determinants, purchase specifics, external influences, and individual differences), Hummel et al. (2016) identify the dimensions of context (including channel determinants), consumer and product. According to the literature reviews, particularly channel determinants play a decisive role in channel choices. Hence, they are usually integrated into channel choice models or decision-making models.

Based on a non-systematic literature review on channel choices, we reviewed at least ten different models of channel choices or intention to use a channel (e.g. Chou et al. 2016; Fang et al. 2006; Gensler et al. 2012; Graupner and Maedche 2015; Gupta et al. 2004; Kim et al. 2008). Most models have in common that they use a basic set of main constructs that are anteceded by a variety of more context-dependent constructs, such as perceived privacy protection or privacy concerns (Kim et al. 2008; Ozdemir et al. 2017). One of the most often used models is presented by Kim et al. (2008) with more than 2,000 citations. Their core model theorizes that purchase intentions are based upon perceived risk, perceived benefits and consumer trust. For instance, perceived risk can be defined as "a consumer's belief about the potential uncertain negative outcomes from the online transaction" (Kim et al. 2008, p. 546), and their study shows that perceived risk has a strong impact on consumers' purchasing decisions. This is in line with other studies which show that channel choices are largely determined by factors such

as perceived risk, privacy concerns or trust (e.g. Gensler et al. 2012; Gupta et al. 2004; Verhoef et al. 2007).

Beyond these determinants, also individual consumer characteristics, in particular demographics, have been studied widely as determinants of multi-channel behavior (see literature reviews Hummel et al. 2016; Neslin et al. 2006; Trenz and Veit 2015). Mostly, only papers from the early 2000s find demographical differences (Black et al. 2002; Strebel et al. 2004), and by today, several studies reach the result that demographics alone are not effective in explaining channel choices (e.g. Cortinas et al. 2010; Konus et al. 2008). Hence, other individual characteristics such as personality traits and gender roles might be better suited in this context. We decided to focus on personality traits and gender roles as they have proven to be important in different online behavior contexts before (e.g. Barnett et al. 2015; Cyr et al. 2017; Johnston et al. 2016; Venkatesh and Morris 2000) but have been left out as individual differences by the channel choice literature (Hummel et al. 2016; Neslin et al. 2006; Trenz and Veit 2015).

#### Personality traits and gender roles

There are different definitions of personality traits (see Chapter 2). For example, Allport (1961) describes personality traits as a "neuropsychic structure having the capacity to render many stimuli functionally equivalent, and to initiate and guide equivalent (meaningfully consistent) forms of adaptive and expressive behavior" (Allport 1961, p. 347). Other researchers define personality traits as "an individual's dispositions or tendencies that lead to certain attitudinal and behavioral patterns across situations" (Junglas et al. 2008; McCrae and Costa 1987). A common denominator of all definitions is the finding that personality traits are stable characteristics that allow to understand, explain and predict the behavior of individuals (Stemmler et al. 2011). In other words, the definitions assume behavioral patterns and thus a certain stability across situations. Personality traits are formed at younger ages, remain somewhat stable in the following years, and are subject to change in the old ages again (Specht et al. 2011).

Several inventories exist to classify personality traits. The most prominent one is the Big Five Inventory (McCrae and John 1992), namely extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism, and openness to experience. John and Srivastava (1999) provided comprehensible definitions for each trait. Thereby, *extraversion* "implies an energetic approach toward the social and material world and includes traits such as sociability, activity, assertiveness, and positive emotionality" (p. 30). In turn, *agreeableness* "contrasts a prosocial and communal orientation towards others with antagonism and includes traits such as altruism, tender-mindedness, trust, and modesty" (p. 30). Moreover, *conscientiousness* "describes socially prescribed impulse control that facilitates task- and goal-directed behavior, such as thinking before acting, delaying gratification, following norms and rules, and planning, organizing, and prioritizing tasks" (p. 30). *Neuroticism* "contrasts emotional stability and

even-temperedness with negative emotionality, such as feeling anxious, nervous, sad, and tense" (p. 30). Finally, *openness* "describes the breadth, depth, originality, and complexity of an individual's mental and experiential life" (p. 30). The Big Five Inventory has also been used in the past to advance IS theories (e.g. Junglas et al. 2008).

In addition to personality traits, we consider gender roles due to gender differences in personality traits (e.g. Giudice et al. 2012; Weisberg et al. 2011). IS researchers have frequently used gender differences as an explanatory factor in explaining technology acceptance (e.g. Cyr et al. 2017; Sonnenschein et al. 2016; Venkatesh and Morris 2000), or suggest to do so in future research (Krasnova et al. 2017). To account for this stream, we refer to an existing gender role inventory, the Bem Sex Role Inventory (Bem 1974). It uses masculine, feminine and neutral characteristics to classify different sex types. The original questionnaire consisted of 20 masculine, 20 feminine and 20 neutral characteristics that can be used to derive different sex-types, especially feminine and masculine. Feminine-typed individuals score high on characteristics like "affectionate", "sensitive to the needs of others" or "loves children" while masculine-typed persons are associated with being "dominant", "forceful" or "willing to take risks" (Bem 1974, p. 156). The inventory of Bem (1974) has been refined with more up to date characteristics (Hunt et al. 2007; Sieverding 2009) and was also used (Aguirre-Urreta and Marakas 2010), or at least referenced (Venkatesh and Morris 2000) in IS studies in the past. We build on these studies and incorporate personality traits and gender roles in the research streams of channel choices.

#### Personality traits in online environments

Personality traits and gender roles have rarely been used in the channel choice literature. However, they were employed outside of the context of channel choices to investigate consumer behavior in online environments in general. Table 5 shows an exemplary subset of prior research using personality traits and gender roles in online environments.

Table 5.	Table 5. Related work on personality traits and gender roles in online environments											
Study	Context	Dependent	Type of	Personality traits or	Signific.							
		variable	study	gender role	effect							
Wang et al.	E-Commerce	Intention to	Quantitative	Openness to	Yes							
(2006)		shop online	(Survey)	experience, risk-taking								
				propensity								
Bosnjak et al.	E-Commerce	Intention to	Quantitative	Big Five Inventory	Yes							
(2007)		shop online	(Survey)									
Pieterson and	Government	n/a	Qualitative	Not specified	n/a							
van Dijk (2007)	services		(Interviews)									

Florenthal and	E-Commerce	Channel	Qualitative	Not specified	n/a
Shoham (2010)		preferences	(Framework)		
Bansal et al.	Health	Intention to	Quantitative	Big Five Inventory	Mixed
(2010)		disclose health	(Lab		
		information	experiment)		
Liu et al. (2013)	E-Commerce	Urge to buy	Quantitative	Impulsiveness,	Yes
		impulsively	(Survey)	normative evaluation,	
				instant gratification	
Turkyilmaz et	E-Commerce	Online impulse	Quantitative	Big Five Inventory	Yes
al. (2015)		buying	(Survey)		
Rodríguez-	E-Commerce	Device usage	Quantitative	Impulsiveness, need for	Yes
Torrico et al.		(online/mobile)	(Survey)	touch	
(2017)					
This study	Financial	Channel choice	Quantitative	Big Five Inventory,	See
(2018)	services		(Lab	Bem Sex Role	below
			experiment)	Inventory	

Some researchers in the IS domain have studied personality traits and gender roles. Yet, a systematic investigation is missing, and previous research suffers from several shortcomings. Therefore, we see room for differentiation in several dimensions. Firstly, some researchers have performed qualitative studies by conducting interviews (Pieterson and van Dijk 2007) or developing a framework without evaluating it (Florenthal and Shoham 2010). Secondly, some studies (e.g. Liu et al. 2013; Rodríguez-Torrico et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2006) did not use established inventories of personality traits such as the Big Five Inventory, which would be helpful in terms of the reliability of constructs, or when different studies want to be compared. Thirdly, it is important to notice that past studies assessed intentions (Bansal et al. 2010; Bosnjak et al. 2007; Liu et al. 2013) or a different dependent variable (Rodríguez-Torrico et al. 2017; Turkyilmaz et al. 2015), such as online impulse buying. The dependent variable is important as it makes a difference whether consumers can actually choose between *different* channels or whether they are only asked about their intentions to use one channel. In addition, it is unclear whether personality traits have an effect when the channel is used to begin with. That is, our research aims to clarify the influence of personality traits and gender roles at an early stage of the buying process, thus as antecedents of using online purchase opportunities. Hence, our study uses a quantitative approach, assesses the channel choice as a dependent variable and uses two reliable and established inventories of personality traits (see Table 5).

Overall, we conclude that personality traits and gender roles have not been researched to a great extent in the context of channel choices and that the findings from related dependent variables and contexts are promising.

#### 3.2.3 HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT

Hence, we aim to extend existing research by testing the effect of personality traits on the predictors of channel choices. Therefore, we build upon the existing and established model of Kim et al. (2008) and extend it accordingly.

#### Replication of basic theoretical framework (hypothesis 1)

First, we replicate the basic theoretical framework of Kim et al. (2008). Therefore, we replace the purchase intention with the channel choice and we assume that the channel choice is influenced by the perceived risk, trust, and perceived benefits (Kim et al. 2008). In addition, perceived risk mediates the relationship of trust and the channel choice (Kim et al. 2008).

Hypothesis H1a: A consumer's perceived risk negatively affects the choice of the online channel.

*Hypothesis H1b:* A consumer's perceived benefits positively affects the choice of the online channel.

Hypothesis H1c: A consumer's trust negatively affects the consumer's perceived risk.

Hypothesis H1d: A consumer's trust positively affects the choice of the online channel.

#### Personality traits as antecedent of the basic theoretical framework (hypothesis 2)

The second hypothesis aims at the relationship of personality traits and the constructs of the basic theoretical framework (Kim et al. 2008). Based on previous studies (e.g. Bansal et al. 2010; Bosnjak et al. 2007), we assume that personality traits are antecedents of perceived risk, trust, and perceived benefits. However, contrary to Bansal et al. (2010), we assume that personality traits are not directed to one integrated construct (perceived health information sensitivity in their case). Instead, each trait has different relationships with the relevant constructs similar to the approach of Svendsen et al. (2013).

In particular, *neuroticism* is associated with anxiety which is illustrated exemplarily by items such as "worries a lot" or "gets nervous easily" (John and Srivastava 1999). Consequently, neurotic individuals focus on what might go wrong and tend to overlook the benefits of a new technology. Therefore, neuroticism has a positive relationship towards perceived risk and a negative relationship towards perceived benefits, such that highly neurotic participants perceive digital channels as particularly risky and less beneficial. *Extraversion* is frequently associated with being outgoing. Therefore, introverted participants value the anonymity of digital channels and shy away from social interactions. Thus, extraversion may be negatively correlated with the perceived benefits of digital channels. Nevertheless, extraverted individuals have higher trust (Tov et al. 2016; Walczuch and Lundgren 2004). *Agreeableness* is based on the assumptions of social compatibility, and of a basic trust in the goodness of people. This also influences the trust of individuals with high agreeableness and leads to a positive relationship towards trust (Walczuch and Lundgren 2004). Based on a previous study, *conscientiousness* 

is negatively related to perceived risk (Hampson et al. 2006). Finally, *openness to experience* antecedes trust. This hypothesis follows the argumentation that "more openness leads to more willingness to embrace new concepts and be more careless with respect to new situations and experience" (Walczuch and Lundgren 2004, p. 161).

Similar to Bosnjak et al. (2007) and given that personality traits and channel choices are underresearched, it is not possible to derive a relationship for all connections between the Big Five Inventory and perceived risk, trust, and perceived benefits. Yet, as the Big Five Inventory is usually measured with all traits, we estimate the remaining traits and relationships exploratively (Vogel et al. 2017) and report a full model in Appendix C. Overall, we hypothesize:

Hypothesis H2a: Neuroticism negatively affects the consumer's perceived benefits.

Hypothesis H2b: Neuroticism positively affects the consumer's perceived risk.

Hypothesis H2c: Extraversion negatively affects the consumer's perceived benefits.

Hypothesis H2d: Extraversion positively affects the consumer's trust.

Hypothesis H2e: Agreeableness positively affects the consumer's trust.

Hypothesis H2f: Conscientiousness negatively affects the consumer's perceived risk.

Hypothesis H2g: Openness to experience positively affects the consumer's trust.

#### Gender roles as antecedent of the basic theoretical framework (hypothesis 3)

In addition to personality traits, we suggest adding gender roles to the basic theoretical framework due to gender differences in personality traits (Giudice et al. 2012; Weisberg et al. 2011). Thereby, we assume that *femininity* has a negative influence on perceived benefits. This arises from the computer self-efficacy, which is usually lower among feminine individuals (Venkatesh and Davis 1996; Venkatesh and Morris 2000), and which impacts perceived ease of use and therefore the perceived benefits (Venkatesh and Morris 2000). When it comes to perceived risk, individuals with feminine traits are more risk-averse (e.g. Aguirre-Urreta and Marakas 2010; Inman et al. 2004) which implies a positive relationship of femininity and perceived risk. The two hypotheses are supported by the fact that participants with a high score in femininity are socialized to be help-seeking and relationship oriented (Diehl et al. 2004; Venkatesh and Morris 2000).

In turn, *masculinity*, which is related positively to self-efficacy (Venkatesh and Davis 1996; Venkatesh and Morris 2000), has a positive influence on perceived ease of use and therefore a positive relationship towards perceived benefits (Cyr et al. 2017; Venkatesh and Morris 2000). This is also supported by achievement orientation of participants with masculine traits that are usually fulfilled by the benefits of

a technology (Diehl et al. 2004). Further, masculinity has a positive influence on trust as previous studies have shown for an augmented Technology Acceptance Model (e.g. Cyr et al. 2017).

Hypothesis H3a: Femininity negatively affects the consumer's perceived benefits.

Hypothesis H3b: Femininity positively affects the consumer's perceived risk.

Hypothesis H3c: Masculinity positively affects the consumer's perceived benefits.

Hypothesis H3d: Masculinity positively affects the consumer's trust.

#### **Research model**

The hypotheses are synthesized in a research model (see Figure 10 below).



#### 3.2.4 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

#### Experiment design

To answer our research question, we conducted an experiment in a German university laboratory in September 2017 (Jung et al. 2018; Levitt and List 2007). Our participants were part of the lab pool which comprises mainly students of a mid-sized German city. In order to become a member of the pool, interested individuals can register themselves. The participants were invited by E-Mail to participate in

the study and then could sign-up for a particular time slot. They received 8€ as a compensation for their participation. The experimental study consisted of four steps (see Figure 11).



First, the participants received general information about the experiment. Thereby, they learned that the experiment covers financial decision-making in a banking context. We have chosen the financial services industry because the banking channel structures in Germany are currently being reshuffled with major branch closures and considerable investments in digital channels such as the online or mobile channel. Moreover, the financial service of student loans can be contracted online for a few years and offer a setting where the same financial service can be accessed in two different channels. Next, participants were presented general information on student loans. These pages have been inspired by the website of a large German bank, and they were important to make the experiment as realistic as possible for the participants. After informing themselves about the various financial services, in particular student loans, the participants were forwarded to an installment calculator to estimate their fictitious monthly installment rate. In the contracting phase, participants had to choose a channel to contract the loan. If having chosen the online channel, the participants had to fill out the loan form on the computer screen; if having chosen the branch, then they had to use a paper form. Finally, they completed a survey with the constructs from the research model.

#### Measurements

The *dependent* variable is channel choice which is operationalized as a binary choice between the online channel and the branch. As binary variables cannot measure how sure the participants were about their decision, we additionally included a confidence rating asking them how much they inclined towards their decision. Therefore, we used a seven-point Likert scale ranging from "very weak tendency towards the chosen alternative" to "very strong tendency towards the chosen alternative". The constructs of the original model, perceived risk and perceived benefits, were adapted from Kim et al. (2008). Instead of consumer trust (Kim et al. 2008), we assessed Internet trust (Dinev and Hart 2006) due to the online banking context. The personality traits are based on the Big Five Inventory using the 42-item questionnaire (John and Srivastava 1999; Lang et al. 2001). Moreover, we measured the Bem Sex Role Inventory (Bem 1974) using the 20-item questionnaire (Hunt et al. 2007) with the German items from Sieverding (2009). All items were measured using a seven-point Likert scale. The German and English

measurement items can be found in Appendix B. As a quality check, we measured further constructs to assess their influence as an alternative explanation for the channel choice. These constructs were personal Internet interest (Dinev and Hart 2006), process digitizability (Graupner and Maedche 2015), web shopping risk attitude (Everard and Galletta 2006), information insecurity (new items), and online banking usage (Fang et al. 2006). Again, all items, except for online banking usage, were measured using a seven-point Likert scale. Moreover, we asked for age, gender, education, Internet usage, whether and where they contracted a loan in the past, as well as their reasons for the channel choice (open text field). Finally, we included open questions on what factors influenced the channel choice. The survey was conducted in German so that some items were forward and backward translated.

Several pre-tests of the experiment prototype and the survey were conducted prior to the actual experiment. In February 2017, four employees of a large German bank examined the experiment using the think-aloud technique. Results confirmed the representativeness of the experiment design for the banking sector and revealed only minor spelling mistakes. In a second pre-test, 30 participants from the lab pool were invited to take part in the study two weeks prior to the large-scale data collection. The participants were not informed that they were part of a pre-test and that their data would not be used to answer the research question. This pre-test revealed technical feasibility and was used to estimate the time length of the experiment.

#### Data analysis

We used Structural Equation Modelling (SEM) to derive the path estimates. Generally, SEM can be divided into the covariance-based SEM (CB-SEM) and partial least squares SEM (PLS-SEM) which are variance-based (Hair et al. 2011, 2017). In this study, we used a covariance-based approach. Covariance-based approaches offer a variety of goodness-of-fit indicators and they provide a more reliable evidence for the fit between the theoretical model and the observed empirical data (Hair et al. 1998, 2017). Moreover, CB-SEM is primarily used for confirmatory research objectives (Hair et al. 2017). To do so, we modelled the research model with IBM SPSS Amos 23.0.0 using a maximum likelihood estimation. With a sample size of 236 participants, the experimental study exceeds the threshold of 100, which is suggested for the maximum likelihood estimation in structural equation modelling (Hair et al. 1998). We follow the general recommendation that the data analysis should comprise the evaluation of the measurement model and the structural model (Anderson and Gerbing 1988; Hair et al. 2011). We used z-scores for the independent variables which yields a consistent threshold value for statistical significance in the statistical model.

#### 3.2.5 RESULTS

#### Descriptive analysis

Overall, 244 participants took part in the laboratory experiment. Eight participants had to be excluded as they failed to answer two test items correctly, or as they showed insufficient language skills in the open text fields. On average, it took the participants about 35 minutes to complete the study. Demographical data of the remaining 236 participants (see Table 6) showed an age ranging from 16 to 50 years with an average of 24 years. They used the Internet on average 4.8 hours per day, and only few participants (12.3%) had contracted a loan before. Hence pre-knowledge is not a concern. In sum, our sample was more male, younger and higher educated than the average German Internet population (Statista 2018). This distribution was expected, as the participant pool is dominated by students of the local technical university. Yet, also the original study (Kim et al. 2008) has a similar age structure and gender distribution with an average age of 22 years and 58% male participants. In order to replicate and extend their study, we needed a comparable sample. Moreover, several banks in Germany have announced to target the younger generation with a high affinity towards digital channels which supports using a younger sample. Therefore, we consider our sample to be appropriate.

Table	Table 6. Demographics of laboratory experiment participants										
Attribute	Characteristic	Total	%								
Gender	Male	139	58.9%								
Gender	Female	97	41.1%								
	16-24	155	65.7%								
Age	25-30	75	31.8%								
	>30	6	2.5%								
	A-levels ("Abitur")	111	47.0%								
Age Highest degree	Bachelor	99	41.9%								
Tinghest degree	Master	10	4.2%								
	Other	16	6.8%								
Contracted loan before	Yes	29	12.3%								
Age Highest degree Contracted loan before	No	207	87.7%								

Concerning the channel choices in the experiment, 114 participants (48%) chose the branch, while 122 (52%) participants decided to contract the student loan via the online channel. Based on the open text field, we gained insights into the reasons for the channel choices. The online channel was mainly chosen because of its convenience, speed of closing the transaction and due to unpleasant experiences in a banking branch. On the other hand, the branch was chosen because of insufficient product knowledge,

riskiness of the online channel and the possibility to clarify open questions. This is in line with previous research (Black et al. 2002; Hoehle et al. 2012).

#### Measurement model, construct reliability and validity

First, the measurement model assessed the reliability, convergent validity as well as the discriminant validity of the relevant constructs in the main study (Straub 1989). Therefore, Cronbach's alpha (Cb.  $\alpha$ ), the composite reliability (CR), and the average variance extracted (AVE) were estimated. In addition, we present the mean and the standard deviation (SD) of each construct.

Ta	Table 7. Measurement model assessment and descriptive statistics										
Variable	Construct	Abbr.	Cb. a	CR	AVE	Mean	SD				
	Extraversion	EXT	0.89	0.89	0.51	Mean     S       4.73     1       4.72     0       4.77     0       3.64     1       4.84     0       4.72     0       3.64     1       4.88     0       3.56     1       3.91     1       5.80     1	1.05				
Agreeableness     AGR     0.64     0.73     0.26     4.7       Personality traits     Conscientiousness     CON     0.71     0.31     0.14     4.7       Neuroticism     NEU     0.85     0.89     0.53     3.6       Openness     OPE     0.72     0.56     0.21     4.8	4.72	0.73									
	Conscientiousness	CON	0.71	0.31	0.14	4.77	0.77				
	Neuroticism	NEU	0.85	0.89	0.53	3.64	1.08				
	Openness	OPE	0.72	0.56	0.21	4.84	0.71				
Gender roles	Masculinity	MAS	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.87							
Gender Toles	Femininity	FEM	0.89	0.91	0.51	4.88	0.88				
Variables original	Perceived Risk	RIS	0.72	0.84	0.64	3.56	1.21				
	Trust	TRU	0.70	0.83	0.62	3.91	1.04				
model	Perceived Benefits	BEN	0.79	0.88	0.71	51 4.88 0.88   64 3.56 1.21   62 3.91 1.04   71 5.80 1.03					
Note: Abbr. = Abbre	eviation; Cb. $\alpha$ = Cronb	ach's alpł	na; CR = 0	Composite	e reliabilit	y;					
AVE = Average var	iance extracted; $SD = S$	tandard d	eviation								

For Cronbach's alpha, all constructs, except for agreeableness, meet the recommended threshold of 0.70 (Bearden et al. 1993). Concerning the composite reliability, all constructs, apart from conscientiousness and openness, meet the established cut-off value of 0.70 (Nunnally and Bernstein 1994). Moreover, we calculated the AVE values for each construct as the AVE can be used to estimate the discriminant validity. The AVE values should exceed the threshold of 0.5 (Fornell and Larcker 1981) which is the case for all constructs except for agreeableness, conscientiousness, openness and masculinity. Thereby, masculinity is only slightly below the threshold. The implications of the reliability measures will be discussed in the next chapter. The mean values for the personality traits of the Big Five Inventory are similar to other studies in Germany (Lang et al. 2001). Compared with the original study (Kim et al. 2008), our sample perceived less risk, had less trust, but perceived slightly higher benefits.

In addition, we set up a correlation matrix to be able to compare the inter-construct correlation and the square root of the AVE (Fornell and Larcker 1981) (see Table 8). The values for the AVE values should

exceed the inter-construct correlations for adequate discriminant validity (Chin 1998; Fornell and Larcker 1981; Kim et al. 2008). Note that not all square roots of the AVE exceed the inter-construct correlations, in particular not for openness and conscientiousness. Again, the implications will be discussed in the next chapter. Overall, the results indicate that the measurement model is appropriate for the research model except for conscientiousness and openness as these constructs fail to meet several criteria. We also estimated the variance inflation factors (VIFs) to control for threats of multicollinearity. However, all VIFs ranged between 1.0 and 1.9, and they were thus below the recommended cutoff value of 5 (Hair et al. 2011).

	Table 8. Inter-construct correlation matrix											
	EXT	AGR	CON	NEU	OPE	MAS	FEM	RIS	BEN	TRU		
EXT	0.71											
AGR	0.25	0.51										
CON	0.28	0.29	0.37									
NEU	-0.37	-0.21	-0.25	0.73								
OPE	0.31	0.17	0.37	-0.18	0.46							
MAS	0.65	-0.00	0.35	-0.42	0.38	0.68						
FEM	0.25	0.57	0.37	0.01	0.32	0.19	0.71					
RIS	-0.06	0.02	-0.03	0.07	0.04	-0.01	0.15	0.80				
BEN	0.03	0.04	0.06	-0.25	0.10	0.18	-0.02	-0.16	0.84			
TRU	0.04	0.10	-0.03	-0.15	0.02	0.10	0.02	-0.20	0.29	0.79		
СНО	0.01	-0.04	0.04	-0.17	-0.01	0.14	-0.15	-0.33	0.42	0.34		
Note: S	quare roo	t of AVE	shown in	bold; CH	IO = Cho	ice	•	•	·	<u>.</u>		

As can be retrieved from the Table 8 (lower row), the channel choice showed the strongest correlations with perceived risk, perceived benefits and trust which are all constructs from the basic theoretical framework (Kim et al. 2008). However, it also shows significant zero-order correlations with neuroticism, femininity and masculinity. This provides initial support for the predictive value of personality traits and gender roles.

#### Structural model assessment

Next, following the recommendations of a two-step approach (Anderson and Gerbing 1988), we estimated the structural model. The structural model includes the standardized regression weights for the estimated path coefficients of the model (see Figure 12).



The structural model shows that the basic theoretical framework has significant effects between trust, perceived risk, perceived benefits and channel choice. In particular, trust has a strong negative relationship towards perceived risk while it has a positive relationship towards channel choice. Also, as expected, perceived benefits have a strong positive relationship towards channel choice. The effects even have a similar strength compared with Kim et al. (2008), and therefore, hypotheses H1a to H1d are supported.

Next, we turn to the results of the Big Five Inventory. Thereby, *neuroticism* had indeed a strong negative effect on perceived benefits, thus supporting H2a. However, neuroticism did not have a significant positive effect on perceived risk. Hence, H2b is not supported. Similarly, *extraversion* was expected to negatively affect perceived benefits. The data supports this relationship and thus also H2c is supported. Yet, extraversion shows no significant negative effects on trust. Consequently, H2d is not supported. In turn, *agreeableness* had a strong positive effect on trust, thus supporting H2e. For the remaining two traits, *openness* and *conscientiousness*, we could not find any significant paths. So overall, hypotheses H2a, H2c and H2e are supported, while hypotheses H2b, H2d, H2f, and H2g are not supported.

Finally, we turn to the Bem Sex Role Inventory. The relationship of *masculinity* and trust as well as of masculinity and perceived benefits is positive and significant. Thus, hypotheses H3c and H3d are supported. In addition, we predicted a positive relationship of *femininity* and perceived risk. The data supports this relationship and hence H3b is supported, too. Only the relationship of femininity and

perceived benefits is insignificant. So overall, hypothesis H3a is not supported but hypotheses H3b to H3d are supported.

In sum, we conclude that especially perceived benefits and trust are significantly anteceded by several personality traits and gender roles. This conclusion still holds true when the model is calculated with all possible combinations between the personality traits and gender roles on the one hand, and perceived risk, perceived benefits and trust on the other hand (see Appendix C).

Finally, we report further results on channel choices using control variables. We could only find marginal differences in the results when controlling for demographics. Thereby, the results do not differ significantly in terms of age, gender, or education. Interestingly, those participants that have chosen the branch, report a slightly higher Internet usage which is counterintuitive compared with previous research (McGoldrick and Collins 2007; Park and Jun 2003).

#### 3.2.6 DISCUSSION

Our aim was to investigate the influence of personality traits and gender roles in the context of channel choices, and to incorporate them in an existing decision-making model. Overall, certain personality traits and gender roles antecede the constructs of the original model. The results can be discussed in three ways.

First, the *personality traits* show an effect on trust and perceived benefits. Naturally, *neuroticism* negatively affects online channel choices. Thereby, neurotic participants are anxious, focus on the negative aspects, and disvalue the benefits of the online channel. In line with our prediction, neurotic people were less likely to choose the online channel (Table 8). The results of the SEM indicate that this effect is explained by the negative relationship with the perceived benefits of the online channel. Surprisingly, neuroticism did not correlate with perceived risk (also Table 8), nor was this path significant in the SEM (Figure 12). For extraversion, we expected a negative relationship towards perceived benefits, and the data supports this relationship. An explanation for this result might be that introverted consumers specifically value the anonymity of the online channel. We offer an alternative explanation that the items for perceived benefits focus on saving time and convenience (Kim et al. 2008) while extravert individuals are energetic, active and sociable (John and Srivastava 1999; McCrae and John 1992). Hence, there might be a misfit between convenience and the energy/activity. Complementing this explanation, Turkyilmaz et al. (2015) found a positive effect of extraversion on online impulse buying. Yet, other studies (Bansal et al. 2010; Walczuch and Lundgren 2004) found no effect at all. Thus, more research will be needed to clarify the process by which extraversion affects channel choices. In turn, we find no effect for extraversion and trust. The lacking correlation between the two constructs is in line with a previous study (Walczuch and Lundgren 2004). Agreeableness is the trait complies most with our hypotheses. As agreeableness is positively related to trust, we trace this back to the social compatibility and the basic trust in the goodness of people. This is also in line with the finding that participants with high agreeableness also rated the provider of the online channel as slightly more trustworthy (without knowing anything about our fictitious bank). Again, as far as this can be compared, this is in contrast to Bansal et al. (2010), and it might either be attributable to the context of health vs. financial services, or that Bansal et al. (2010) directed all personality traits towards one construct (perceived health information sensitivity), and not towards the antecedents of the dependent variable. Finally, no significant relationships, and no correlation with the dependent variable could be found for *conscientiousness* and *openness to experience*. Although this is in line with Walczuch and Lundgren (2004), it would be premature to refuse that conscientiousness and openness to experience affect the channel choice. The lack of results in the SEM could reflect the poor reliability of these measures. Overall, the validity of conscientiousness and openness to experience cannot be discussed appropriately as the reliability is too low.

Moreover, another study found significant effects for all Big Five personality traits when measuring their effect on online impulse buying behavior (Turkyilmaz et al. 2015). Based on our correlation matrix, we see that only neuroticism decreases online channel choice. This might again be due to reasons of reliability, or this result can be traced back to the insecurity of conducting banking services online. Frequently in the past, major German banks reported bugs or security issues related to the online banking which might be considered as more severe by neurotic individuals. Yet, we could not find any significant effects for the other traits of the Big Five Inventory, which also lacked a correlation with the dependent variable (see Table 8).

Secondly, also *gender roles* seem to play an important role in channel choices. Except for the relationship of femininity and trust, all relations are significant. To explain these results, we use the gender schema theory (Bem 1981) which states that societal beliefs lead to the creation of gender schema at younger ages of individuals. Once established, these gender schemas influence the processing of information and also influences the self-esteem which leads to a behavior that is consistent with the gender schema (Bem 1981). Hence, masculine and feminine individuals might have created gender schemas towards what is expected of their gender role in terms of risk-aversion and trust. This leads to their positive/negative association with the predictors of channel choices. Notably, these effects occurred though there were no direct or moderating effects of biological sex, demonstrating the prime relevance of psychological inter-individual differences for understanding channel choices.

Third and finally, we were also able to *replicate* the original basic theoretical framework of Kim et al. (2008) in an experimental context with similar effect sizes. This is important as it has been frequently noticed that replications fail or lead to entirely different results (Erdfelder 2018). Thereby, our replication in an experimental setting with a financial services context strengthens the empirical base of the basic theoretical framework.

#### 3.2.7 CONCLUSION

To conclude, this study makes several theoretical and practical contributions. Theoretically, the main finding is the extension of the basic theoretical framework of Kim et al. (2008) with personality traits and gender roles. These personality traits and gender roles involve especially neuroticism, extraversion, agreeableness, masculinity, and femininity. The study highlights in particular that it is not sufficient to design an information system autarkically, but that the individual characteristics of the prospective users always have to be taken into account. In addition, we were also able to replicate the original model (Kim et al. 2008) in an experimental context.

Practitioners are a core target group of IS research (Te'eni et al. 2017). Therefore, especially in financial services companies, they benefit from our work by deriving insights for the design of their channels (Chau 2002). Our study provides the basis for matching individual characteristics with channel characteristics. Thereby, the benefits of the digital channel, e.g. broad product spectrum or convenience, should be highlighted particularly to introverted consumers or consumers with low neuroticism. In addition, consumers with feminine traits could be reached with risk-reducing messages, privacy and security seals (e.g. Bansal et al. 2015; Mousavizadeh et al. 2016) or other IS artefacts (Lowry et al. 2017). Alternatively, participants with high masculinity have trust in the online channel and they are inclined towards the benefits of it. This can be exploited in similar ways as for introverted consumers and consumers with low neuroticism.

Our study also has societal implications. As more and more (banking) branches are closed, certain personality traits are systematically excluded from technology-based purchasing opportunities as they avoid using digital channels. This effect is even supported by the suggestions we made for practitioners to individualize their digital channels to a particular set of personality traits. From an equality perspective, it would be beneficial to outweigh the disparities in channel choices. This can only be solved by investing in capabilities, such as security features, that attract online-distant personality traits and gender roles. Moreover, consumers themselves could save time and reduce information overload by using individualized digital channels. Hence, even infinitesimal time-savings of reduced purchasing processes add up to large time-savings in a society.

A limitation of this study is the somewhat artificial setup of a laboratory experiment. As no financial assets were at stake, the participants might not have felt the anxiety and pressure of contracting a real student loan. We tried to tackle this problem by developing a complex website structure, by urging them to behave as if real money was involved, and by leaving them in the dark about the intention of the study. In addition, the sample is younger and includes more students than the Internet population of Germany (Statista 2018), but which is in line with the original study (Kim et al. 2008). As we aimed mainly for inter-individual differences unrelated to age, this limitation is of minor relevance. Moreover,

two personality traits, conscientiousness and openness to experience, perform poorly in terms of reliability and no conclusions can be drawn for the BFI as a whole.

Future research could test whether personality traits and channel preferences can be compensated by building dedicated decision support systems (DSS). Therefore, textual or visual decisional guidance (Morana et al. 2017) could be implemented using seals or digital nudges (Weinmann et al. 2016). This would enable the providers of digital channels to influence consumer decisions regardless of the personality traits. Moreover, the decision support could be implemented adaptively by first assessing the characteristics and preferences of the consumer, and then be adapted in real-time to match them. It might also be interesting to use a more representative sample in terms of age and technology affinity, or to replicate our experiment using a different product, service or context. Finally, the personality trait of extraversion has produced contradicting results and more research is needed to clarify its role in online environments.

#### 3.3 Intermediate Summary and Discussion

The results of Chapter 3 show that multi-channel behavior has a variety of determinants, which can be clustered into four dimensions: channel, context, consumer and product. Thereby, constructs, such as a low perceived risk, high perceived benefits, an immediate availability, or a high trust support the choice of digital channels. The morphological box now allows for a consistent classification and comparison of the determinants of multi-channel behavior across different studies. Such a comprehensive conceptualization was not provided by earlier studies (Neslin et al. 2006; Trenz and Veit 2015) and can be used by researchers and practitioners.

Building on these findings, the second part of Chapter 3 was based on an existing model (Kim et al. 2008), and it has shown the interconnections of individual characteristics and channel characteristics. Thereby, it finds that personality traits and gender roles antecede the constructs of perceived risk, trust and perceived benefits. The findings can be used for an individualization of digital channels.

It can be concluded from Chapter 3 that not only the characteristics of digital channels matter but also the individual consumer characteristics. However, these findings leave few possibilities for providers of digital channels to actively influence consumer behavior in digital channels. This can be achieved using the concept of "nudging" (Thaler and Sunstein 2008) and "digital nudging" (Weinmann et al. 2016) which is the focus of Chapter 4.

### 4 Nudging Consumer Choices in Digital Retail Channels

# 4.1 Study 3: How Effective is Nudging? A Quantitative Literature Review<sup>3</sup>

#### 4.1.1 INTRODUCTION

Behavioral economics, in contrast to traditional economics, has nuanced our way of interpreting human behavior. Nudging is one particular area of behavioral economics (Thaler and Sunstein 2008; The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences 2017). By definition, nudges are "any aspects of the choice architecture that alters people's behavior in a predictable way without forbidding any options or significantly changing their economic incentives" (Thaler and Sunstein 2008, p. 6). Since the origin of the concept in 2008, governments in the US, UK, Germany and many more have implemented departments of behavioral economics (e.g. Behavioral Insights Team 2016; Social and Behavioral Sciences Team 2016). Therefore, nudges are not just a theoretical concept anymore, but now affect citizens in many countries through its influence in the political decision-making process.

Yet, it remains unclear if nudges really work and, if so, under which conditions. For example, the Science and Technology Committee of the United Kingdom, overseeing the Behavioral Intervention Team, has raised doubts whether experiments can be supported by appropriate evidence (see Halpern 2016; Kosters and Van der Heijden 2015). Also recent studies indicate limited influences of nudging (D'Adda et al. 2017; Esposito et al. 2017), or even report backfire effects with unintended consequences (e.g. Liu et al. 2016; See et al. 2013). For example, policy makers could choose defaults in the wrong environment which harms decision-makers by opting out in the wrong moment (Willis 2013). Moreover, one of the authors of the nudging concept has even dedicated a separate journal paper on "nudges that fail" (Sunstein 2017). Systematic reviews are a common and appropriate method in (behavioral) economics to clarify such questions (e.g. Lane 2017).

Qualitative and quantitative systematic literature reviews have been conducted on the topic of nudging before (e.g. Benartzi et al. 2017; Lycett et al. 2017; Wilson et al. 2016). Yet, these studies are mostly limited to a certain context, for example the health context (e.g. Adam and Jensen 2016; Bucher et al. 2016), or they are too narrow with as little as 18 studies (Benartzi et al. 2017). Therefore, it is questionable whether today's results on nudging are generalizable. We assume that existing research is not suited to provide an answer to the challenge of failing nudges described above. In this study, we clarify the effects and limits of nudging by means of a quantitative literature review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This section is based on Hummel and Maedche (2018)

Nudging, and the question of its effectiveness, is also becoming increasingly important in the digital age due to a more frequent decision-making in digital environments. This raises the relevance of research on digital nudging. Digital nudging is "the use of user-interface design elements to guide people's behavior in digital choice environments" (Schneider et al. 2018; Weinmann et al. 2016). Although some research on the topic of digital nudging is already conducted (Gregor and Lee-Archer 2016; Hummel et al. 2017a; Pahuja and Tan 2017), it remains unclear what can (not) be transferred from the study of offline nudges. Thus, we aim to answer the following research question:

## **Research Question**: How can nudges be classified and what are the influencing factors for the effectiveness of different nudge treatments?

In order to answer the research question, we conducted a systematic literature review across the disciplines of psychology, economics and information systems following the guidelines of systematic literature reviews (e.g. vom Brocke et al. 2009). Moreover, our study goes one step further by not only gathering and synthesizing the literature, but also by conducting a quantitative analysis (Kitchenham 2004; Stanley 2001) on the effect sizes of nudges. By covering 100 studies including 319 effect sizes, we claim to provide a cross-discipline and a cross-contextual analysis of nudging.

Thereby, this study contributes to existing research in four ways: (1) we create a morphological box on empirical nudging studies with eight dimensions, (2) we assess the overall effectiveness of the nudging concept with a median effect size of 21%, (3) we define the relative importance of context, nudge category, and other factors for the effectiveness of nudging, and (4) we provide avenues for future research in digital nudging. These contributions are particularly helpful as tools of behavioral economics are gaining increasing popularity in various research disciplines, and as a comprehensive and holistic overview is likely to accelerate these research activities. We also provide implications for practitioners. Especially government officials, that are responsible for nudging activities in policy making, can use our results to improve policy making in various fields.

This study is organized as follows. Chapter 4.1.2 defines behavioral economics and nudging, outlines the related work on nudging, and derives the research gap. Next, the methodology of the systematic literature review and the quantitative analysis are described (Chapter 4.1.3). In Chapter 4.1.4, we document the results of the literature review in the form of a morphological box, and we conduct the quantitative analysis of the effect sizes. Chapter 4.1.5 discusses the results and compares them with existing research. Finally, Chapter 4.1.6 highlights future research and the limitations of this study.

#### 4.1.2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

#### Nudging and digital nudging

While neoclassical economics assumes decision-makers to always make rational choices that incorporate all available information, behavioral economics has integrated knowledge from psychology to illustrate the boundaries of rational decision-makers (Camerer and Loewenstein 2004; Kahneman 2011). Behavioral economics traces back to the work of Adam Smith in the 18<sup>th</sup> century (Camerer and Loewenstein 2004), but has received greater attention with the research of Tversky and Kahneman (e.g. Tversky and Kahneman 1973, 1981), especially on their advancement of the dual process theory (Kahneman 2003). For instance, they found that the framing of a decision influences the outcome (Tversky and Kahneman 1981), or that the ease of recalling a particular piece of information determines the expected probability of its occurrence (Tversky and Kahneman 1973).

The concept of nudging is based on behavioral economics and the dual process theory. It assumes that the choice architecture can be used to alter people's behavior (Thaler and Sunstein 2008). For example, assuming that individuals are willing to donate their organs unless they declare otherwise (i.e. setting the default to an opt-out mechanism), dramatically increases the percentage of organ donors (Johnson and Goldstein 2003; Thaler and Sunstein 2008). By today, nudging is a widely applied concept by researchers and practitioners. Researchers used it to conduct experiments in different contexts to improve decision-making (e.g. Costa and Kahn 2011; Kallbekken and Sælen 2013; Luoto et al. 2014). A typical study starts with a real world behavioral problem, e.g. few people make check-up appointments with the dentist (Altmann and Traxler 2014). Then the typical study identifies suitable nudges to resolve the issue. In the dentist example, different (postal) reminders were sent out to patients. Thereby, a treatment group receives a nudge with a happy or sad face while the control group only receives a neutral reminder (Altmann and Traxler 2014). The results are evaluated in comparison with a control group to derive implications for researchers and practitioners (see also the nudging cycle of Schneider et al. 2018).

In 2016, the concept of nudging has evolved to the digital sphere called "digital nudging" (see definition above). Currently, there is a growing stream of conceptual papers on digital nudging. These papers encompass literature reviews (Mirsch et al. 2017), research-in-progress papers, mainly on experimental designs or with preliminary results (Djurica and Figl 2017; Székely et al. 2016), or policy papers (Gregor and Lee-Archer 2016). Although the term "digital nudging" was only introduced in 2016, researchers have used changes in the user interface before (e.g. Almuhimedi et al. 2015; Demarque et al. 2015). As numerous studies using nudges have already been conducted, nudging has been examined in various literature reviews in the past.

#### Literature reviews nudging

Based on a non-systematic literature search, we identified 11 literature reviews and quantitative analyses that have already been conducted on the topic of nudging (see Table 9). Most of these literature reviews focus on the context of health. For instance, Bucher et al. (2016) review the positional influence on food choices and find that the manipulation of food product order or the proximity can influence food choices. Lycett et al. (2017) review nudging strategies for dietary behavior of children while Cadario and Chandon (2017) conduct a meta-analysis (MA) on eating behavior interventions. These literature reviews and meta-analyses are summarized in Table 9.

Ta	able 9. Overvie	w of existing liter	rature revie	ews and m	eta-analyses on nudging
Reference	Context	Main variable	#Papers	Method	Exemplary results
Abrahamse	Energy	Household	38	SLR	Information results in higher
et al. (2005)		energy			knowledge levels, but not
		conservation			necessarily in behavioral change or
					saving energy
Skov et al.	Health	Eating behavior	12	SLR	Labelling, plate and cutlery size,
(2013)		in self-service			assortment and other manipulations
		settings			are associated with healthier food
					choices
Arno and	Health	Adult dietary	37	SLR	Nudges resulted in average 15.3 %
Thomas		behavior		and MA	increase in healthier dietary or
(2016)					nutritional choices
Lehner et al.	Environment	Sustainable	n/a	SLR	Size of the effects of policy
(2016)		consumption			interventions and outcomes in
		behavior			different contexts are very diverse
Adam and	Health	Obesity related	42	SLR	Most studies reported that store
Jensen		interventions at			interventions were effective in
(2016)		supermarkets			promoting purchase of healthy food
Bucher et al.	Health	Positional	15	SLR	Manipulating food product order
(2016)		influences			and proximity can influence food
					choice
Wilson et al.	Health	Healthy food	13	SLR	Mixed effectiveness of nudging in
(2016)		and beverage			healthier food and beverage choices
		choices			
Mirsch et al.	Digital	Digital nudging	65	SLR	Psychological mechanisms that
(2017)					underlie digital nudging

Lycett et al.	Health and	Children's	40	SLR	Studies showed improvement in
(2017)	education	dietary			dietary behaviors and were more
		behaviors			effective for older children
Cadario and	Health	Healthy eating	78	MA	Experiments yields a moderate but
Chandon		nudges			significant overall effect size
(2017)					(d=.28)
Benartzi et	Cross-	Nudging and	18	QA	Nudges often compare favorably
al. (2017)	context	traditional			with traditional interventions
		policy tools			
This study	Cross-	Overall effect	100	SLR	See below
	context	sizes of nudging		and QA	
SLR = System	natic literature re	view; MA = Meta-	analysis; Q.	A = Quantit	ative analysis

The overview shows that existing literature reviews have been limited to a certain context, such as health. Hence, specific conclusions can only be drawn for this context, but they do not allow for a generalized view on nudging nor for a cross-context comparison. However, the context is important, as it is assumed that the effectiveness of nudges might depend on it (see Kosters and Van der Heijden 2015). In addition, the evidence is limited as most literature reviews used far less than 100 studies.

When it comes to quantitative or meta-analyses, three studies were identified. Kosters and Van der Heijden (2015) approached the effectiveness of nudges across different disciplines. Yet, they did not perform it in a systematic manner and they included too few studies (17 studies from 13 different sources) to be able to generalize the results. A similar conclusion can be drawn for Benartzi et al. (2017) which conducted a review and compared the relative effect sizes of nudges and traditional interventions. Thereby, the authors conclude that nudges often compare favorably with traditional interventions, but they only included 18 studies in total (Benartzi et al. 2017).

In sum, we identified a research gap to provide a holistic evaluation of the effectiveness of the nudging concept and a classification of different types and categories of nudges.

#### 4.1.3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

#### Systematic literature review

In order to answer the research question, we conducted a systematic literature review following the suggestions of vom Brocke et al. (2009). The approach consists of five steps: definition of review scope, conceptualization of topic, literature search, literature analysis and synthesis, and research agenda (vom Brocke et al. 2009). The definition of the review scope and the conceptualization of the topic have been presented in the introduction. Therefore, we focus now on the actual literature search. We used the keywords of "nudge" OR "nudging" in three databases (see Table 10).

Based on the hits, we implemented several exclusion criteria. We did not include studies before 2008, as the term nudging, which is central in our keywords, barely existed before the work of Thaler and Sunstein (2008). We also did not include studies from 2018 as the literature search was conducted in early 2018. Moreover, we did not include studies that did not mention, "nudge" or "nudging", that did not quote the original work (Thaler and Sunstein 2008), or that had no other link to the nudge concept. On the one hand, this ensured the comparability of the identified studies as they all comply with the same concept. On the other hand, we might omit studies that used nudge-like interventions but did not label them accordingly (e.g. Halpern et al. 2013; Karlan et al. 2016). This ambivalence will be addressed in the discussion. Moreover, we excluded studies that were not using nudges as a concept to influence human behavior, such as *Improvement of morphodynamic modeling of tidal channel migration by nudging* (Chu et al. 2013). We also excluded policy papers that discuss nudging from an ethical or a policy perspective (e.g. Selinger and Whyte 2011), as all included papers had to show measurable effects of their intervention. Most importantly, we also excluded studies that labelled their intervention as a "nudge", but which failed to meet the nudging definition. As an example, some studies used financial incentives (Riggs 2017), but still labelled their approach a "nudge".

Table 10 shows the narrow down from hits to selected studies when the exclusion criteria were applied. The terms nudge OR nudging were searched for in the title, abstract or keywords of the studies. Thereby, we generated almost 2,500 hits and were able to screen out about 1,300 papers based on the title or the journal. This number is so large because of many studies from natural sciences (see example in italics above) where the word "nudge" is frequent but has a different meaning. Therefore, we reviewed the abstract or screened the document of the remaining 1,146 papers. Most papers used the term nudging correctly but conducted only qualitative studies without effect sizes. Especially in law and political sciences, nudging is a well-covered topic (e.g. Alemanno and Spina 2014; Strahilevitz and Porat 2014), but without empirical studies. This led to the perusal and review of 280 full texts. At this point, most papers used the correct concept in an empirical setting, but it had to be checked in detail if the treatment is in line with the definition of nudges. After removing such papers, we were left with 79 studies from the initial search. We identified another 21 studies through forward and backward search. Thus, the final literature review consists of 100 studies.

Table	Table 10. Search string, databases and narrow-down of systematic literature review											
Database	Keywords	No. of	No. of papers with	No. of full	No. of papers used for							
		hits	abstract reviews and	text reviews	SLR							
			document screening									
ScienceDirect	Nudge OR	549	366	94	32							
	Nudging											
EBSCOHost	Nudge OR	1,929	765	173	45							
	Nudging											
AISeL	Nudge OR	15	15	13	2							
	Nudging											
Sum database s	earches	2,493	1,146	280	79							
Forward and ba	Forward and backward search											
Total articles i	included				100							

#### Coding

We extracted different information from the primary studies. Firstly, we excerpted general information such as authors, title, keywords or the name of the journal. Then, we identified year, context, country and the dependent variable of the study. Next, we looked for the nudge category, the absolute and relative effect size, the significance, the number of participants, the number of studies, the data collection method, and whether the nudge occurred in a digital environment (see Table 11). All data was systematically stored in a spreadsheet and analyzed accordingly.

	Table 11. Exemplary extract of data storage										
#	Source	Country	Context	Category	Effect	P value	Data		Digital		
1	Allcott	USA	Energy	Social norm	1.95%	0.01	Field		No		
	(2009)						experiment				
2	Almuhimedi	USA	Privacy	Disclosure	35.3%	n/a	Field		Yes		
	et al. (2015)						experiment				
3a	Bartke et al.	Germany	Finances	Social norm	27.1%	0.089	Field		No		
	(2017)						experiment				
3b	Bartke et al.	Germany	Finances	Social norm	62.5%	0.001	Field		No		
	(2017)						experiment				
100	Loeb et al.	USA	Health	Default	444%	0.001	Lab		No		
	(2017)						experiment				
Note:	Bartke et al. (	2017) appea	rs twice as	they employed	two type	s of treatn	nents (descript	ive n	orms and		
guess	ing the norm) w	which are bot	h coded as '	'social norms"							

We define the absolute effect size as the difference between the value of the dependent variable of the treatment group and the control group. Therefore, the absolute effect size can be both a numerical value and a percentage value. More important is the relative effect size. The relative effect size is defined as the percentage change between the dependent variable of the treatment group and the control group. It is important to extract relative effect sizes (similar to Benartzi et al. 2017), as the dependent variables of the different studies are very diverse, and otherwise hard to compare. The use of absolute and relative effect sizes as measures of effectiveness is also supported by other publications (Benartzi et al. 2017; Halpern 2016). Beyond the relative effect size, we do not use other measures, such as Cohen's d (Cohen 1988) as the standard deviation or variance, which is needed for the calculation of Cohen's d, was not reported in all studies.

#### Development of morphological box

Upon identifying relevant papers, we built the morphological box following the suggestions for taxonomy development (Nickerson et al. 2013). Thereby, we followed the intuitive approach of Nickerson et al. (2013). Although not being as systematic as the inductive or deductive approach, the intuitive approach is the most common one (see Table 1 in Nickerson et al. 2013). Chapter 4.1.4 provides the reasoning for each dimension and each characteristic of the morphological box. We deliberately decided to generate a morphological box rather than a taxonomy as the characteristics in each dimension, for example clusters of outcomes, are not always mutually exclusive and collectively exhaustive (Nickerson et al. 2013).

#### Quantitative analysis

Beyond integrating existing knowledge of nudging, we also perform a quantitative analysis of the effectiveness of nudges. In the beginning, we aimed for a meta-analysis (e.g. Gurevitch et al. 2018). Yet, missing standard deviations and other measures of some studies included in the systematic literature review prevented us from fulfilling the high requirements of meta-analyses (Gurevitch et al. 2018). Hence, we followed established suggestions of conducting quantitative literature reviews (Kitchenham 2004; Pickering and Byrne 2014; Ressing et al. 2009; Stanley 2001), also labelled quantitative analysis (Okoli and Schabram 2010; Prat et al. 2015). Similar to meta-analyses, quantitative literature reviews provide an overview of the state of research on a given topic (Pickering and Byrne 2014) with a focus on quantitative outcomes such as odds ratios or mean differences (Kitchenham 2004). Quantitative literature reviews have similar limitations as meta-analyses: publication bias, research bias, incomplete data reporting in primary publications, or the quality of studies (Gurevitch et al. 2018). We will account for these concerns in the discussion and the limitations. To conduct the quantitative analysis, particularly the effect sizes, the sample sizes, the p-values as well as the context and the nudge category are extracted from the primary publications.

#### 4.1.4 RESULTS LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Results morphological box

First, the results of the literature review are integrated into a morphological box. Morphological boxes are a common tool of displaying knowledge from systematic literature reviews (Nickerson et al. 2013). The dimensions of the morphological box (left side of Figure 13) reflect the most common properties of the different nudging studies. It is based upon the following dimensions: setting, choice architecture tool, category, application context, clusters of outcomes, data collection, significance, and magnitude (see Figure 13). Arrows indicate linkages among the dimensions.

- *Setting* describes whether a nudge is implemented in a conventional setting (e.g. Newell and Siikamäki 2013) or in a digital environment setting (e.g. Almuhimedi et al. 2015). This distinction is mainly derived from the recent proposition of "digital nudging" (Schneider et al. 2018; Weinmann et al. 2016), but we further differentiate between "digital nudge" and "digital setting" in the discussion (see also Chapter 4.1.6).
- *Choice architecture tool* describes whether the nudge is based on "structuring the choice task" or "describing the choice option" (Johnson et al. 2012). Tools for structuring the choice task "address the idea of what to present to decision-makers" while the latter "address the idea of how to present it" (Johnson et al. 2012, p. 488). Nudges can be traced back to one of these characteristics. This distinction is similar to the one of Münscher et al. (2016) which derive the categories of decision information, decision structure and decision assistance.
- The tools of choice architecture can be broken down into several *categories* (Sunstein 2014). For the category, we relied on existing frameworks for classifying nudges (e.g. Johnson et al. 2012; Münscher et al. 2016; Sunstein 2014). In particular, we have chosen to adapt the framework of Sunstein (2014), which is based on 10 different categories (Sunstein 2014). In most cases, each category could be matched with one of the two choice architecture tools.
- Moreover, the *application context* (hereafter just "context") of the nudge is taken into account. The original work (Thaler and Sunstein 2008) already included health and wealth (hereafter "Finances"). Moreover, the related work (see Table 9) additionally provides the contexts of energy and environment. Based on the literature review, we also added policy making and the context of privacy.
- The *cluster of outcomes* reflect the contexts by including the most common dependent variables. As the outcomes are very heterogeneous, they were clustered, and the list of characteristics is not exhaustive. For example, energy consumption contains "electricity usage in kwh/day" (Allcott 2011), "kilowatt hours per week" (Guerassimoff and Thomas 2015) and "electricity consumption" (Sudarshan 2017).

- *Data collection* is self-explanatory. Most studies rely on different types of experiments, such as lab experiments, field experiments, or online experiments. In addition, surveys or survey experiments are also found occasionally. Sometimes the exact experiment type is not reported which is why we added the characteristic "Experiment (other)".
- Finally, the *significance* and the *magnitude* are included. Significance is split up into statistically significant and statistically insignificant effects while both of them can be low, medium, or high in magnitude. The magnitude is defined as the relative effect size (see also Chapter 4.1.3).

Dimension						Charac	teristic						
Setting					Digital								
Choice architecture tool		Structuring the choice task						Describe choice options					
Category	Default	Simpli- fication	Social reference	Social Change Disclosure		Warnings/ graphics	Precomr ment	nit-	Reminders	Implement. intentions	Feedback		
Application context	Health	<u>ا</u>	Environment	Environment Fina		ances	Energy			Policy Making	F	Privacy	
Clusters of outcomes	Energy co	ergy consumption Healthy products chose or purchase			osen	en Sales of environmentally friendly products			Amount donated				
Data collection	Online ex	periment	Lab exp	eriment	ent Field experimen			Experiment (other)			Survey (e	Survey (experiment)	
Significance		l	nsignificant effe	ect					S	ignificant effec	ct		
Magnitude		Low (<10	)%)			Medium (1	10%-30%)			Hi	gh (>30%)		
F	igure 13	. Morpl	hological	box	of	experime	ental nu	dging	st	udies			

The morphological box provides a holistic overview of nudging. It can also be used to classify any nudges studies, to compare different studies, or to derive a research agenda.

#### Counting morphological box

To evaluate the morphological box, we coded the papers of the literature review. We marked relevant data points, transferred them to a spreadsheet, and counted them. This enables us to estimate which dimensions and characteristics have been researched to which extent. Some dimensions are evaluated at the level of a paper (100 papers in total), while others are better suited for evaluation on effect size level (319 effect sizes in total). There are more effect sizes than papers, because each paper can contain several nudging treatments or dependent variables (see Chapter 4.1.5 for more details). The difference of the counted characteristics to the 100 papers or 319 effect sizes in Figure 14 is usually unclear or multiple classifications. The result of the counting is displayed below.
Dimension		Characteristic						
Setting (100)	Conventi	ional (68)				Digital (32)		
Choice architecture tool (306)	Structuring the o	choice task (119)			Descri	pe choice optio	ns (187)	
Category (292)	Default (62) Simpli- fication (12) ref.	(49) Change (49) effort (41)	Disclosure (18)	Warnings/ graphics (55)	Precommit- ment (6)	Reminders (34)	Implement. Feedback Intent. (8) (7)	
Application context (98)	Health (38) Environm	Health (38) Environment (19) Finances (12)			10) P	olicy Making (1	10) Privacy (7)	
Clusters of outcomes (319)	Energy consumption (18) Healt	thy products chosen or purchase (60)	Sales of env friendly pro	vironmentally Amount donated (20) Other (178)			Other (178)	
Data collection (293)	Online experiment (46)	b experiment (47)	Field exper	iment (152)	Experimer	nt (other) (6)	Survey (experiment) (42)	
Significance (310)	Insignificant	t effect (115)			Sig	nificant effect (	195)	
Magnitude (273)	Low (<10%) (78) Medium (1			%-30%)(81)		High	(>30%) (114)	
	· · ·							

#### igure 14. Morphological box of experimental nudging studies including counting

The figure shows a very diverse picture of nudging. 32 studies (32%) occur in digital settings while the majority takes place in conventional settings. When considering the tools of choice architecture, the studies are more biased towards describing the choice options (187 effects) compared with structuring the choice task (119 effects). Moreover, the category allows for an overview which nudges are used (effect size level). Defaults are most common (62 effect sizes). Next, there is an almost equal amount of social references (49), change effort (41), warnings/graphics (55), and reminders (34). Less common are simplifications, disclosures, precommitment strategies, eliciting implementation intentions, or feedback (only 51 effect sizes in total). One example of a simplification is provided by Malone and Lusk (2017) which reduced the number of alternatives and introduced special offers compared with a baseline selection of products.

Concerning the context, most studies are conducted in a health context (38), followed by environment (19). Less researched are finances (12), energy (10), policy making (10), and privacy (7). Interestingly, all studies that were conducted in a privacy context, were also conducted in a digital setting. In addition, most studies used some kind of experiment (82 studies), whereas surveys or survey experiments are less common (13 studies). Finally, about one third of the effects are statistically insignificant (115 effects) while the effect sizes almost split up evenly across low (78), medium (81), and high (114) magnitude.

Additionally, we tabulate the category and the context of the nudge (see Table 12). Thereby, we note that a high number of effects sizes in a health context were produced by the nudge of changing the effort, mostly by rearranging the cafeteria line (e.g. Wansink and Hanks 2013). Moreover, many studies in an environmental context used social references (e.g. Chang et al. 2016; Demarque et al. 2015) while the energy context relied mostly on disclosures (e.g. Newell and Siikamäki 2013). All precommitment nudges were used in a health context (e.g. Cohen et al. 2015).

Table 12. Category-context matrix of number of effect sizes									
Category	Health	Environ-	Energy	Privacy	Finances	Policy	n/a	Total	
		ment				making		effect sizes	
Default	9	18	4	3	15	3	10	62	
Simplification	0	0	3	1	4	0	4	12	
Social reference	3	26	4	2	8	6	0	49	
Change effort	35	1	0	0	0	4	1	41	
Disclosures	0	0	16	2	0	0	0	18	
Warnings	17	11	0	13	0	4	10	55	
Precommitment	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	
Reminders	11	1	0	0	10	12	0	34	
Implementation	0	4	3	0	0	1	0	8	
intentions									
Feedback	3	0	2	0	0	2	0	7	
n/a	13	10	0	1	3	0	0	27	
Total effect	97	71	32	22	40	32	25	319	
sizes									

Further, we performed in-depth analyses on the publication year, the context, the category, and the origin of the sample.

# Publication year, category, context, and country

Looking at the years of the publication reveals that the number of studies is growing steadily each year. While the first studies appeared shortly after the original book on nudging (Thaler and Sunstein 2008), the year 2017 marked an all-time high of studies using nudges. Throughout the last years, there seems to be a positive trend in terms of absolute numbers of nudging publications.

We broke down the nudging categories for each year (see left side of Figure 15) and note that defaults and social references have always been popular. The use of warnings/graphics has not started until 2012, but most studies from 2017 have used this category. We repeat the same exercise for the context and the publication year (see right side of Figure 15). Most studies were conducted in the health context followed by environment. Not much variation is noted for the contexts of health and environment which are reasonably stable across all years. Overall, the three contexts of energy, environment and health cover 2/3 of all studies.



If we consider the location of the studies, 40% of the studies are conducted in the United States (40). If Europe is taken together, 41 studies were conducted here, with UK at the top (7 studies). Only few studies have been conducted in Africa (e.g. Duflo et al. 2011) or Asia (e.g. Agarwal et al. 2017; Sudarshan 2017). The Latin American continent remains largely uncovered. It is important to note that the studies from Asia and Africa have been published in the last two years (Agarwal et al. 2017; Sudarshan 2017) so more studies might be in the pipeline. Next, we turn to the quantitative analysis of the effect sizes.

#### 4.1.5 RESULTS QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

For the quantitative analysis, all coded variables are analyzed according to context, category, relative effect sizes, and others. Finally, we derive implications for digital nudging.

#### Data quality

A main contribution is the estimation of effects and effect sizes. The results of the 100 papers comprise 319 effect sizes. The number of effect sizes is greater than the actual number of papers for several reasons. Firstly, one paper usually comprises several experiments. On average, each paper consists of 1.36 experiments with a maximum of 8 experiments in one paper (Goswami and Urminsky 2016). Secondly, many papers report several dependent variables for one nudge, especially in a health context (Cohen et al. 2015; Wansink and Hanks 2013). Thirdly, one experiment consisted of several nudges that were tested against each other on one or more dependent variable (e.g. Friis et al. 2017). For the effect sizes, we always used a positive value even though some studies aimed to reduce the outcome compared with the control group (e.g. less energy used). Yet, not all papers report all coded variables. Therefore, Table 13 presents the number of data points for each variable (max. 319 possible).

Table 13. Overview of data points of quantitative analysis						
Tool of choice architecture	Nudge category Effect (Yes/No) Relative effect p-value   size					
n = 306	n = 292	n = 310	n = 273	n = 230		

# Effects and effect sizes

Of the 310 effects (see Table 13), 195 effects (63%) have a statistically significant effect, which is mostly reported as a p-value of 0.05 or lower, while 115 effects (37%) are statistically insignificant, which is mostly reported with a p-value of more than 0.05. Occasionally, statistically insignificant effects are reported to be insignificant in the discussion section of the primary publications, and not in the respective results section. Some studies claim that a p-value below 0.10 is still statistically significant, yet we labelled them as insignificant as we used a hurdle rate of 0.05. Only for 9 effects neither the p-value nor the statistical significance is reported. Hence, about 63% of the nudges have a statistically significant effect and 37% have an insignificant effect.

Overall, nudges have a median relative effect size of 21%. This effect sizes ranges from 0% (Damgaard and Gravert 2016) to 4400% (Steffel et al. 2016) and it includes both statistically significant and insignificant effects. Steffel et al. (2016) report on a default nudge that increases the choice of whipped cream on a hot chocolate from 2% to 90% (relative change of 4400%). The average relative effect size is 77%, but a few extremely high values artificially raise the effect size. If we exclude values of more than 150%, then the average effect size is still at 30%. The lowest statistically significant effect size is 1.8% (Goswami and Urminsky 2016) which might be due to the high sample size of 3,486 participants. Statistically significant effects have a median (average) relative effect size of 37% (110%), while insignificant effects have a median (average) effect size of 7% (17%). Furthermore, we estimate the effect sizes depending on the context (Table 14 and Figure 16) and the nudge category (Table 15 and Figure 17).

# Effect sizes by application context

Table 14. Average and median effect sizes per context									
Context	Energy	Environment	Finances	Health	Policy	Privacy			
					making				
# of studies (# of effects)	10 (21)	19 (69)	12 (37)	38 (86)	10 (26)	7 (13)			
Median effect size	13%	39%	28%	22%	6%	44%			
Average effect size	24%	37%	35%	28%	8%	33%			

Splitting up the studies by context shows the effect sizes across the different contexts.



The information is also visualized in the following boxplot (see Figure 16).

Table 14 and Figure 16 highlight that the effect sizes vary by context. While the effect sizes for environment, finances, and health are similar, the median for energy (privacy) seems to lower (higher). The quartiles for finances are the largest despite a low number of studies.

To validate this result statistically, we conducted an analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the effect size as the dependent variable and the context as the independent variable. This yields a statistically significant difference between the contexts. Values higher than 150% were excluded from the average effect size calculation, the boxplots and the ANOVA not to distort the results.

# Effect sizes by nudging category

Table 15 Average and modion offset sizes per estagemy of pudge										
1 a		Average			CU SIZES	per cate	gory of	nuage		
								_		
Nudge	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	<b>#8</b>	<b>#9</b>	#10
					-		-	-	-	
# of studies	21	4	12	14	3	18	2	13	3	4
	$(\mathbf{c}\mathbf{a})$	(10)	(10)	(41)	(10)	$(\overline{c},\overline{c})$	$( \cap$	(2.1)	$\langle 0 \rangle$	( <b>7</b> )
(# of effects)	(62)	(12)	(49)	(41)	(18)	(55)	(6)	(34)	(8)	(/)
Median effect size	51%	25%	21%	25%	11%	20%	7%	8%	30%	20%
Wiedlah effeet size	5170	2370	2170	2370	11/0	2070	//0	070	5770	2070
Average effect size	50%	24%	27%	30%	20%	30%	7%	22%	20%	23%
#1 Default; #2 Simplification; #3 Social reference; #4 Change effort; #5 Disclosure; #6 Warnings/graphics;										
#7 Precommitment; #8	Remind	ers; #9 E	licit imp	lementati	on intent	tions; #10	) Feedba	ick		

Next, we turn to the effect sizes per nudge category (see Table 15 and Figure 17).

It becomes apparent that each nudging category has a different effect size. Thereby, especially defaults have larger median and average effect sizes than other categories. The median and average effect sizes of the other categories are closer together. Yet, it has to be noted that some categories (e.g.

precommitment, elicit implementation intentions, and feedback) have low samples of studies so that those results are less reliable. The data is additionally visualized in Figure 17.



To estimate the differences, we again run an additional ANOVA with the category as the independent variable and the effect size as the dependent variable. This yields a statistically significant effect which implies that some of the categories have different means. This is particularly true for the default category. Again, values higher than 150% were excluded from the average effect size calculation, the boxplots and the ANOVA not to distort the results.

#### Digital nudging

Finally, we report separately on studies in a digital setting, or using digital nudging. We defined a digital setting when an information technology (IT) was involved in the nudge (e.g. a reminder via e-mail). In turn, digital nudging, as defined by Weinmann et al. (2016), only involves user-interface design elements. To stay with the previous example, we do not consider the reminder e-mail a user-interface design element. Therefore, digital nudges are a sub-dimension of studies in a digital setting.

32 studies have used nudges in a digital setting (e.g. Rodríguez-Priego et al. 2016; Székely et al. 2016). Thereof, only 19 studies have actually manipulated the user-interface (Esposito et al. 2017; Huang et al. 2017; Rodríguez-Priego et al. 2016). Examples are different designs of a search engine (Rodríguez-Priego et al. 2016), using defaults to increase privacy protection (Baek et al. 2014), or using labels to increase sustainable consumption (Demarque et al. 2015). Moreover, we found a variety of research-in-progress papers on digital nudging (Djurica and Figl 2017; Hummel et al. 2017a; Pahuja and Tan 2017), although these were not included in the systematic literature review. Surprisingly, most studies only use the user screen (e.g. for e-mails), and only few studies use different information technology, such as eye-tracking (Hummel, Toreini, and Maedche 2018) or neurophysiological measurements (Jung and Dorner 2018) for nudging.

Finally, we conducted an ANOVA to estimate whether conventional nudges differ from nudges in a digital setting. Therefore, we used the binary information digital setting (yes/no) as an independent variable and the effect size as a dependent variable. The result is statistically insignificant. Hence, the effect sizes of nudges in digital settings are not different to the effect sizes of nudges in conventional settings. Values higher than 150% were excluded from the ANOVA not to distort the results.

Subsequently, we discuss the results and derive several research streams for the IS community.

#### 4.1.6 DISCUSSION AND AVENUES FOR FUTURE RESEARCH IN DIGITAL NUDGING

#### **Discussion of results**

Nudging is seen as a salvaging concept across many disciplines. As it is also applied in policy making, it affects all citizens which underlines the importance of a scientific evaluation. We started from the notion that nudging might be less effective than proclaimed. This notion is partly supported as 63% of the nudging treatments have a statistically significant effect. In the following, the results are discussed along the dimensions of the morphological box: setting, choice architecture tool, category, application context and clusters of outcomes, significance and magnitude.

*Setting:* The setting focuses predominantly on conventional nudging although digital settings are studied to an increasing extent. Particularly in the last two years, 2016 and 2017, there has been the same amount of studies in a digital and a conventional setting. Although a digital setting has been used quite frequently, many studies did not adhere to the definition of "digital nudging" by Weinmann et al. (2016) (e.g. Esposito et al. 2017; Huang et al. 2017). This raises issues of competing definitions as other researchers start to come up with their own ones (e.g. Meske and Potthoff 2017). Moreover, an increasing number of papers propose study designs that are not in the interest of the decision-maker but the choice architect (Abdukadirov 2016; Lehrer and Jung 2017). This trend is likely to increase as providers of digital channels can easily implement digital nudges to promote sales in digital channels. Finally, in terms of effect sizes we find no difference between the digital and the conventional setting.

*Choice architecture tool:* Most studies "describe choice options" which can be traced back to a broad range of interventions such as social reference (e.g. Allcott 2009), simplification (e.g. Cyan et al. 2017), or reminders (e.g. Sonntag and Zizzo 2015). The difference would be even more pronounced if fewer studies had used defaults which counts as "structuring the choice task" (Johnson et al. 2012). As merely describing choice options is less invasive in terms of paternalism (Johnson et al. 2012; Thaler and Sunstein 2003), this finding supports the idea that most choice architects in the primary publications balanced the need for pushing individuals in one direction with the criticism of paternalism. This has been particularly pronounced in the context of privacy where only few studies used a form of "structuring the choice task" (e.g. Baek et al. 2014; Dogruel et al. 2017) and most relied on "describing choice options" (e.g. Esposito et al. 2017; Rodríguez-Priego et al. 2016).

*Category:* Along with the choice architecture tool, the category of nudge varies in the primary publications. While defaults and social references were used frequently (e.g. Demarque et al. 2015; Goswami and Urminsky 2016; Theotokis and Manganari 2015), other measures are less common. We assume that defaults are easy to implement and allow for a more precise causality of treatment and outcome than multi-step nudges such as eliciting implementation intentions or precommitment strategies (e.g. Nickerson and Rogers 2010). In turn, social references are more complex to implement but allow for a richer content, and they are thus more interesting from a psychological point of view (see publications in psychological journals such as Aldrovandi et al. 2015; Demarque et al. 2015; Hilton et al. 2014). Moreover, we note an overlap of the nudge category with the application context (see Table 12). For example, most nudges in the privacy context are warnings (e.g. Rodríguez-Priego et al. 2016; Schneider et al. 2015), whereas the majority in finances used reminders or defaults (e.g. Goswami and Urminsky 2016). We conclude that there exist category-context associations in nudging whereas it remains unclear why this is the case.

*Application context and clusters of outcomes*: We note a concentration on the health context although a variety of other contexts are employed, too. What is surprising, is the low percentage of studies with personal finances (e.g. Cyan et al. 2017; Zarghamee et al. 2017) as the claim of the original book was to "improve decisions about health, *wealth*, and happiness" (Thaler and Sunstein 2008). However, the concentration on the health context was to be expected as most of the literature reviews were conducted in this context, too (e.g. Bucher et al. 2016; Wilson et al. 2016). The reason for this overrepresentation might be that the health context was already very prominent in the original work of Thaler and Sunstein (2008), and that it offers better access to data as well as already established randomized controlled trials (RCTs). The clusters of outcomes are interconnected with the application context and we note that similar constructs (e.g. energy consumption) are measured quite differently ranging from "electricity usage in kwh/day" (Allcott 2011), "kilowatt hours per week" (Guerassimoff and Thomas 2015), or "kilowatt hours purchased per billing cycle" (Costa and Kahn 2011). This underlines the importance of using a meta-level measurement such as the relative change in the dependent variable.

*Significance and magnitude*: The most important contribution of this study is on the effect sizes of nudges. The quantitative analysis shows that the effect sizes are very diverse. Most importantly, it is astonishing for us to see that about 1/3 of the effects are statistically insignificant. Most likely, this number is even too low when considering that many studies with insignificant results do not get published ("publication bias"). Therefore, also the median (average) effect size of 21% (77%) is rather overestimated. Nevertheless, it is valuable to find out that default nudges seem to be more effective than any other nudge category (see Table 15). This can be explained by the status quo bias (Samuelson and Zeckhauser 1988) and decision inertia (Alós-Ferrer et al. 2016; Jung and Dorner 2018) that are particularly vulnerable to defaults. We are not aware of other studies that ranked nudges by their

effectiveness. Hence, we cannot compare it with previous studies or integrate it in the current state of research. Moreover, although not being part of the morphological box, some studies foreshadow moderating effects on the effectiveness of nudging, such as political preferences (e.g. Fellner et al. 2013) or personality (Jung and Mellers 2016; Stutzer et al. 2011). For example, Stutzer et al. (2011) measure the Big Five personality traits and find that conscientiousness might explain some of the differences in blood donation behavior when using defaults. This is an important finding as the effectiveness of nudges seems to not only depend on the nudge itself, but also on how it is perceived by an individual. However, many studies did not publish standard deviations and p-values along with the effect sizes. This limits the possibilities to run additional calculations using other measures such as Cohen's d (Cohen 1988) or to include quality measures like the Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies (Lycett et al. 2017). In sum, nudges seem to work but the effect sizes are influenced by the application context and especially by the nudge category.

As digital nudging will be more important in the future given an increased decision-making in digital environments, we synthesize the results in six avenues for future research in digital nudging.

#### Avenues for future research in digital nudging

The avenues for future research, derived from the systematic literature review and quantitative analysis, are illustrated along the digital nudging cycle (adapted from Schneider et al. 2018) in Figure 18 below.



When *defining the goal*, it is important to state the definition of digital nudging. Is it using any kind of digital technology (as we defined digital setting)? Or rather the use of user-interface design elements to guide people's behavior in digital choice environments (Weinmann et al. 2016)? Hereby, we also refer to the discussion on the *setting* above. In addition, the most applicable and promising contexts need to

be determined by future research. To understand the users, it is crucial to understand the interplay between digital nudges and the individual characteristics (see discussion above on significance and magnitude). Moreover, it would be important for the IS community to research which IT is most useful for individualizing digital nudges. When designing the nudge, we see two research opportunities based on the findings of the systematic literature review. On the one hand, a methodological approach is helpful when designing digital nudges. Although several researchers have suggested such processes (Meske and Potthoff 2017; Schneider et al. 2018), a design science research (DSR) approach (Arnott 2006; Kuechler and Vaishnavi 2008) would be beneficial to derive theory-grounded design principles. On the other hand, digital nudging, as opposed to conventional nudging, could benefit from an increased usage of alternative information technology, such as eve-tracking technology, virtual reality, or neurophysiological measurements. Given that such technology plays an increasing role in decisionmaking (Innocenti 2017), it is imperative to study the effects of digital nudges in such cases. Finally, testing the nudge is the conclusion of all previous research questions to find out which digital nudges work best. While we know that defaults are most effective in a conventional setting, it is unclear whether this is also true for digital nudges. To answer this research question, we are lacking sufficient evidence of testing different digital nudging treatments against each other. The avenues for future research are synthesized in Table 16 below.

#	Key issue	What we know – current evidence	Key challenges
1	How to define	1. One definition has been proposed	1. How to integrate digital nudges that do
	digital	2. More approaches exist that leverage IT	not manipulate the UI into a coherent
	nudges?	but do not use UI design elements	definition?
		3. Many nudges and digital nudges are not	2. How to account for the interests of the
		in the interest of the decision maker but in	decision maker? Who defines their
		the interests of the choice architects	interests in a digital setting?
2	Which	1. Effect sizes for conventional nudges	1. Only few empirical studies exist, which
	contexts are	vary for the different contexts	have not covered all contexts for digital
	most	2. Weinmann et al. (2016) suggested	nudges
	applicable for	several contexts and use cases for digital	2. Some contexts of offline nudges less
	digital	nudges	relevant, but new ones arise (e.g. business
	nudges?		process management)
3	How to	1. Conventional nudges are rarely	1. Which digital nudges work best for
	individualize	individualized	which individual characteristics?
	digital nudges	2. IT offers the possibility to individualize	2. Which IT is best suited to generate and
	using IT?	by adapting the user interface to the	implement individualized digital nudges?
		characteristics or the behavior of the users	

Table 16. Key challenges and research streams in digital nudging for the IS community

4	How to	1. Very often, nudges are ineffective or	1. How to combine digital nudging with
	combine	even lead to backfire effects	NeuroIS or eye-tracking?
	digital nudges	2. NeuroIS and eye-tracking offer	2. Does the integration of technologies lead
	with NeuroIS/	possibilities to react to ineffective digital	to better or worse effects of digital
	eye-tracking?	nudges in real-time	nudging?
5	How to	1. Several approaches to design digital	1. Existing approaches have not been
	include DSR	nudges (e.g. Meske and Potthoff 2017)	validated empirically
	to design	2. DSR emerged as a possible theoretical	2. How to integrate DSR into the process
	digital	basis for designing theory-grounded	of designing digital nudges?
	nudges?	digital nudges	
6	Which digital	1. In a conventional setting, default	1. Small empirical base of digital nudging
	nudges work	nudges work best	studies to analyze the effectiveness of
	best?	2. The effect sizes of digital nudges are	digital nudging
		not significantly different from nudges in	2. Nudges in digital settings are very
		conventional settings based on our QA	heterogeneous, from e-mail reminders to
			the design of a search engine

# 4.1.7 CONCLUSION

Nudging and digital nudging receive increased attention from academia and practice. After reviewing existing literature reviews in the sphere of nudging, we conducted a quantitative literature review. By analyzing 100 studies, we develop a morphological box and analyze the different properties of (digital) nudging. Most importantly, we derive insights for the effectiveness of nudges.

This study makes several contributions to the theory and practice of behavioral and experimental economics. Besides creating a theoretical framework for empirical nudging studies by means of a morphological box, we assess the overall effectiveness of nudging and claim that it might be less effective than proclaimed. We show that this can, in part, be related to the category and the context of the nudge, and we provide avenues for future research in digital nudging.

By making the data of the 100 coded papers available to all researchers, the authors aim to contribute to the discussion on the effectiveness of (digital) nudging and to refine the concept for future research. These contributions are particularly helpful as tools of behavioral economics are gaining increasing popularity in various research disciplines, and as a comprehensive and holistic overview of the nudging concept is likely to accelerate these research activities. Furthermore, we also offer implications for practitioners. Especially government officials, that are responsible for nudging activities in policy making, can use our results to improve policy making in various fields. These suggestions are in line with the propositions of other researchers (Datta and Mullainathan 2014; Ly et al. 2013).

The study has several limitations. First, we did not use several researchers for extracting the information from the selected papers due to the large amount of studies. Yet, as ambiguous sections were discussed with a knowledgeable researcher, the benefit of using an additional coder is considered to be low. In addition, extracting quantitative effect sizes from primary publications leaves less room for interpretation than coding qualitative data, such as interviews. Moreover, we might be victim to a possible publication bias as many studies with insignificant results are often not published. This implies that the findings are rather on the upper, edge and including several insignificant results would rather lower the average effect sizes. Moreover, we only included studies that mentioned the concept of nudging or referenced the work of Thaler and Sunstein (2008). Thereby, we are able to guarantee the comparability of the selected studies, but we might have excluded studies with a similar focus. Yet, as our work is comprehensive with 100 studies, we believe that the few nudge-like studies would not have made a large difference. To support this claim, we additionally coded and analyzed a randomly selected sample of 20 nudge-like studies. We compared them with the results of this study and could not find major differences (full results not disclosed).

Our study can only be a first step and further research is needed on this matter. The key challenges and research streams in digital nudging for the IS community provide sufficient content for future research. In addition, future research should include other nudge-like studies and compare the results with the conclusions drawn from this work. Finally, it would be beneficial to include a quality rating of the selected studies, similar to Lycett et al. (2017), to weigh them accordingly, and to prevent that lower quality studies distort the results of high-quality ones.

An overview of all studies included in the systematic literature review and quantitative analysis can be found in Appendix D. The findings on diverging effect sizes and potential moderating effects on the effectiveness of nudging were tested in an experimental setting in the following study.

# 4.2 Study 4: Individualized Digital Nudges for Sustainable Choices in Digital Retail Channels<sup>4</sup>

# 4.2.1 INTRODUCTION

Sustainability is one of the key challenges of our time (United Nations 2018). Many consumers want to contribute to a more sustainable world, for instance by purchasing and consuming sustainable products (Teng and Wang 2015; Yadav and Pathak 2016). Although many consumers would like to buy more sustainable products, only 20% do so regularly (Kristensson et al. 2017). This is also known as an "attitude-behavior gap" since the attitude towards a certain behavior is often a poor predictor of the actual marketplace behavior (Ajzen 2001; Vermeir and Verbeke 2006). In addition to consumers, vendors would also benefit from an increased sale of sustainable products as these products usually have higher profit margins. Hence, the actual purchasing decisions are not optimal for either side, consumers and suppliers. Moreover, the environment would also benefit from increased digital sales of sustainable products, making it a win-win-win situation.

One possibility to increase the consumption of sustainable products is using tools of choice architecture, so-called "nudges" (Thaler and Sunstein 2008). Nudges have been used in the past to promote sustainable behavior (e.g. Campbell-Arvai et al. 2014; Theotokis and Manganari 2015). Yet, nudges have been failing regularly in recent studies (e.g. Momsen and Stoerk 2014; Sonntag and Zizzo 2015), and Sunstein recently published a paper on "nudges that fail" (Sunstein 2017). A possible explanation for the observed failures might be that these nudges have been selected and deployed randomly and were not individualized according to the consumer characteristics. Individualization means that nudges are adapted to meet certain needs and preferences of consumers. Individualization of nudges was suggested by various studies in different settings (e.g. Goldstein et al. 2008; Halpern 2016; Johnson et al. 2012), but has not been verified empirically with personality traits or other individual characteristics. Individualization of nudges is difficult in conventional settings but more promising when digital environments are concerned ("digital nudging"), which also become increasingly important as sales channels for sustainable products.

Digital nudging describes "the use of user-interface design elements to guide people's behavior in digital choice environments" (Weinmann et al. 2016). Digital nudges have been used successfully in online contexts to increase the consumption of sustainable products (e.g. Demarque et al. 2015) or to increase CO2 offset payments (Székely et al. 2016). Yet, also in digital settings, the individual consumer characteristics have not been considered so far, and little is known about the interplay between different digital nudges and individual consumer characteristics. This is despite an increasing growth and availability of consumer and usage data that can be used for an individualization, e.g. by determining

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This section is based on Hummel, Vogel and Maedche (2018)

personality traits based on social media data (Markovikj et al. 2013; Youyou et al. 2015). One reason for this lacking individualization might be that designers of digital channels lack the required knowledge to match individual consumer characteristics with the design of their digital choice environments.

In this context, personality traits are a promising individual characteristic for the individualization as they have proven to be a differentiating factor in earlier studies using online contexts (e.g. Bansal et al. 2010). The Big Five Inventory (McCrae and John 1992) is the most prominent inventory of personality traits. Personality traits have an influence in various fields of IS research, e.g. in various forms of decision support (e.g. Bansal et al. 2010), or to advance the TAM (e.g. Svendsen et al. 2013). In the context of nudging, only few studies have included personality traits (Jung and Mellers 2016; Stutzer et al. 2011), all of which have some drawbacks. For example, Jung and Mellers (2016) measured only attitudes towards nudges and not treatment effects. Therefore, we hypothesize that it is promising to research the interaction effects of digital nudges and personality traits to increase sustainable product choices. Overall, the following research question shall be answered:

# **Research Question**: How do different types of digital nudges (defaults, social norms and warnings) influence the choice of sustainable products in digital channels under consideration of personality traits?

In order to answer the research question, we conducted an online survey experiment with 452 participants. The participants were presented a non-branded online grocery store similar to existing shops of Rewe (Germany), Sainsbury's (UK), or Kroger (USA). The participants were asked to select several products while being digitally nudged towards the sustainable alternative.

This study contributes to existing IS research in several ways. Firstly, our study contributes empirically to the emerging field of digital nudging. It offers one of the first digital nudging studies that tests different digital nudges against each other. Thereby, it is a valuable finding that digital nudges can do both harm and good. Secondly, we show that these effects are reinforced or diminished dependent on personality traits. In particular, defaults interact positively with openness, while warnings interact negatively with conscientiousness. As far as we know, this moderating effect has been proposed theoretically (e.g. Goldstein et al. 2008; Halpern 2016; Johnson et al. 2012), but not verified empirically.

Practitioners of different areas can use our results. Designers of digital channels can implement (personality) adaptive digital nudges which take into account the individual characteristics of the decision-makers. Thereby, they can increase the effectiveness of digital nudges and reduce the chance of unintended outcomes. In addition, policy makers can implement the findings in tailoring environmentally friendly policies, for example by using defaults rather than social norms to promote sustainable consumption. This helps governments to reach environmental goals, or the international

community to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations (United Nations 2018).

The rest of this study is organized as follows: Chapter 4.2.2 describes the theoretical concepts and related work of sustainable consumption, (digital) nudging, and personality traits. Moreover, it derives the hypotheses for the direct effects of the digital nudges, the interaction effects of the personality traits, and it depicts the research model. In Chapter 4.2.3, the experimental design and the data collection methodology is presented. Afterwards, Chapter 4.2.4 presents the descriptive results and the outcomes of the regression models. Chapter 4.2.5 discusses the findings, while Chapter 4.2.6 concludes the study by describing the limitations as well as giving an outlook on future research.

#### 4.2.2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT

#### Attitude-behavior gap in sustainable consumption

Online sales of groceries is an emerging topic in IS and marketing research (Melis et al. 2015). Within this topic, especially sustainable consumption has been researched extensively (e.g. Joshi and Rahman 2015; Prothero et al. 2011). For sustainable consumption, it is particularly striking that many consumers report that they want to buy sustainable products, but that they fail to turn this behavior into action, also labelled "attitude-behavior gap" (Ajzen 2001; Joshi and Rahman 2015; Vermeir and Verbeke 2006). This has led to the conclusion that theory of planned behavior (Ajzen 1991) is not suitable to explain sustainable consumption (Joshi and Rahman 2015), but that both individual and situational factors are also relevant factors in sustainable consumption decisions (Joshi and Rahman 2015; Prothero et al. 2011). Individual factors are emotions and habits, but also values and personality, while situational factors are represented among others by (online) store related attributes (Joshi and Rahman 2015). In online contexts, such attributes are determined by an information system. Hence, IS researchers have recognized that the design of information systems can contribute to environmental sustainability (Hamari et al. 2016; Melville 2010). Thereby, especially tools of choice architecture, so-called nudges, are suitable to increase sustainable consumption and to reduce a potential attitude-behavior gap. Table 17 provides an overview of the related work on the use of nudges in a sustainability context or the use of nudges and personality traits in other contexts.

Table 1	7. Related worl	c on nudging and perso	onality traits in	a sustainabilit	ty context
Study	Context	Dependent variable	Nudges	Data	Personality
				collection	traits
Stutzer et al.	Donations	Blood donations	Defaults	Field	Big Five
(2011)				experiment	Inventory
Löfgren et al.	Sustainability	CO2 compensation	Defaults	Field	n/a
(2012)		(binary)		experiment	
Campbell-Arvai	Sustainability	Participants	Defaults,	Field	n/a
et al. (2014)		choosing meat free	warnings	experiment	
		option			
Demarque et al.	Sustainability	Sustainable products	Social norms	Lab	n/a
(2015)				experiments	
Theotokis and	Sustainability	Towel reuse and	Defaults	Multiple	n/a
Manganari		activation e-		sources	
(2015)		statements			
Egebark and	Sustainability	Pages printed	Reminder,	Field	n/a
Ekström (2016)			defaults	experiment	
Hedlin and	Sustainability/	Enrollment rate	Defaults	Online	n/a
Sunstein (2016)	energy	green energy		experiment	
Jung and	Multiple	Attitude towards	n/a	Online	Empathetic,
Mellers (2016)	contexts	nudges		survey	desire for control,
					reactant,
					individualist,
					conservative
Székely et al.	Sustainability	Amount of CO2	Defaults	Online	n/a
(2016)		donations (in $\in$ )		experiment	
Graham and	Sustainability	Meat consumption,	Informational	Online	n/a
Abrahamse		attitudes towards	nudge,	survey	
(2017)		eating meat	framing		
Puaschunder	Sustainability	Recycled disposable	Warnings	Field	n/a <sup>5</sup>
(2017)		weight		experiment	
This study	Sustainability	Sustainable product	Defaults,	Online	Big Five
(2018)		choices	social norms,	survey	Inventory
			warnings	experiment	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The authors report on the trait of conscientiousness which does not refer to the identical personality trait of the Big Five Inventory but to the general awareness of a sustainable, environmental behavior

Table 17 shows that numerous studies have implemented nudges in a sustainability context but only few of them have investigated the relationship of nudging and individual characteristics, particularly personality traits. Only one study has used the Big Five Inventory (Stutzer et al. 2011), whereas another study assessed attitudes towards nudges and not their effectiveness (Jung and Mellers 2016). Yet, both studies have some drawbacks. For example, Stutzer et al. (2011) employ one treatment (defaults) and hypothesize that only conscientiousness might explain some of the differences in blood donation behavior. Moreover, most studies were conducted in conventional settings, and thus it remains unclear which nudges work best in digital environments. It is also open whether digital nudges can be individualized according to the individual traits of consumers, particularly personality traits. To conclude, there is a growing need to study the interaction of digital nudges and personality traits due to an increasing online purchasing behavior as well as an attitude-behavior gap in sustainable product choices.

#### Nudging and digital nudging

The concept of nudging is widely applied, and the original work of Thaler and Sunstein (2008) has been cited more than 10,000 times. Nudges make use of heuristics and cognitive biases in human decision-making, such as loss aversion or framing (Kahneman and Tversky 1979; Thaler and Sunstein 2008; Tversky and Kahneman 1981). Recently, the concept has been extended to digital environments (Weinmann et al. 2016), and also the head of the British Behavioral Interventions Team expects the digital sphere to be the next step in nudging (Halpern 2016). Digital nudges are increasingly important as more and more time, money, and decisions are spent or made online. Hence, IS researchers are producing experimental designs (e.g. Hummel et al. 2017; Székely et al. 2016), or conceptual papers (e.g. Gregor and Lee-Archer 2016) on digital nudging. Nudges have been used before in settings of environment and sustainability (e.g. Demarque et al. 2015; Hedlin and Sunstein 2016; Székely et al. 2016), or in a context of healthy eating (e.g. Cioffi et al. 2015). To classify nudges, one of the authors of the original book defined 10 different types of nudges (Sunstein 2014). Based on this categorization, we conducted a quantitative analysis (Hummel and Maedche 2018) and identified defaults, social norms and warnings to be most effective and most suitable in our context.

For *defaults*, we rely on a definition that describes a default as a "condition that is imposed when an individual fails to make a decision" (Johnson and Goldstein 2003). In other words, defaults refer to choice conditions in which one of the choice options is pre-selected. Defaults are multi-faceted nudges with regard to their underlying mechanisms. Many researchers argue that defaults make use of the status quo bias (Samuelson and Zeckhauser 1988) which is characterized by disproportionately sticking with the status quo even when the benefits of changing outweigh the status quo (Samuelson and Zeckhauser 1988). Either, individuals stay with the default because changing the pre-selected option is associated with transaction costs (e.g. Thaler and Benartzi 2004), or because the decision maker is indifferent to

the choice options. Alternatively, a default can be regarded as an implicit recommendation by the choice architect for a difficult choice (McKenzie et al. 2006). Numerous studies have implemented defaults in a variety of contexts, e.g. to increase blood donations (Stutzer et al. 2011), or to nudge individuals to compensate their CO2 emissions (Löfgren et al. 2012; Székely et al. 2016). Defaults are considered one of the most powerful nudges (Goldstein et al. 2008). Hence, we hypothesize:

#### Hypothesis 1 (H1): Digital nudges of the type default positively influence sustainable product choices.

Next, *social norms* are "rules and standards that are understood by members of a group, and that guide and/or constrain social behavior without the force of law" (Cialdini and Trost 1998, p. 152). Social norms can be differentiated between descriptive norms and injunctive norms (Cialdini 2003). Descriptive norms reveal what most people would do or have done while injunctive norms indicate which choice would be morally expected. Norms can be established by normative messages, for example as communicated by an authority. However, due to social comparisons, norms can also result from the observation of others. In this vein, the behavior of others acts as a social proof that an individual is showing the adequate behavior in the decision situation. Thus, an important information in the situation is what other do (or did), which acts as a descriptive norm. In other words, social norms work because people have the tendency to follow the majority, because they take the behavior of others as a social proof, and because they use the behavior of others to infer which is the best option (Cialdini 2003; Cialdini and Trost 1998). Social norms have been implemented by various studies (e.g. Aldrovandi et al. 2015; Demarque et al. 2015; Hermstrüwer and Dickert 2017). As social norms advertise the choice of sustainable products, we assume:

#### H2: Digital nudges of the type social norms positively influence sustainable product choices.

*Warnings* emphasize the negative consequences when consumers do not show the intended behavior, such as selecting the sustainable product, but show the alternative behavior instead. In the consumer literature, this can be regarded as a negative frame because providers do not display the benefits of showing the desired behavior, but emphasize the adverse consequences if one does not engage in this behavior (Ganzach and Karsahi 1995; Krüger et al. 2016). Thereby, warnings typically take advantage of the loss aversion of individuals (Kahneman and Tversky 1979) by emphasizing risks and potential disadvantages of a choice. Warnings can be for example "large fonts, bold letters, and bright colors" to trigger people's attention (Sunstein 2014, p. 5). Warnings have been used in the past in offline contexts (e.g. Cioffi et al. 2015; Thorndike et al. 2014). Typically, they were implemented as traffic-light labels (see Seward et al. 2016; Thorndike et al. 2012, 2014). Similarly, warnings in an online context put an extra burden on selecting unsustainable products. Hence, we hypothesize:

H3: Digital nudges of the type warnings positively influence sustainable product choices.

More importantly, the effect of digital nudges on sustainable product choices depend on individual characteristics, in particular on the personality traits, of the participant. This was shown by earlier studies which found that nudges interact with (political) attitude (Costa and Kahn 2011), that the attitude towards nudges is influenced by personality traits (Jung and Mellers 2016), and that nudges work the best if they are individualized according to the decision maker's personal characteristics (Johnson et al. 2012; Schneider et al. 2018). Moreover, we focus in particular on personality traits as a moderator as they have proven to be distinctive in earlier studies using similar online contexts (e.g. Bansal et al. 2010; Goldstein et al. 2008).

#### Personality traits

Personality traits can be defined as a "neuropsychic structure having the capacity to render many stimuli functionally equivalent, and to initiate and guide equivalent (meaningfully consistent) forms of adaptive and expressive behavior" (Allport 1961, p. 347). Several inventories have been developed to classify personality traits. The most prominent inventory is the Big Five Inventory (McCrae and John 1992) which distinguishes the personality traits of *extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism*, and *openness to experience*. The Big Five Inventory has been used in the past to advance IS theories (e.g. Junglas et al. 2008; Svendsen et al. 2013). So far, only few studies have examined personality traits in nudging (Jung and Mellers 2016; Stutzer et al. 2011). John and Srivastava (1999) provided comprehensible definitions for each trait.

*Agreeableness* "contrasts a prosocial and communal orientation towards others with antagonism and includes traits such as altruism, tender-mindedness, trust, and modesty" (John and Srivastava 1999, p. 30). Hence, individuals with high agreeableness are trustful, value communal goals and interpersonal harmony. Therefore, they are more likely to follow the social norm to act in line with communal goals and other individuals. This assumption is also supported by previous research which has shown that people with high agreeableness and conscientiousness are more likely to act in line with the social norms of their culture (Gebauer et al. 2014). Moreover, defaults work better on individuals with high agreeableness. This is due to the implicit recommendation effect which creates trust in the pre-selection. Therefore, individuals with high agreeableness are more prone to choose the defaulted product.

*H4*: Digital nudges of the type default positively influence sustainable product choices for participants with high agreeableness.

*H5*: Digital nudges of the type social norms positively influence sustainable product choices for participants with high agreeableness.

*Neuroticism* "contrasts emotional stability and even-temperedness with negative emotionality, such as feeling anxious, nervous, sad, and tense" (John and Srivastava 1999, p. 30). Consequently, neuroticism is associated with being anxious and nervous. For this reason, neurotic participants are particularly

susceptible to warnings due to the risk and loss aversion effects that are triggered by warnings. In addition, neurotic individuals follow social norms because of their validating, implicit recommendation effect which responds to the neuroticism.

*H6*: Digital nudges of the type warnings positively influence sustainable product choices for participants with high neuroticism.

*H7*: Digital nudges of the type social norm positively influence sustainable product choices for participants with high neuroticism.

*Conscientiousness* "describes socially prescribed impulse control that facilitates task- and goal-directed behavior, such as thinking before acting, delaying gratification, following norms and rules, and planning, organizing, and prioritizing tasks" (John and Srivastava 1999, p. 30). Conscientious individuals value achievement, order, and efficiency, and are therefore susceptible to defaults which provide order and efficiency in the purchasing process.

*H8*: Digital nudges of the type default positively influence sustainable product choices for participants with high conscientiousness.

*Extraversion* "implies an energetic approach toward the social and material world and includes traits such as sociability, activity, assertiveness, and positive emotionality" (John and Srivastava 1999, p. 30). Extraverts are especially sensitive to rewards and social attention. Therefore, social norms work better on participants with high extraversion.

*H9*: Digital nudges of the type social norm positively influence sustainable product choices for participants with high extraversion.

*Openness to experience* "describes the breadth, depth, originality, and complexity of an individual's mental and experiential life" (John and Srivastava 1999, p. 30). We do not formulate a directed hypothesis for participants with high openness but study its effect exploratively. All hypotheses are depicted in the research model in Figure 19.

#### **Research model**

The hypotheses are embedded in the stimulus-organism-response (S-O-R) model (Mehrabian and Russell 1974). The S-O-R model presumes that stimuli affect the decisions of individuals when they are processed by the organism. The resulting actions are labelled the response (Mehrabian and Russell 1974). In our experiment design, the nudges serve as stimuli, while the organism is the moderating role of personality traits. Finally, the choice of products represents the response. We have chosen the S-O-R model because it has been widely applied in the context of online shopping (Pantano and Viassone 2015; Peng and Kim 2014).



We conclude that, although nudges are very popular in a sustainability context and personality traits are established constructs in various settings, little research has been conducted at their intersection. Thus, it remains particularly unclear whether personality traits moderate the influence of different digital nudges. We address this issue with an online survey experiment which is illustrated in Chapter 4.2.3 below.

# 4.2.3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

# Experiment design

To answer our research question, we conducted an online survey experiment in summer 2018. Survey experiments are established methods of data collection and combine the generalizability and external validity of surveys with the valid causal inference and the internal validity of experiments (Krosnick et al. 2014; McFadden et al. 2005). Moreover, several prior studies, that are similar to our design, have also used survey experiments (e.g. Aldrovandi et al. 2015; Baek et al. 2014; Momsen and Stoerk 2014). Our participants were part of a university pool which comprises mainly students of a mid-sized German city. The participants were invited by E-Mail to participate in the study, and they could win a voucher as a compensation for their participation. On average, each participant received a theoretical compensation of 9€ per hour, but in the end only 30 out of 452 participants were selected as winners of vouchers worth 40€ each.

The online survey experiment consists of an experimental part and a survey part. We developed the experimental part ourselves and hosted it as a website using Amazon Web Services. In this part, the participants were first introduced to the context. Thereby, they were informed that they had invited friends for a meal, and that they still had to buy several products. The six products (bananas, tomatoes, coffee, milk, pasta and bread) were pre-defined by a shopping list. Then, the participants were directed

to a non-branded online grocery store where they informed themselves about the different products and chose between a sustainable or non-sustainable version of each product. Finally, the participants were forwarded to the online survey which was based on the established survey software "Unipark". In this part, they filled out a survey with the different measurement items (see Appendix B for a full list of all items).

### Treatments

The experiment was carried out as a between-subject design (List et al. 2011) and the participants were randomly assigned to the experimental groups based on a random number that was drawn in the beginning (Kirk 2003). Consequently, they were either assigned to one of the treatment groups, or to the control group. The participants were not aware of the different groups, but most participants recalled the treatment at the end of the survey. Importantly, we replicated existing and validated treatments. We have not developed new treatments within this study as we were interested in the interaction effects of digital nudges and personality traits. The different treatments were operationalized as follows (see Table 18).

	Table 18. Overview of experimental treatments							
Treatment	#	Implementation	Source					
Default	1	Sustainable product is preselected	Campbell-Arvai et al. (2014);					
			Theotokis and Manganari					
			(2015)					
Social norms	2	Display: "For your information, 70% of the	Demarque et al. (2015)					
		previous participants purchased at least three						
		sustainable products"						
Warnings	3	Display red traffic-light next to conventional	Thorndike et al. (2012);					
		product and display green traffic-light next	Thorndike et al. (2014)					
		to sustainable product						
Control	4	No preselection or message	n/a					

The default was implemented by pre-selecting each sustainable product, the social norms by permanently displaying a social norm message above the products, and the warnings by displaying different traffic-lights next to the products. The control group received the same interface, but without the default nudge, or any message. Screenshots of the user interfaces can be found in Appendix E.

#### **Measurements**

The dependent variable is represented by the binary choice of whether the sustainable product was chosen or not. For reasons of clarity, the absolute or average number of sustainable products chosen is

occasionally reported as the dependent variable in the descriptive results. The independent variables are the three different treatments of default, social norms, and warnings. The personality traits are based on the Big Five Inventory using the 42-item questionnaire (John and Srivastava 1999; Lang et al. 2001). In addition, we measured the acceptance of nudges, hereafter referred to as "policy agreements", using the measurements of Reisch and Sunstein (2016). To control for various other effects, we also measured the constructs from the theory of planned behavior (Ajzen 1991), such as attitudes, trust, purchase intentions, and subjective norms (all items from Teng and Wang 2015). Further we assessed for environmental knowledge (Mostafa 2007), whether the participants normally consume the different products and how often they purchase the respective products sustainably. All items were measured using a seven-point Likert scale, except for acceptance of nudges (approve/disapprove) and usual consumption (yes/no). We also included manipulation checks by asking whether any product has been pre-selected, whether a message was displayed on the product page, or whether any products were preselected or describe the message or traffic-light. Finally, we assess the demographics of the participants and their daily Internet usage (including mobile Internet usage).

#### Data analysis

The data is analyzed using a logistic regression model as we aim to predict a binary dependent variable (sustainable product yes/no) with several continuous and categorical independent variables. Before running the regression model, we transform the data to a long format with as many lines as we have product choices (2,712 product choices in total). Thereby, we use z-transformed scores to make the values of the different personality traits comparable. At the same time, we control for the different products, the participant ID and an error term. The main regression equation (including moderating effects) can be described as follows:

 $Pr(Choice_{i} = 1) = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} \cdot treatment_{j} + \beta_{2} \cdot extraversion_{i} + \beta_{3} \cdot openness_{i} + \beta_{4} \cdot agreeableness_{i} + \beta_{5} \cdot conscientiousness_{i} + \beta_{6} \cdot neuroticism_{i} + \beta_{7} \cdot treatment_{j} \cdot extraversion_{i} + \beta_{8} \cdot treatment_{j} \cdot openness_{i} + \beta_{9} \cdot treatment_{j} \cdot agreeableness_{i} + \beta_{10} \cdot treatment_{j} \cdot conscientiousness_{i} + \beta_{11} \cdot treatment_{j} \cdot neuroticism_{i} + \beta_{12} \cdot product_{i} + \beta_{13} \cdot ID_{i} + error_{0}$ 

where Pr(Choice) determines the probability of selecting a sustainable product, *i* indexes the participant, *j* indexes the treatment (whereas each participant receives the same treatment across all products), while the  $\beta s$  denote the regression estimators of the respective direct and interaction effects. *Product* controls for the different product categories with separate binary dummy variables while *ID* controls for the participants. Finally, we added an error term. To estimate the main effects of the digital nudges, we use the statistical programming language "R" and the respective integrated development environment "RStudio" (version 1.0.143).

In addition to the logistic regression model, we additionally calculated a mixed-effects logistic regression model as we had several observations for each participant. This model controls for the problems of dependencies that arise if each interaction of the digital nudge with the personality traits would be estimated separately. Mixed effects logistic regression models are occasionally used in digital nudging studies (e.g. Tietz et al. 2016; Weinmann et al. 2017). To solve the regression equation, we use particularly the "Ime4" package within R which contains mixed effects logistic regression models.

#### **Pre-tests**

We conducted several pre-tests prior to the main study. Firstly, we pre-tested the labels of the sustainable products as several popular labels exist in Germany. Thereby, we presented three alternatives to the participants: several products with the bio label of the European Union (EU), several products with the German bio label, and several products without any label. For reasons of simplicity, we stayed with the dimension of organic products, and did not enter the discussion that sustainability can also be comprised of fair trade, local production, carbon emissions, etc. The participants rated the products in terms of appeal, trustworthiness, and sustainability on a seven-point Likert scale. The results revealed that the participants of the pre-test perceived the products with the labels as equally appealing, but as less trustworthy and sustainable compared with the unlabeled products. The differences between the two labels were marginal. Hence, we decided to use the German bio label as the main study was conducted in Germany, too.

Secondly, we assessed the external validity and the complexity of the setting by conducting walkthroughs with six individuals using the think-aloud protocol. This ensured the applicability of the experimental design. Thirdly, we conducted an online survey experiment with 239 participants in April 2018 using only four products (bananas, tomatoes, coffee, milk), only the default treatment, and measuring the personality trait of conscientiousness. The participants were recruited from the same university pool, but we ensured that the participants of the pre-study could not join the main study. In this pre-study, we found first evidence for interaction effects between the digital nudge and the individual characteristics of conscientiousness. Hence, we conducted a large-scale study in a second step.

# 4.2.4 Results

#### Descriptive results of the main study

The main study was conducted in June 2018 with 452 participants. It took about 15-20 minutes in total to complete the experiment and the survey. With an average age of 24 years, our participants were younger than the average German Internet population (Statista 2018). We had a more male sample (63%), and the sample was highly educated with 48% of the individuals having a high school degree

and 46% at least a university degree. Finally, the participants reported an average daily Internet usage (including mobile Internet usage) of 5.2 hours. Although our sample is not representative, the demographics are similar to previous studies in terms of age and gender distribution (compare Demarque et al. 2015; Theotokis and Manganari 2015). In line with these authors, we argue that the results can, in principle, "be applied to all consumer populations that use a particular shop or website" (Demarque et al. 2015, p. 172). Moreover, students represent the generation with a high affinity towards online shopping environments, and which is aware of the topic of sustainability (Campbell-Arvai et al. 2014).

Before depicting the product choices, we provide an overview of the Big Five personality traits. Table 19 shows that the sample has a similar degree of agreeableness, conscientiousness, extraversion and openness, but is less neurotic. The results for the Big Five Inventory are similar to other studies (e.g. Lang et al. 2001).

Table 19. Overview of personality traits									
Personality trait	Items	Mean	SD	Observations	Source				
Agreeableness	8	4.8	0.7	452					
Neuroticism	7	3.5	0.9	452	Lang et al.				
Conscientiousness	9	4.9	0.7	452	(2001); McCrae				
Extraversion	8	4.7	1.0	452	and John (1992)				
Openness	10	4.9	0.7	452					

In total 2,712 choices were made (452 participants with 6 product decisions each). Thereof, the sustainable product was chosen in 60.7% of the cases. However, the choices are different for each product. While sustainable bananas were chosen with a rate of 59%, sustainable tomatoes with 67%, sustainable milk with 54%, and sustainable coffee with 60%, it was less common to buy sustainable pasta (37%) or sustainable bread (45%).

Next, we analyzed the choices of the different treatment groups (see Figure 20). Thereby, it became clear that the average number of sustainable products diverged heavily between the treatment groups. While the control group chose 3.4 sustainable products on average, the group with social norms only chose 2.9 (-16%) sustainable products, the group with a warning message chose 3.6 (+5%) sustainable products, and the default group chose 4.5 (+32%) sustainable products. It is also apparent from Figure 20 that the median for the group with social norms and the control group are similar, but that the interquartile ranges (IQR) for the control group and the warnings group are much larger than for the groups that received defaults or social norms.



Moreover, we can be sufficiently sure that these differences can be traced back to our treatments. When evaluating the data on manipulation checks, we found that about 75% of the participants were able to correctly recall their treatment (i.e. that products had been pre-selected, that a message was displayed or that the products were displayed along with a traffic-light). We consider this a high value since the manipulation checks were among the last items of the survey and occurred about 10-15 minutes after the treatment which is at the upper level of the short-term memory.

# Statistical hypothesis testing of main effects

At first, we tested the direct effects of the digital nudges on the choice of sustainable products, leaving out the individual characteristics initially. The results of this logistic regression model are displayed in Table 20 below. They suggest that defaults are significant at the 0.1%-level (p<0.001), social norms are significant at the 1%-level (p<0.01), while warnings are insignificant (p-value of 0.28). Interestingly, defaults lead to a significant increase in the number of sustainable products selected, whereas social norms reduced the number of sustainable products selected. Most product categories (except for milk) are significantly different from the reference category (bananas). Hence, we confirm hypothesis H1 and we reject H3. H2 is statistically significant but in the opposite direction than expected.

Table 20. Regression output of logistic regression model of main treatment effects								
Treatment	Estimate	Std. error	T value	P-value				
Intercept	0.5509	0.1427	3.860	p<0.001***				
Default	0.8673	0.1221	7.101	p<0.001***				
Social norms	-0.3834	0.1197	-3.204	0.0014**				
Warnings	0.1158	0.1082	1.071	0.2843				

Product category bread	-0.6058	0.1398	-4.333	p<0.001***				
Product category coffee	-0.2481	0.1411	-1.758	0.0787(.)				
Product category milk	0.1148	0.1445	0.794	0.4270				
Product category pasta	-1.0630	0.1410	-7.542	p<0.001***				
Product category tomatoes	0.4432	0.1497	2.960	0.0031**				
ID	0.0001	0.0003	-0.252	0.8013				
AIC		3,40	08.6	·				
Observations / ids	Observations / ids 2,712 / 452							
Significance codes: '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '(.)' 0.1; product category bananas serves as the								
reference category for the other product categories								

Next, we estimated the interaction effects which were based on the main regression equation depicted earlier in the data analysis section. In a final step, we further examined the main and interaction effects with respect to the control variables.

# Statistical hypothesis testing of interaction effects

To estimate the interaction effects, the Big Five personality traits are added to the regression equation, and they are multiplied with the treatments. The results are shown in Table 21.

Table 21. Regression ou	atput of logis	tic regression	model includi	ng personality	v traits
Treatment	Category	Estimate	Std. error	T value	P-value
Intercept	Intercept	0.5073	0.1460	3.475	p<0.001***
Default		0.8395	0.1251	6.708	p<0.001***
Social norms	Treatment	-0.3692	0.1222	-3.021	0.0025**
Warnings		0.1453	0.1110	1.309	0.1906
Extraversion		-0.0163	0.0898	-0.182	0.8559
Openness		-0.1410	0.0904	-1.560	0.1187
Agreeableness	Personality	0.1806	0.0821	2.200	0.0278*
Conscientiousness		0.1831	0.0798	2.293	0.0218*
Neuroticism		0.1081	0.0833	1.298	0.1944
Default x Extraversion		-0.2629	0.1472	-1.786	0.0741(.)
Social norms x Extraversion		0.0120	0.1298	0.092	0.9265
Warnings x Extraversion		0.0592	0.1244	0.476	0.6342
Default x Openness	Interaction	0.3976	0.1425	2.790	0.0053**
Social norms x Openness	interaction	0.1169	0.1297	0.901	0.3674
Warnings x Openness		0.1943	0.1194	1.627	0.1037
Default x Agreeableness	]	-0.0354	0.1355	-0.261	0.7939
Social norms x Agreeableness		-0.1455	0.1234	-1.179	0.2384

Warnings x Agreeableness		0.0433	0.1182	0.366	0.7141
Default x Conscientiousness		0.1534	0.1347	1.139	0.2547
Social norms x Conscientiousness		-0.2021	0.1257	-1.608	0.1079
Warnings x Conscientiousness		-0.3159	0.1159	-2.725	0.0064**
Default x Neuroticism		-0.0617	0.1367	-0.452	0.6516
Social x Neuroticism		-0.1646	0.1242	-1.325	0.1851
Warnings x Neuroticism		-0.0512	0.1194	-0.429	0.6681
Product category bread		-0.6167	0.1411	-4.372	p<0.001***
Product category coffee	Product	-0.2522	0.1423	-1.773	0.0763(.)
Product category milk	categories	0.1166	0.1456	0.800	0.4235
Product category pasta	categories	-1.084	0.1424	-7.611	p<0.001***
Product category tomatoes		0.4493	0.1508	2.980	0.0029**
ID	id	0.0001	0.0004	0.221	0.8248
AIC			3,400.5		
Observations / ids			2,712 / 452		
Significance codes: '***' 0.001 '*	*' 0.01 '*' 0.0	05 '(.)' 0.1; pi	roduct category l	bananas serves	as the reference
category for the other product category	gories				

The results of the regression model yield that defaults remain significant at the 0.1%-level (p<0.001), social norms remain significant at the 1%-level, while warnings remain insignificant. Concerning the interaction effects, there are two significant interactions and one marginally significant interaction between the digital nudges and the personality traits. Firstly, defaults interact positively with openness (p<0.01). This implies that defaults work better on participants with high levels of openness and worse on participants with low levels of openness compared with the control group. Secondly, warnings interact negatively with conscientiousness (p<0.01). In contrast, this means that warnings work better on participants with low levels of conscientiousness and worse on participants with with low levels of conscientiousness and worse on participants with medium or high levels of conscientiousness compared with the control group. The results of the interaction effects are also reflected in the trend lines of Figure 21. Moreover, we find a marginally significant interaction effect. Thereby, default and extraversion show a negative interaction (p-value of 0.07). Finally, two interaction effects (warnings and openness as well as social norms and conscientiousness) have a similar strength as the interaction of default and extraversion, but they are not marginally significant anymore with p-values of 0.10 und 0.11. Hence, we have to reject hypotheses H4-H9, but we find other interaction effects instead.



Statistical hypothesis testing of main and interaction effects with control variables

To test the robustness of the results, we performed additional calculations and we include further control variables. As part of the additional calculations we ran a mixed-effects logistic regression model to control for the potential missing independence of residuals. Thereby, we find for the direct effects that defaults are significant at the 0.1%-level, that social norms are only significant at the 10%-level (p-value of 0.06), and that warnings remain insignificant (p-value of 0.65). When including the moderating effects of personality traits, the results of the direct effects only change marginally. However, the interaction effects of defaults and openness as well as of warnings and conscientiousness are now only significant at the 10%-level. The full results of the mixed-effects logistic regression models are displayed in Appendix C.

To estimate which control variables might be effective, we created a correlation matrix (see Table 22). Hence, we tested for demographics, Internet usage, purchase intentions, attitude, trust, subjective norms, knowledge, policy agreement, consumption, and purchase frequency as these constructs correlated to some degree with the dependent variable. Firstly, the results on an overall level remain stable when *demographics* are added as control variables. Only including Internet usage (which itself has a significant influence on the dependent variable) slightly reduces the interaction effect of defaults and openness. The constructs from the theory of planned behavior (*purchase intentions, attitude, trust and subjective norms*) are all significantly related to the dependent variable (see also Table 22). Including them as control variables reduces the magnitude of the direct effects such that social norms turn insignificant. In addition, these constructs reduce the interaction effect of default and openness but mostly not the interaction effect of warnings and conscientiousness. Interestingly, when including trust as a control variable, the interaction effect of social norms and conscientiousness turns significant. Moreover, when including subjective norms as control variables, the direct effect of warnings on

sustainable product choices turns significant. The remaining control variables (*knowledge, policy agreement, consumption and purchase frequency*) had diverse effects and vary between decreasing and increasing the magnitude of the direct and interaction effects. While they are all significantly related to the dependent variable, they mostly reduce the interaction effects without impacting the direct effects of the treatments. However, including consumption significantly increases the interaction effect of warnings and openness. Moreover, when including purchase frequency, the interaction effect of social norms and extraversion turns significant.

To conclude, the effects of defaults and the interaction effect of warnings and conscientiousness are robust despite multiple control variables, while the effect of social norms and defaults and openness mostly turn insignificant when control variables are included in the regression equation. In addition, we note that some control variables strengthen various other interaction effects.

To sum up the results, we conclude that digital nudges can have a positive as well as a negative impact on sustainable product choices. Moreover, certain interaction effects exist between different digital nudges and personality traits. In particular, defaults interact positively with openness, while warnings interact negatively with conscientiousness. Finally, these results are discussed in Chapter 4.2.5.

					Ta	ble 22.	Inter-c	onstruc	et corre	lation 1	matrix							
#	Construct	1	2	3	4	S	9	٢	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17
1	Sust. product choice	1.00																
2	Extraversion	0.00	1.00															
3	Agreeableness	0.11	0.16	1.00														
4	Conscientiousness	0.08	0.26	0.22	1.00													
5	Neuroticism	0.02	-0.24	-0.21	-0.13	1.00												
9	Openness	0.04	0.29	0.09	0.27	-0.13	1.00											
7	Intention	0.57	0.07	0.13	0.13	-0.02	0.13	1.00										
8	Attitude	0.37	0.14	0.11	0.10	0.00	0.12	0.51	1.00									
6	Trust	0.26	0.03	0.19	0.07	-0.03	0.11	0.36	0.44	1.00								
10	Norm	0.31	0.12	0.09	0.05	-0.02	0.08	0.46	0.37	0.32	1.00							
11	Knowledge	0.18	0.23	0.14	0.17	-0.07	0.28	0.39	0.23	0.14	0.23	1.00						
12	Policy agreement	0.15	0.17	0.12	0.07	0.07	0.14	0.26	0.28	0.14	0.24	0.11	1.00					
13	Gender	0.02	0.14	0.07	0.17	0.28	0.00	0.16	0.07	0.03	0.05	0.03	0.17	1.00				
14	Age	0.01	-0.08	-0.04	0.04	0.01	0.07	0.10	0.04	-0.03	-0.03	0.04	-0.06	0.04	1.00			
15	Education	-0.04	0.02	0.02	0.13	-0.05	0.06	0.08	0.00	0.06	0.07	0.18	0.00	0.05	0.30	1.00		
16	Income	-0.08	0.03	-0.09	0.05	-0.02	0.08	-0.10	-0.03	-0.12	-0.11	0.03	0.03	-0.04	0.06	0.09	1.00	
17	Internet usage	-0.05	-0.02	0.04	-0.11	0.03	0.02	-0.02	-0.06	-0.03	0.00	-0.04	0.01	0.00	0.01	-0.01	-0.03	1.00

#### 4.2.5 DISCUSSION

Sustainability is a key issue of our time and past research has shown that consumers often fail to behave as intended when facing a choice between sustainable and unsustainable products. Based on userinterface design elements, so-called digital nudges, this study aimed to nudge consumer choices in digital environments to ultimately increase the consumption of sustainable products under the consideration of personality traits. The results can be discussed in three ways:

Firstly, the results show diverging effects of the digital nudging treatments on sustainable product choices. Defaults were able to significantly increase the choice of sustainable products on average by more than one product or about 32%. This change is in line with other studies using defaults (e.g. Steffel et al. 2016; Theotokis and Manganari 2015). Apparently, switching away from a pre-selected choice puts a burden on consumers which has been shown before in several studies in an environmental context (e.g. Campbell-Arvai et al. 2014; Hedlin and Sunstein 2016; Theotokis and Manganari 2015). Interestingly, digital nudges using social norms can also lead to backfire effects and reduced the number of sustainable products chosen on average by more than 0.5 products or -16%. We hypothesize that participants might have interpreted the slogan "For your information, 70% of the previous participants purchased at least three sustainable products" in a way that many sustainable products have already been bought by other participants before. Therefore, their own contribution might not matter that much anymore which reduced the willingness to choose sustainable products. This effect can occur when the reference value is too high. Moreover, the slogan referenced "three sustainable products", which might have created an anchor. Indeed, most participants in this group (26%) have selected exactly three sustainable products. This anchor might have been too low compared with the control group as 50% of the participants in the control group have chosen more than 3 products. This effect can occur when the reference value is too low. Hence, the exact formulation of the social norm or reference value needs to be chosen carefully. Nevertheless, these results are in line with other social norms that produced contrary effects (e.g. Liu et al. 2016). We conclude that, when selecting a digital nudge, the choice architect (Thaler and Sunstein 2008) not only has to consider the target group, but also the ease of construction of the digital nudge. While defaults are easy to design, social norms require a priori knowledge about the expected consumer behavior to avoid backfire effects (Schultz et al. 2007). The warnings treatment had no effect although they were very effective in conventional settings (e.g. Cioffi et al. 2015; Thorndike et al. 2012). This finding shows that nudges from offline environments cannot be simply transferred to digital environments.

*Secondly*, we conclude that individual characteristics, particularly personality traits, can diminish or reinforce the effect of digital nudges. On an overall level, we found significant interactions of defaults and openness (positive interaction) as well as warnings and conscientiousness (negative interaction). Participants with an increasing degree of openness chose slightly more sustainable products in the

control group but many more sustainable products in the treatment (default) group. One reason for this finding might be that participants with high openness are in principle willing to try new things and to purchase sustainable products, but they need an extra push in the right direction which is provided by the digital nudge. On the contrary, participants with low openness are less willing to try something new in the first place, and they are therefore also hardly impacted by the digital nudge. The positive correlation of openness and sustainable product choices is in line with previous research (Luchs and Mooradian 2012). Opposite conclusions can be drawn for the negative interaction of warnings and conscientiousness. Thereby, the control group chose more sustainable products with increasing levels of conscientiousness which is also in line with previous research (Luchs and Mooradian 2012). Participants who had received a warning, chose more (less) sustainable products for low (high) levels of conscientiousness. We assume that participants with high conscientiousness focused on completing the shopping task efficiently and were less distracted or influenced by the warning. In contrast, participants with low conscientiousness are more disorganized, careless and less efficient and they were focusing more on the warning of not purchasing unsustainable products. This finding could be verified by a follow-up study using eye-tracking technology. Some interactions, that were hypothesized, could not be confirmed. We presumed for instance that the efficiency focus of individuals with high conscientiousness would lead to choosing the faster option (i.e. staying with the default). This did not seem to be true. In addition, defaults and social norms were independent of the degree of agreeableness of the participant. We can only speculate why this is the case, for instance because other predictors were more important. Given the low average and variance of neuroticism in our sample, no interaction effects were found for neuroticism.

*Thirdly*, the results remained fairly stable when various control variables were added. Particularly the constructs from the theory of planned behavior (Ajzen 1991) had a significant influence on the choice of sustainable products. These results are in line with previous studies in the realm of sustainable consumption (e.g. Teng and Wang 2015), but raise the question whether behavior or intentions were measured by the choices in this experiment. Moreover, we conclude that the direct effect of defaults as well as the interaction effect of warnings and conscientiousness remained significant even when various control variables were added. As a consequence, this constitutes an important and reliable basis for future studies in this area. Interestingly, the direct effect of warnings is strengthened by subjective norms while various interaction effects turn significant when including trust, consumption or purchase frequency. In addition, it is noteworthy that the results were heterogeneous for the respective product categories. While for some products the interaction effects are very pronounced, they are insignificant for the other products. Hence, we conclude that there are not only personality-dependent moderation effects but also product-dependent moderation effects. We assume that the risk or trust involved with the product category might make a difference as nudges are more effective when the decision is infrequent or complex (Thaler and Sunstein 2008). Yet, we were not able to test for such effects as all

sustainable products in our online shop were from the same product category of food items. Finally, we also presented the results from a mixed-effects logistic regression model which attenuate the results of social norms (marginally significant) and of the interaction effects (marginally significant, too).

#### 4.2.6 CONCLUSION

Increasing the choice of sustainable products benefits consumers, suppliers and the environment. Tools of choice architecture can help to reach those benefits, especially in digital environments. This study tested different digital nudging treatments and found that defaults (social norms) increase (decrease) the choice of sustainable products compared with the control group. Moreover, the effects are moderated by personality traits such that defaults interact positively with openness and warnings interact negatively with conscientiousness.

We contribute to existing IS research in several ways. Firstly, our study contributes empirically to the emerging field of digital nudging. It offers one of the first digital nudging studies that tests different digital nudges against each other. Thereby, it is a valuable finding that digital nudges can do both harm and good. Secondly, we show that these effects are reinforced or diminished dependent on the personality traits. As far as we know, this moderating effect has been proposed theoretically (e.g. Goldstein et al. 2008; Halpern 2016; Johnson et al. 2012), but, up to now, not verified empirically.

Practitioners of different professions can use our results. Designers of digital channels are now able to design individualized digital channels that match the personality of the consumer. As the personality can easily be determined, e.g. based on social media data (Markovikj et al. 2013; Youyou et al. 2015), providers of digital channels can increase the conversion rate with the respective digital nudges. Alternatively, individuals could deliberately make their personality traits available to receive certain benefits. This is similar to other personal data that is shared today in exchange for benefits or rewards. In addition, providers of online channels could pre-select sustainable products in line with legal and ethical standards (von Grafenstein et al. 2018). Policy makers can implement the findings in tailoring environmentally friendly policies, for example by rather using defaults than social norms to promote sustainable consumption. In practice, this could be achieved by requiring airlines and booking platforms for flights to charge consumers automatically a specific amount to offset their emissions whereas (Reisch and Sunstein 2016). This helps governments to reach environmental goals, or the international community to achieve the SDG #12 of the UN on responsible consumption and production (United Nations 2018).

Nevertheless, the proposed study has some limitations. For instance, we left out the question of pricing which limits the external validity of the findings. This has been done deliberately as student-dominated samples are known to be price sensitive which would have distorted the results. Moreover, including prices and incentives would imply that the participants bear the consequences of higher-priced

sustainable products without receiving the benefits (health, regional production, etc.) of them. In turn, most students are aware that sustainable products are more expensive and might have included this knowledge subconsciously in their decision. Another limitation is the use of the participant pool of the local university which is dominated by students. Therefore, the sample is not representative for the German Internet population. However, we describe in Chapter 4.2.4 why this does not limit the conclusions that can be drawn from the research. Finally, we used a narrow definition of sustainability focusing on organic products using the German bio label. Potentially, consumers are also influenced by other dimensions of sustainability such as fair trade, local production or carbon emissions.

Future research could experiment with different wordings of the social norm (similar to Demarque et al. 2015) to test whether the anchoring effect reoccurs. In addition, different nudges presented by Sunstein (2014) could be used, e.g. increasing ease and convenience, or using pre-commitment strategies. Further, combining the digital nudges with an eye-tracking elaboration might further enhance the treatment effects (compare Hummel, Toreini, et al. 2018), and verify whether participants with low conscientiousness were focusing more on the warning than participants with high conscientiousness. Moreover, the breadth of individual differences is endless so that other constructs can be tested for their interaction effects. Also, the question of product dependency leaves the issue whether nudges interact differently with individual characteristics when non-food items are concerned. Finally, it is promising to test whether the results can be replicated with a representative sample that has enough statistical power to further strengthen the interaction effects or to find new ones.
# 5 Discussion

This thesis concludes with a discussion of the results of all four studies. The overall discussion (Chapter 5.1) is followed by contributions to theory (Chapter 5.2) and to practice (Chapter 5.3) as well as the limitations (Chapter 5.4), an outlook on future research (Chapter 5.5) and some concluding remarks (Chapter 5.6).

## 5.1 Overall Discussion

We started from the notion that new retail channels have arisen from technological innovation. Despite new opportunities for consumers and providers, few consumers rely exclusively on digital channels (Sopadjieva et al. 2017). One reason for this resistance might be the lack of individualization of digital channels according to the individual consumer characteristics. Related IS research has shown that individualized UIs are able to positively influence various dependent variables, such as online contribution, online participation or technology usage (Nov, Arazy, López, et al. 2013; Nov, Arazy, Lotts, et al. 2013; Oulasvirta and Blom 2008). Consequently, this thesis studies how channel characteristics relate to individual characteristics. Furthermore, we analyze the potential impact on channel choices and sustainable product choices. Across four studies, the thesis (1) classifies the determinants of multi-channel behavior, (2) analyzes how individual characteristics antecede channel characteristics, (3) conceptualizes empirical nudging studies and determines their effectiveness, and (4) tests different digital nudges against each other to uncover interaction effects of digital nudges and personality traits.

The results of Study 1 show that channel choices are influenced by a large variety of determinants that can be clustered into four dimensions: channel, context, consumer and product. These clusters integrate well into existing research (Neslin et al. 2006; Trenz and Veit 2015). For example, Trenz and Veit (2015) categorize the determinants into similar groups (channel determinants, purchase specifics, external influences, and individual differences). However, previous studies have not provided a conceptualized framework (e.g. a taxonomy or morphological box) which allows for a consistent classification and comparison of the determinants of multi-channel behavior. In addition to this conceptualization, counting the frequency of occurrence of each characteristic unveils differences in the research coverage, especially between products and services. Subsequently, exemplary research questions for future research are derived from gaps in the research coverage of services. These research questions are:

- 1. How does a channel's capability for social interaction affect consumers' channel choice in the service industry?
- 2. How does channel and firm loyalty affect consumers' channel choice in the service industry?
- 3. How is channel choice moderated by different service categories of financial services?

Building on these findings, Study 2 examines the connections of two dimensions of the morphological box from Study 1. Based on an existing model (Kim et al. 2008), it detects that personality traits and gender roles are antecedents of perceived risk, trust and perceived benefits. While earlier studies examined the interplay between personality traits in online environments (e.g. Bansal et al. 2010; Turkyilmaz et al. 2015), personality traits and gender roles have never been found to antecede these constructs. Moreover, the original model of Kim et al. (2008) is replicated in an experimental context which is a valuable response to the replication crisis (Erdfelder 2018). The findings can be used among others for an individualization of digital channels.

It can be concluded from Study 1 and 2 that not only the characteristics of digital channels matter but also the individual consumer characteristics. Or to express it with the words of the (famous) personality psychologist Orval Hobart Mowrer: "To understand or predict what a rat will learn to do in a maze, one has to know both the rat and the maze" (Mowrer 1960, p. 10).

While the first two studies focus on descriptive knowledge and leave little scope to explore how providers could influence consumer behavior, the concepts of nudging and digital nudging (Thaler and Sunstein 2008; Weinmann et al. 2016) are used for Studies 3 and 4. Study 3 lays the foundation and illustrates the effect sizes of different nudges. The results are discussed along the dimensions of the morphological box of empirical nudging studies (Figure 13). It is particularly noteworthy that only 63% of all nudges resulted in a significant change of the dependent variable. We hypothesize that this might be explained in part by moderating effects. Study 3 already provides a first glance at the occurrence of such effects, e.g. the moderating effect of age in emotive warning messages (Esposito et al. 2017). Study 3 concludes with avenues for future research in digital nudging for the IS community.

The findings of Study 3 are picked up in the final study which shows empirically that digital nudges can have positive as well as negative (i.e. backfire) effects. Moreover, Study 4 supports the idea of interaction effects of digital nudges with personality traits, e.g. defaults interact positively with openness. Hence, we provide evidence that not only the (digital) nudge itself matters, but also the personality traits of the decision-makers. The findings can be linked with the IS research identity from the first chapter that the interplay between digital channels ("IT Artifact") and individual characteristics ("Individuals") matter (Sidorova et al. 2008).

As the nudging concept is not free of criticism (Goodwin 2012; Hansen and Jespersen 2013; Johnson et al. 2012; Selinger and Whyte 2011), a short ethical discussion of the concept is needed. Researchers argue that many nudges represent a manipulation of the choice (Hansen and Jespersen 2013) and they can be misused, for example by the private sector (Abdukadirov 2016). Although Study 4 of this thesis was dedicated to a benevolent purpose (sustainability), the results could also be used by regular private companies to increase sales and profits. Despite regulatory barriers, e.g. limited possibility to use defaults, this would not be in line with the definition of nudging which should be in the interest of the

decision-maker (Thaler and Sunstein 2008). Maybe this is why the concept is still under constant debate, despite its widespread success. Exemplarily for this debate, one of the authors of the book "Nudge: Improving Decisions About Health, Wealth, and Happiness", Richard Thaler, accepts that there is "Much Ado About Nudging" (Thaler 2017). In his paper, he responded directly to a paper by Loewenstein and Chater (2017) and acknowledges that nudging cannot solve all societal problems, and that policy makers should continue to use all the tools of social sciences (Thaler 2017). Moreover, his co-author, Cass Sunstein, also published a research paper on misconceptions about nudges and corrects six common misconceptions (Sunstein 2018). We also refer to a book on the ethics of influence for a further discussion (Sunstein 2016).

To summarize the overall discussion, channel characteristics interact with individual characteristics. Designers of digital channels can use these findings to individualize digital channels, to influence different outcome variables and to ultimately increase the use of digital channels.

## 5.2 Contributions to Theory

Overall, this thesis contributes in various ways to contemporary research in information systems and marketing. To classify the contributions, we rely on the taxonomy of theory types in Information Systems research (Gregor 2006, 2017), which defines five theory types: Analysis, Explanation, Predicting, Explaining and Predicting, and Design and Action. Table 23 below provides an overview of the theoretical contributions of each study.

Table 23. Theoretical contributions according to theory type					
Study	Theory type	Main contribution			
1	Analysis	• Conceptualization of determinants of multi-channel behavior along the			
		dimensions of channel, context, consumer and product			
		• Quantitative comparison of research coverage in products and services			
		• Formulation of research gaps for future research			
2	Explaining	• Personality traits and gender roles are antecedents of perceived risk,			
	and	trust and perceived benefits, e.g. agreeableness is positively related to			
	Predicting	trust while neuroticism is negatively related to perceived benefits			
		• Replication of existing decision-making model (Kim et al. 2008)			
3	Analysis;	Morphological box on nudging with eight dimensions			
	Explanation	• Nudges have a median effect size of 21% which is influenced, among			
		others, by the category and the context of the nudge			
		Possible moderation effects of individual characteristics			
		• Avenues for future research in digital nudging for the IS community			

4	Explaining	•	Defaults significantly increase sustainable product choices while social		
	and		norms significantly decrease sustainable product choices		
	Predicting	•	Effects of digital nudges are moderated by personality traits, e.g.		
			defaults interact positively with openness		
<i>Note</i> : Study 1 and Study 2 are summarized under the umbrella term of <i>individualized channel choices</i>					
(Chapter 3) while Study 3 and Study 4 are integrated in <i>nudging consumer choices</i> (Chapter 4)					

In the realm of *individualized channel choices* (Study 1 and 2), this thesis makes a contribution to an Analysis theory type (Study 1) and an Explaining and Predicting theory type (Study 2).

Study 1 provides a comprehensive conceptualization of determinants of multi-channel behavior by means of a morphological box. Thereby, it illustrates conceptually, which characteristics of the morphological box influence which channel choices. In addition, it highlights under-researched areas and provides avenues for future research in the services industry. It corresponds to an Analysis theory type as it "says what is" and provides no causal relationship but employs a type of classification, schema, framework or taxonomy (Gregor 2006).

Although other researchers have listed determinants of multi-channel behavior before (Neslin et al. 2006; Trenz 2015; Trenz and Veit 2015), they have not integrated them into a comprehensive framework. Only such a framework, as was presented in the morphological box in Chapter 3.1, allows for a consistent classification and comparison of the determinants of multi-channel behavior. Finally, the counting analysis and the resulting avenues for future research are a contribution of their own. To support this statement, research question 3 in Chapter 3.1.5 (how channel choice is moderated by different product categories of financial services. e.g. savings and investments) was subsequently answered in a separate publication by Hummel et al. (2017b).

Study 2 contributes to existing research by an Explaining and Predicting theory type which is characterized by testable propositions, causal explanations and is the most common type in information systems (Gregor 2006). First, it extends the theoretical model of Kim et al. (2008) and shows how personality traits, gender roles and channel characteristics are connected. These connections are based on testable propositions, and they predict how individuals with different personality traits and gender roles will behave in digital channels. In particular, it highlights that in the digital era it does not suffice to design channels in an isolated manner. Instead, the interaction effects with the individual consumer characteristics have to be always considered. In addition, the original model (Kim et al. 2008) was replicated which counters the claim of a replication crisis (Erdfelder 2018). Thereby, it provides testable propositions and causal explanations (Gregor 2006).

Where *nudging consumer choices* (Study 3 and 4) is concerned, this thesis makes a contribution to an Analysis as well as an Explanation theory type (Study 3) and an Explaining and Predicting theory type (Study 4).

Study 3 provides a contribution to the literature of behavioral economics and information systems. The knowledge of behavioral economics is advanced as most research has highlighted the effectiveness of nudging (Benartzi et al. 2017; Sunstein 2018; Thaler and Sunstein 2008) and its superiority to traditional interventions, such as financial incentives, or educational programs (Benartzi et al. 2017). Only selectively, researchers focused on the ineffectiveness of nudging (Sunstein 2017). Study 3 provides an empirical base for these opposing positions by showing that only 63% of the nudges included in the quantitative literature review resulted in a statistically significant outcome. These statistically significant outcomes are also related to the nudge category. For example, defaults are more effective than other nudges such as precommitment strategies or reminders. The results are in line with previous studies that have shown a higher effectiveness of defaults (e.g. Campbell-Arvai et al. 2014; Momsen and Stoerk 2014). These contributions are considered to be of an Explanation theory type as they say what is and provide causal relationships and explanations.

Study 3 also contributes to an Analysis theory type by providing a conceptualization of empirical nudging studies by means of a morphological box with eight dimensions. A morphological box is valuable as it provides an overarching framework for researchers to systematically classify and compare empirical nudging studies. Consequently, it facilitates the identification of contradictory findings as well as potential research gaps. To the best of our knowledge, such an overarching classification mechanism does not exist yet for scientific research studies using the concept of (digital) nudging.

Further, Study 3 contributes to the IS literature, especially to the concept of digital nudging. Firstly, it highlights definition problems of digital nudging. While the definition of Weinmann et al. (2016) only covers user-interface design elements, a digital setting is broader and not limited to mere manipulations of the UI. Secondly, Study 3 empirically compares the effect sizes of nudges in a conventional and a digital setting and concludes that there does not exist any statistical difference in the effect sizes across the two settings. Thirdly, the study provides avenues for future research in the IS community that can be used to develop new or channel existing research projects. These contributions on digital nudging are of an Analysis theory type, too.

Finally, Study 4 contributes to existing research by enhancing the understanding of moderating effects of digital nudges (Explaining and Predicting theory type). It confirms the findings from Study 3 that nudges can have positive as well as negative (i.e. backfire) effects. Thereby, it shows that nudges from offline environments cannot be simply transferred to digital environments. In particular, social norms have to be designed with great care to balance the anchoring effect with the high reference value effect (see Chapter 4.2.5). Further, it claims that the effect of digital nudges does not only depend on the choice

architecture, but also on the individual characteristics of the decision-maker, especially on personality traits. This finding is new as researchers have only started to assess moderating effects in digital nudging, and they have not analyzed personality traits in this sense before. Similar to Study 2, the findings are based on testable propositions and predict how individuals with different personality traits respond to different digital nudges.

Overall, this thesis contributes to the research streams of marketing, information systems and behavioral economics which are also depicted at the beginning of Chapter 2.

### 5.3 Contributions to Practice

An active transfer to practice is an important goal of IS research (Te'eni et al. 2017). Hence, we derive three core contributions for practitioners, especially marketing managers, designers of digital channels as well as policy makers.

#### Practical contributions for marketing managers

In Study 1, practitioners can use the morphological box as a guideline to evaluate their channels and to analyze whether they match with their consumer base. Firstly, they have to assess which channels they are offering and how these channels are positioned within the firm. Secondly, they should segment their consumers along individual characteristics, such as demographics, psychographics and experience (see dimension "consumer" in the morphological box). This can be done, for instance, by defining target consumers or segments. Thirdly, they can analyze if their channels match the expected consumer segments. If not, marketing managers can actively steer consumer behavior by implementing measures which represent characteristics of the channel attributes. For example, the firm could offer the possibility to order online but to pick-up the order in a certain store, hence extending the breadth of the online product assortment to physical stores. Moreover, other measures could be taken to promote the channel advantages and to reduce the channel disadvantages (e.g. refund money of fraudulent transactions) for certain consumer segments. Finally, practitioners can use the morphological box to review their product portfolio and test it for stage-channel and product-channel associations (Gensler et al. 2012; Verhoef et al. 2007).

#### Practical contributions for designers of digital channels

In Study 2 and 4, practitioners can use the findings from this work to individualize their digital channels according to the individual user or consumer characteristics. To do so, designers of digital channels can use today's technological advancements of deriving personality traits based on social media data (Bachrach et al. 2012; Markovikj et al. 2013). Then, upon identifying their consumers, they adapt their channels by adding certain channel characteristics (Study 2) or digital nudges (Study 4). For example,

the benefits of digital channels, e.g. broad product spectrum or convenience, should be highlighted particularly to introverted consumers or consumers with low neuroticism. In addition, consumers with feminine traits could be reached with risk-reducing messages, privacy and security seals (e.g. Bansal et al. 2015) or other IS artefacts (Lowry et al. 2017). Alternatively, participants with high masculinity have trust in digital channels and they are inclined towards appreciating the benefits of it. This can be exploited in similar ways as for introverted consumers or consumers with low neuroticism, or by adding trust elements to digital channels. To gather the data, providers either ask for the users' permission, or they use publicly available social media data. Although asking for permission might seem unrealistic at first glance, consumers could receive monetary benefits, or be convinced with the promise to close their attitude-behavior gap, in return for their personal data.

#### Practical contributions for policy makers

Moreover, Study 3 and 4 help policy makers improve policy making in various fields. For example, if policy makers are active in the energy sector, they can draw on the finding that defaults (e.g. Dinner et al. 2011) are much more effective than social norms or disclosures (Allcott 2011; Momsen and Stoerk 2014). However, disclosures are more common in research and easier to implement in cooperation with energy providers. Moreover, several energy providers in Germany are already providing basic systems of energy feedback. With respect to environmentally friendly policies, practitioners can implement the findings, too. We recommend being cautious with the exact wording of social norms when promoting sustainable product choices. Thus, similarly to Halpern (2016), we suggest to pre-test the wording with a small representative sample. These suggestions are in line with the propositions of other researchers (Datta and Mullainathan 2014; Ly et al. 2013).

Finally, we recommend that policy makers can use the spreadsheet with the coded studies as a guiding database when developing new policies. However, we are aware that it is often difficult for practitioners to choose the correct intervention for their purpose. Therefore, we propose a "digital nudging generator" which is based on a recommender system. It could use existing classifications of choice architecture (Johnson et al. 2012; Münscher et al. 2016; Sunstein 2014) and could suggest an appropriate nudge based on a set of criteria (see future research below).

### 5.4 Limitations

Although all four studies of this thesis were conducted with rigor and relevance (Lee 1999), they have several limitations. Study 1 and Study 3 were primarily coded by only one researcher. Although sections with unclear interpretation were discussed with other knowledgeable researchers, the coding might be biased. This limitation applies more to Study 1 than to Study 3, as the latter mainly extracted effect sizes

which are less ambiguous than determinants of multi-channel behavior. Hence, no intercoder reliability could be calculated and other researchers could reach slightly different results.

Moreover, the samples of both empirical studies were dominated by students of the local technical and pedagogical universities. As a consequence, they are not representative for the overall Internet population of Germany (Statista 2018) and the generalizability of the results is limited. This was intended for Study 2 because this study had the aim to replicate and extend the structural model of Kim et al. (2008) which also used a student dominated sample with a similar distribution of age and gender. In Study 4, this limitation is weakened by the fact that students represent the generation which has a high affinity towards online shopping environments, and which is aware of the importance of sustainability (Campbell-Arvai et al. 2014). Moreover, the demographics in Study 4 are akin to previous studies (compare Demarque et al. 2015; Theotokis and Manganari 2015) which employed a similar setting, too.

In addition, Study 3 had the limitation of using the rather strict exclusion criteria of whether the authors of the primary studies labelled their approach a "nudge" or whether they quoted or referred to the original work of Thaler and Sunstein (2008). This ensured the comparability of the selected studies but possibly led to the exclusion of studies that are similar to nudging, and could have been included, too. To account for this potential limitation, we additionally coded and analyzed a randomly selected sample of 20 nudge-like studies. We compared them with the results of Study 3 and could not find major differences in terms of means and variances of the effect sizes (full results not disclosed).

Finally, the monetary payoffs of both empirical studies (Study 2 and Study 4) were not based on performance. Hence, it is debatable whether we measured actual behavior or only intentions. This was done deliberately as a student dominated sample is highly price sensitive and any incentive would have distorted the results. Moreover, the empirical studies did not have the aim to measure rational choices, as it is done in many studies of economics, but rather dependent variables such as channel choice or sustainable product choice. Therefore, we argue that it was not suitable to link the monetary payoff with a hypothetical "optimal" decision.

## 5.5 Future Research

The four studies provide ample suggestions for future research. While the determinants of multi-channel behavior are well understood by now, other questions remain unsolved. For example, it is still unclear whether the relationship of personality traits, gender roles and channel characteristics can be compensated by decision support systems. A design science research project might be suitable to study to what extent predispositions (e.g. high degree of neuroticism) can be balanced with security features

or guidance design features (Arnott 2006; Morana et al. 2017). Thereby, behavioral science and design science can be regarded as complementary paradigms (Wimmer and Yoon 2017).

Moreover, we presumed that an individualized UI increases various outcome variables (such as digital channel choice or usage). However, whether such presumed effects are actually occurring still has to be tested empirically with an adaptive UI. Such testing could assess the individual characteristics and preferences of the consumers in the first place, and then match them in near-time with respective UI design elements, such as risk-reducing messages or privacy and security seals (Bansal et al. 2015; Mousavizadeh et al. 2016).

Study 3 highlights avenues for future research in digital nudging for the IS community. For instance, we present how digital nudges can be combined with NeuroIS or eye-tracking technologies. Hummel, Toreini, et al. (2018) provide an experimental design on this matter that is ready for execution. Moreover, such an experimental setting could also solve the question of Study 4 whether participants with low conscientiousness were focusing more on the warning than participants with high conscientiousness.

In addition, Study 4 and another study not part of this thesis (Hummel et al. 2017b), raise the issue of product dependencies in channel choices. Hence, a follow-up study using digital nudges and personality traits could verify whether nudges interact differently with individual characteristics concerning non-food items (i.e. whether there exists and additional layer of moderation effects).

Further, it would be beneficial to test whether the results of Study 2 and 4 can be replicated with representative samples of the German Internet population, in a real-world setting instead of a laboratory, or with a higher number of participants to ensure the required statistical power and to confirm the identified interaction effects.

Finally, based on the need to match appropriate digital nudges with the requirements of policy makers or designers of digital channels, the IS community could develop a "digital nudging generator". Using existing classifications for nudging as a starting point (Johnson et al. 2012; Münscher et al. 2016; Sunstein 2014), a decision tree could be developed for defining a guideline for using digital nudges. Based on a set of criteria (e.g. What is the context? What is the dependent variable? Who is the target audience, etc.), it would be possible to develop a recommender system which outputs a suitable digital nudge for practitioners. Ideally, this recommender system would be implemented through a web-based application for the general public as part of a design science research project combining behavioral science and design science (Wimmer and Yoon 2017).

## 5.6 Concluding Remarks

Current retail channels are going through a major transformation. While traditional channels were complemented with digital channels with the rise of the Internet, most retailers nowadays follow an omni-channel strategy (Bianchi et al. 2016; Cook 2014; Saghiri et al. 2017; Verhoef et al. 2015). These developments, with all their good intentions and outcomes, always have to be balanced with the privacy rights and concerns of users and consumers. Particularly with an ever-increasing amount of data and the associated prevalence of artificial intelligence, the individualization of digital channels can be pushed towards unimaginable accuracy. Especially when nudging consumers, this individualization has to be transparent and in line with legal and ethical standards (von Grafenstein et al. 2018).

Along with the individualization of digital channels, also the accuracy of identifying consumers will increase massively through further technological innovations. In turn, this raises issues of data privacy and fully transparent citizens. It is not surprising that the EU has introduced a new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) to address such fears. Moreover, the results were presented to a major German bank which was reluctant to implement an individualization of digital channels based on personality traits. They feared that consumers would close their accounts for reasons of data privacy. Hence, such fears, although mainly left out by this thesis, always have to be balanced against the benefits of an increased individualization of digital channels.

The author of this thesis is well aware that retail channels will continue to evolve and that this thesis leaves many questions unsolved. Therefore, the field of individualized choices and digital nudging in digital channels continues to offer avenues for future research in the disciplines of information systems and marketing.

# 6 References

- Abdukadirov, S. (Ed.). 2016. Nudge Theory in Action: Behavioral Design in Policy and Markets, Palgrave Macmillan.
- Abrahamse, W., Steg, L., Vlek, C., and Rothengatter, T. 2005. "A review of intervention studies aimed at household energy conservation," *Journal of Environmental Psychology* (25), pp. 273–291 (doi: 10.1016/j.jenvp.2005.08.002).
- Adam, A., and Jensen, J. D. 2016. "What is the effectiveness of obesity related interventions at retail grocery stores and supermarkets? A systematic review," *BMC Public Health* (16:1), p. 1247 (doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3985-x).
- Agarwal, S., Rengarajan, S., Sing, T. F., and Yang, Y. 2017. "Nudges from school children and electricity conservation: Evidence from the 'Project Carbon Zero' campaign in Singapore," *Energy Economics* (61), pp. 29–41 (doi: 10.1016/j.eneco.2016.10.014).
- Aguirre-Urreta, M. I., and Marakas, G. M. 2010. "Is It Really Gender? An Empirical Investigation Into Gender Effects In Technology Adoption Through The Examination of Individual Differences," *Human Technology* (6:2), pp. 155–190 (doi: 10.17011/ht/urn.201011173090).
- Ajzen, I. 1991. "The theory of planned behavior," Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes (50), pp. 179–211 (doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T).
- Ajzen, I. 2001. "Nature and Operation of Attitudes," *Annual Review of Psychology* (52:1), pp. 27–58 (doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.27).
- Al-Majali, F., and Prigmore, M. 2010. "Consumers channel choice behavior in multi-channel environments: What are the influences on consumers to choose the online distribution channels over other alternative offline channels," in *Proceedings of Computing and Engineering Annual Researchers' Conference 2010: CEARC'10*, University of Huddersfield, pp. 98–104.
- Albesa, J. G. 2007. "Interaction channel choice in a multichannel environment, an empirical study," *International Journal of Bank Marketing* (25:7), pp. 490–506 (doi: 10.1108/02652320710832630).
- Aldrovandi, S., Brown, G. D. A., and Wood, A. M. 2015. "Social Norms and Rank-Based Nudging: Changing Willingness to Pay for Healthy Food," *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied* (21), pp. 242–254.
- Alemanno, A., and Spina, A. 2014. "Nudging legally: On the checks and balances of behavioral regulation," *International Journal of Constitutional Law* (12:2), pp. 429–456 (doi: 10.1093/icon/mou033).
- Allcott, H. 2011. "Social Norms and Energy Conservation," *Journal of Public Economics* (95:9–10), pp. 1082–1095 (doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.03.003).
- Allport, G. W. 1961. Pattern and growth in personality, New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Almuhimedi, H., Schaub, F., Sadeh, N., Adjerid, I., Acquisti, A., Gluck, J., Cranor, L., and Agarwal, Y. 2015. "Your Location has been Shared 5,398 Times! A Field Study on Mobile App Privacy Nudging," in *Proceedings of the 2015 ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pp. 787–796 (doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702210).
- Alós-Ferrer, C., Hügelschäfer, S., and Li, J. 2016. "Inertia and Decision Making," *Frontiers in Psychology* (7:169), pp. 1–9 (doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00169).

- Altmann, S., and Traxler, C. 2014. "Nudges at the dentist," *European Economic Review* (72), pp. 19–38 (doi: 10.1016/j.euroecorev.2014.07.007).
- American Marketing Association. 2018. "Definition Consumer Behavior," *AMA Dictionary* (available at https://www.ama.org/resources/Pages/Dictionary.aspx?dLetter=C#consumer+behavior; retrieved September 9, 2018).
- Anderson, J. C., and Gerbing, D. W. 1988. "Structural Equation Modeling in Practice: A Review and Recommended Two-Step Approach," *Psychological Bulletin* (103:3), pp. 411–423 (doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411).
- Ansari, A., Mela, C. F., and Neslin, S. A. 2008. "Customer Channel Migration," *Journal of Marketing Research* (45:1), pp. 60–76 (doi: 10.1509/jmkr.45.1.60).
- Apesteguia, J., Funk, P., and Iriberri, N. 2013. "Promoting rule compliance in daily-life: Evidence from a randomized field experiment in the public libraries of Barcelona," *European Economic Review* (64), pp. 266–284 (doi: 10.1016/j.euroecorev.2013.08.010).
- Arno, A., and Thomas, S. 2016. "The efficacy of nudge theory strategies in influencing adult dietary behaviour: A systematic review and meta-analysis," *BMC Public Health* (16:1), p. 676 (doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3272-x).
- Arnott, D. 2006. "Cognitive biases and decision support systems development: A design science approach," *Information Systems Journal* (16:1), pp. 55–78.
- Avalaunch Media. 2009. "Timeline of Marketing Channels," *Infographics* (available at https://avalaunchmedia.com/timeline-of-marketing-channels-graphic-2/; retrieved January 1, 2018).
- Ayres, I., Raseman, S., and Shih, A. 2013. "Evidence from Two Large Field Experiments that Peer Comparison Feedback Can Reduce Residential Energy Usage," *Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization* (29:5), pp. 992–1022 (doi: 10.2139/ssrn.1434950).
- Bachrach, Y., Kosinski, M., Graepel, T., Kohli, P., and Stillwell, D. 2012. "Personality and Patterns of Facebook Usage," *Proceedings of the 4th Annual ACM Web Science Conference*, pp. 24–32 (doi: 10.1145/2380718.2380722).
- Baek, Y. M., Bae, Y., Jeong, I., Kim, E., and Rhee, J. W. 2014. "Changing the default setting for information privacy protection: What and whose personal information can be better protected?," *Social Science Journal* (51:4), pp. 523–533 (doi: 10.1016/j.soscij.2014.07.002).
- Balasubramanian, S., Raghunathan, R., and Mahajan, V. 2005. "Consumers in a multichannel environment: Product utility, process utility, and channel choice," *Journal of Interactive Marketing* (19:2), pp. 12–30 (doi: 10.1002/dir.20032).
- Bansal, G., Zahedi, F. M., and Gefen, D. 2010. "The impact of personal dispositions on information sensitivity, privacy concern and trust in disclosing health information online," *Decision Support Systems* (49:2), pp. 138–150 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2010.01.010).
- Bansal, G., Zahedi, F. M., and Gefen, D. 2015. "The role of privacy assurance mechanisms in building trust and the moderating role of privacy concern," *European Journal of Information Systems* (24:6), pp. 624–644 (doi: 10.1057/ejis.2014.41).
- Barnett, T., Pearson, A. W., Pearson, R., and Kellermanns, F. W. 2015. "Five-factor model personality traits as predictors of perceived and actual usage of technology," *European Journal of Information Systems* (24:4), pp. 374–390 (doi: 10.1057/ejis.2014.10).

- Bartke, S., Friedl, A., Gelhaar, F., and Reh, L. 2017. "Social comparison nudges? Guessing the norm increases charitable giving," *Economics Letters* (152), pp. 73–75 (doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2016.12.023).
- Bearden, W. O., Nirshleifer, R. G., and Mobely, M. F. 1993. *Handbook of Marketing Scales: Multi-Item Measures for Marketing and Consumer Behavior Research*, Sage Publications, Newbury Park.
- Behavioral Insights Team. 2016. "The Behavioural Insights Team Update Report 2015-2016," (available at http://www.behaviouralinsights.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/BIT-Update-Report-2015-16.pdf).
- Bellman, S., Lohse, G. L., and Johnson, E. J. 1999. "Predictors of online buying behavior," *Communications of the ACM* (42:12), pp. 32–38 (doi: 10.1145/322796.322805).
- Bem, S. L. 1974. "The Measurement of Psychological Androgyny," *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* (42:2), pp. 155–162.
- Bem, S. L. 1981. "Gender Schema Theory: A Cognitive Account of Sex Typing," *Psychological Review* (88:4), pp. 354–364.
- Benartzi, S., Beshears, J., Milkman, K. L., Sunstein, C. R., Thaler, R. H., Shankar, M., Tucker-Ray, W., Congdon, W. J., and Galing, S. 2017. "Should Governments Invest More in Nudging?," *Psychological Science* (28:8), pp. 1041–1055 (doi: 10.1177/0956797617702501).
- Bettinger, E., and Baker, R. 2011. "The Effects of Student Coaching in College: An Evaluation of a Randomized Experiment in Student Mentoring," *National Bureau of Economic Research* (Working Pa), pp. 1–34.
- Bianchi, R., Cermak, M., and Dusek, O. 2016. "More than Digital Plus Traditional: A Truly Omnichannel Customer Experience," *McKinsey Quarterly* (available at http://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/operations/our-insights/more-than-digital-plustraditional-a-truly-omnichannel-customer).
- Bickle, M. C., Buccine, R., Makela, C. J., and Mallette, D. 2006. "Consumers' uniqueness in home décor: Retail channel choice behaviour," *The International Review of Retail, Distribution and Consumer Research* (16:3), pp. 317–331 (doi: 10.1080/09593960600697030).
- Bilgicer, T., Jedidi, K., Lehmann, D. R., and Neslin, S. a. 2015. "The Long-Term Effect of Multichannel Usage on Sales," *Customer Needs and Solutions* (2:1), pp. 41–56 (doi: 10.1007/s40547-014-0031y).
- Black, N. J., Lockett, A., Ennew, C., Winklhofer, H., and McKechnie, S. 2002. "Modelling consumer choice of distribution channels: An illustration from financial services," *International Journal of Bank Marketing* (20:4), pp. 161–173 (doi: 10.1108/02652320210432945).
- Bond, R. M., Fariss, C. J., Jones, J. J., Kramer, A. D. I., Marlow, C., Settle, J. E., and Fowler, J. H. 2012.
  "A 61-million-person experiment in social influence and political mobilization," *Nature* (489:7415), pp. 295–298 (doi: 10.1038/nature11421.A).
- Bosnjak, M., Galesic, M., and Tuten, T. 2007. "Personality determinants of online shopping: Explaining online purchase intentions using a hierarchical approach," *Journal of Business Research* (60:6), pp. 597–605 (doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.06.008).
- vom Brocke, J., Simons, A., Niehaves, B., Riemer, K., Plattfaut, R., and Cleven, A. 2009. "Reconstructing the Giant: On the Importance of Rigour in Documenting the Literature Search Process," *Proceedings of the 17th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*, pp.

2206-2217 (doi: 10.1108/09600031211269721).

- Bronchetti, E. T., Dee, T. S., Huffman, D. B., and Magenheim, E. 2013. "When a nudge isn't enough: Defaults and saving among low-income tax filers," *National Tax Journal* (66:3), pp. 609–634 (doi: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004).
- Brune, L., Giné, X., Goldberg, J., and Yang, D. 2017. "Savings defaults and payment delays for cash transfers: Field experimental evidence from Malawi," *Journal of Development Economics* (129), pp. 1–13 (doi: 10.1016/j.jdeveco.2017.06.001).
- Brynjolfsson, E., Hu, Y. J., and Rahman, M. S. 2013. "Competing in the Age of Omnichannel Retailing," *MIT* Sloan Management Review (54:4), pp. 23–29 (doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/17506200710779521).
- Bucher, T., Collins, C., Rollo, M. E., McCaffrey, T. A., De Vlieger, N., Van Der Bend, D., Truby, H., and Perez-Cueto, F. J. A. 2016. "Nudging consumers towards healthier choices: A systematic review of positional influences on food choice," *British Journal of Nutrition* (115:12), pp. 2252– 2263 (doi: 10.1017/S0007114516001653).
- Bull, J. 2012. "Loads of green washing—can behavioural economics increase willingness-to-pay for efficient washing machines in the UK?," *Energy Policy* (50), pp. 242–252 (doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2012.07.001).
- Burke, R. R. 2002. "Technology and the Customer Interface: What Consumers Want in the Physical and Virtual Store," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* (30:4), pp. 411–432 (doi: 10.1177/009207002236914).
- Cadario, R., and Chandon, P. 2018. "Which Healthy Eating Nudges Work Best? A Meta-Analysis of Field Experiments," *Marketing Science (forthcoming)* (September), pp. 1–54.
- Calzolari, G., and Nardotto, M. 2016. "Effective Reminders," *Management Science* (Articles i), pp. 1–18 (doi: 10.1287/mnsc.1050.0383).
- Cambra-Fierro, J., Kamakura, W. A., Melero-Polo, I., and Sese, F. J. 2016. "Are multichannel customers really more valuable? An analysis of banking services," *International Journal of Research in Marketing* (33:1), pp. 208–212 (doi: 10.1016/j.ijresmar.2015.12.007).
- Camerer, C., and Loewenstein, G. 2004. "Behavioral Economics: Past, Present, Future," in Advances in Behavioral EconomicsC. Camerer, G. Loewenstein, and M. Rabin (eds.), New York, New York, USA: Russell Sage Foundation, pp. 3–51 (doi: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004).
- Campbell-Arvai, V., Arvai, J., and Kalof, L. 2014. "Motivating Sustainable Food Choices," *Environment and Behavior* (46:4), pp. 453–475 (doi: 10.1177/0013916512469099).
- Castleman, B. L., and Page, L. C. 2015. "Summer nudging: Can personalized text messages and peer mentor outreach increase college going among low-income high school graduates?," *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* (115), pp. 144–160 (doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2014.12.008).
- Chang, H. S., Huh, C., and Lee, M. J. 2016. "Would an Energy Conservation Nudge in Hotels Encourage Hotel Guests to Conserve?," *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly* (57:2), pp. 172–183 (doi: 10.1177/1938965515588132).
- Chapman, G. B., Li, M., Colby, H., and Yoon, H. 2010. "Opting in vs opting out of influenza vaccination," *Journal of the American Medical Association* (304:1), pp. 43–44 (doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.892).
- Chau, P. Y. 2002. "For the Special Issue on 'Personal Aspects of E-Business," European Journal of

Information Systems, pp. 179-180 (doi: 10.1057/palgrave.ejis.3000433).

- Chin, W. W. 1998. "Issues and Opinion on Structural Equation Modeling," *MIS Quarterly* (22:1), pp. vii–xvi.
- Chiu, H. C., Hsieh, Y. C., Roan, J., Tseng, K. J., and Hsieh, J. K. 2011. "The challenge for multichannel services: Cross-channel free-riding behavior," *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications* (10:2), pp. 268–277 (doi: 10.1016/j.elerap.2010.07.002).
- Choi, J., and Park, J. 2006. "Multichannel retailing in Korea: Effects of shopping orientations and information seeking patterns on channel choice behavior," *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management* (34:8), pp. 577–596 (doi: 10.1108/09590550610675912).
- Chopra, S. 2016. "How omni-channel can be the future of retailing," *Decision* (43:2), pp. 135–144 (doi: 10.1007/s40622-015-0118-9).
- Chou, S.-Y., Shen, G. C., Chiu, H., and Chou, Y. 2016. "Multichannel service providers' strategy: Understanding customers' switching and free-riding behavior," *Journal of Business Research* (69:6), pp. 2226–2232 (doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.12.034).
- Chu, K., Winter, C., Hebbeln, D., and Schulz, M. 2013. "Improvement of morphodynamic modeling of tidal channel migration by nudging," *Coastal Engineering* (77), pp. 1–13 (doi: 10.1016/j.coastaleng.2013.02.004).
- Cialdini, R. B. 2003. "Crafting Normative Messages to Protect the Environment," *Current Directions in Psychological Science* (12:4), pp. 105–109.
- Cialdini, R. B., and Trost, M. R. 1998. "Social influence: Social norms, conformity and compliance," in *The Handbook of Social Psychology, Vol. 2*, pp. 151–192 (doi: 10.2307/2654253).
- Cioffi, C. E., Levitsky, D. A., Pacanowski, C. R., and Bertz, F. 2015. "A nudge in a healthy direction. The effect of nutrition labels on food purchasing behaviors in university dining facilities," *Appetite* (92), pp. 7–14 (doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2015.04.053).
- Codish, D., and Ravid, G. 2014. "Personality Based Gamification: How Different Personalities Perceive Gamification," in *Proceedings of the 22nd European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*, Tel Aviv, Israel, pp. 1–11.
- Cohen, J. 1988. *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences* (2nd ed.), Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Cohen, J. F. W., Richardson, S. A., Cluggish, S. A., Parker, E., Catalano, P. J., and Rimm, E. B. 2015. "Effects of choice architecture and chef-enhanced meals on the selection and consumption of healthier school foods a randomized clinical trial," *JAMA Pediatrics* (169:5), pp. 431–437 (doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.3805).
- Cohen, J., Rothschild, C., Golub, G., Omondi, G. N., Kruk, M. E., and Mcconnell, M. 2017. "Measuring The Impact Of Cash Transfers And Behavioral 'Nudges' On Maternity Care In Nairobi, Kenya," *Health Affairs* (36:11), pp. 1956–1964.
- Cook, G. 2014. "Customer experience in the omni-channel world and the challenges and opportunities this presents," *Journal of Direct, Data and Digital Marketing Practice* (15:4), pp. 262–266 (doi: 10.1057/dddmp.2014.16).
- Cortinas, M., Chocarro, R., and Villanueva, M. L. 2010. "Understanding multi-channel banking customers," *Journal of Business Research* (63:11), pp. 1215–1221 (doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2009.10.020).

- Costa, D. L., and Kahn, M. E. 2011. "Energy Conservation 'Nudges' and Environmentalist Ideology: Evidence from a Randomized Residential Electricity Field Experiment," *Journal of the European Economic Association* (11:3), pp. 680–702.
- Costa, P. T., Terracciano, A., and McCrae, R. R. 2001. "Gender Differences in Personality Traits Across Cultures: Robust and Surprising Findings," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* (81:2), pp. 322–331.
- Cravener, T. L., Schlechter, H., Loeb, K. L., Radnitz, C., Schwartz, M., Zucker, N., Finkelstein, S., Wang, Y. C., Rolls, B. J., and Keller, K. L. 2015. "Feeding Strategies Derived from Behavioral Economics and Psychology Can Increase Vegetable Intake in Children as Part of a Home-Based Intervention: Results of a Pilot Study," *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics* (115:11), pp. 1798–1807 (doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2015.03.024).
- Cyan, M. R., Koumpias, A. M., and Martinez-Vazquez, J. 2017. "The effects of mass media campaigns on individual attitudes towards tax compliance; quasi-experimental evidence from survey data in Pakistan," *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics* (70), pp. 10–22 (doi: 10.1016/j.socec.2017.07.004).
- Cyr, D., Gefen, D., and Walczuch, R. 2017. "Exploring the relative impact of biological sex and masculinity-femininity values on information technology use," *Behavioral Science & Policy* (36:2), pp. 178–193 (doi: 10.1080/0144929X.2016.1212091).
- Czap, N., Czap, H. J., Lynne, G. D., and Burbach, M. E. 2012. "Inducing Empathy or Imposing a Fine? Finding Solutions to the Downstream Water Pollution Problem," *Cornhusker Economics*.
- Czap, N. V, Czap, H. J., Lynne, G. D., and Burbach, M. E. 2015. "Walk in my shoes: Nudging for empathy conservation," *Ecological Economics* (118), pp. 147–158 (doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2015.07.010).
- D'Adda, G., Capraro, V., and Tavoni, M. 2017. "Push, don't nudge: Behavioral spillovers and policy instruments," *Economics Letters* (154), pp. 92–95 (doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2017.02.029).
- Damgaard, M. T., and Gravert, C. 2016. "The hidden costs of nudging: Experimental evidence from reminders in fundraising," *Journal of Public Economics* (157), pp. 15–26 (doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2017.11.005).
- Datta, S., and Mullainathan, S. 2014. "Behavioral design: A new approach to development policy," *Review of Income and Wealth* (60:1), pp. 7–35 (doi: 10.1111/roiw.12093).
- Dayan, E., and Bar-Hillel, M. 2011. "Nudge to nobesity II: Menu positions influence food orders," *Judgment and Decision Making* (6:4), pp. 333–342.
- Demarque, C., Charalambides, L., Hilton, D. J., and Waroquier, L. 2015. "Nudging sustainable consumption: The use of descriptive norms to promote a minority behavior in a realistic online shopping environment," *Journal of Environmental Psychology* (43), pp. 166–174 (doi: 10.1016/j.jenvp.2015.06.008).
- Dholakia, R. R., Zhao, M., and Dholakia, N. 2005. "Multichannel retailing: A case study of early experiences," *Journal of Interactive Marketing* (19:2), pp. 64–74 (doi: 10.1002/dir.20035).
- Dholakia, U. M., Kahn, B. E., Reeves, R., Rindfleisch, A., Stewart, D., and Taylor, E. 2010. "Consumer behavior in a multichannel, multimedia retailing environment," *Journal of Interactive Marketing* (24:2), pp. 86–95 (doi: 10.1016/j.intmar.2010.02.005).
- Diehl, M., Owen, S. K., and Youngblade, L. M. 2004. "Agency and communion attributes in adults'

spontaneous self-representations," *International Journal of Behavioral Development* (28:1), pp. 1–15.

- Dinev, T., and Hart, P. 2006. "An Extended Privacy Calculus Model for E-Commerce Transactions," *Information Systems Research* (17:1), pp. 61–80 (doi: 10.1287/isre.1060.0080).
- Dinner, I., Johnson, E. J., Goldstein, D. G., and Liu, K. 2011. "Partitioning Default Effects: Why People Choose Not to Choose," *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied* (17:4), pp. 1–33.
- Djurica, D., and Figl, K. 2017. "The Effect of Digital Nudging Techniques on Customers' Product Choice and Attitudes towards E-Commerce Sites," in *Proceedings of the 23rd Americas Conference on Information Systems (AMCIS)*, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, pp. 1–5.
- Dogruel, L., Joeckel, S., and Vitak, J. 2017. "The valuation of privacy premium features for smartphone apps: The influence of defaults and expert recommendations," *Computers in Human Behavior* (77), pp. 230–239 (doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.08.035).
- Dolan, P., Hallsworth, M., Halpern, D., King, D., Metcalfe, R., and Vlaev, I. 2012. "Influencing behaviour: The mindspace way," *Journal of Economic Psychology* (33:1), pp. 264–277 (doi: 10.1016/j.joep.2011.10.009).
- Duflo, E., Kremer, M., and Robinson, J. 2011. "Nudging Farmers to Use Fertilizer: Theory and Experimental Evidence from Kenya," *American Economic Review* (101:6), pp. 2350–2390.
- Egebark, J., and Ekström, M. 2016. "Can indifference make the world greener?," *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* (76), pp. 1–13 (doi: 10.1016/j.jeem.2015.11.004).
- Engel, G. L. 1977. "The Need for a New Medical Model: A Challenge for Biomedicine," *Sc* (196:4286), pp. 129–136.
- Ensaff, H., Homer, M., Sahota, P., Braybrook, D., Coan, S., and McLeod, H. 2015. "Food Choice Architecture: An Intervention in a Secondary School and its Impact on Students' Plant-based Food Choices," *Nutrients* (7:12), pp. 4426–4437 (doi: 10.3390/nu7064426).
- Erdfelder, E. 2018. "Fallstricke statistischer Signifikanz: Wissenschaftliche Fachzeitschriften und die Replikationskrise," *Forschung und Lehre* (2), pp. 1–6.
- Esposito, G., Hernández, P., van Bravel, R., and Vila, J. 2017. "Nudging to prevent the purchase of incompatible digital products online: An experimental study," *PLOS ONE*, pp. 1–15 (doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173333).
- Everard, A., and Galletta, D. F. 2006. "How Presentation Flaws Affect Perceived Site Quality, Trust, and Intention to Purchase from an Online Store," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (22:3), pp. 56–95 (doi: 10.2753/MIS0742-122220303).
- Fang, X., Chan, S., Brzezinski, J., and Xu, S. 2006. "Moderating Effects of Task Type on Wireless Technology Acceptance," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (22:3), pp. 123–157 (doi: 10.2753/MIS0742-1222220305).
- Farag, S., Weltevreden, J., van Rietbergen, T., Dijst, M., and van Oort, F. 2006. "E-shopping in the Netherlands: Does geography matter?," *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design* (33:1), pp. 59–74 (doi: 10.1068/b31083).
- Feingold, A. 1994. "Gender Differences in Personality: A Meta-Analysis," *Psychological Bulletin* (116:3), pp. 429–456.
- Fellner, G., Sausgruber, R., and Traxler, C. 2013. "Testing Enforcement Strategies in the Field: Appeal,

Moral Information, Social Information," *Journal of the European Economic Association* (11:3), pp. 634–660 (doi: 10.1111/jeea.12013).

- Fisher, A. G. B. 1939. "Production, Primary, Secondary and Tertiary," *Economic Record* (15:1), pp. 24–38 (doi: 10.1111/j.1475-4932.1939.tb01015.x).
- Florenthal, B., and Shoham, A. 2010. "Four-mode channel interactivity concept and channel preferences," *Journal of Services Marketing* (24:1), pp. 29–41 (doi: 10.1108/08876041011017871).
- Fonseca, M. A., and Grimshaw, S. B. 2017. "Do Behavioral Nudges in Prepopulated Tax Forms Affect Compliance? Experimental Evidence with Real Taxpayers," *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing* (36:2), pp. 213–226 (doi: 10.1509/jppm.15.128).
- Fornell, C., and Larcker, D. F. 1981. "Evaluating Structural Equation Models with Unobservable Variables and Measurement Error," *Journal of Marketing Research* (18:1), p. 39 (doi: 10.2307/3151312).
- Frambach, R. T., Roest, H. C. A., and Krishnan, T. 2008. "The Impact of Consumer Internet Experience on Channel Preference and Usage Intentions Across the Different Stages of the Buying Process," *Journal of Interactive Marketing* (22:4), pp. 1–12 (doi: 10.1002/dir).
- Frasquet, M., Mollá, A., and Ruiz, E. 2015. "Identifying patterns in channel usage across the search, purchase and post-sales stages of shopping," *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications* (14:6), pp. 654–665 (doi: 10.1016/j.elerap.2015.10.002).
- Friis, R., Skov, L. R., Olsen, A., Appleton, K. M., Saulais, L., Dinnella, C., Hartwell, H., Depezay, L., Monteleone, E., Giboreau, A., and Perez-Cueto, F. J. A. 2017. "Comparison of three nudge interventions (priming, default option, and perceived variety) to promote vegetable consumption in a self-service buffet setting," *PLOS ONE* (12:5), pp. 1–16.
- Gallus, J. 2016. "Fostering Public Good Contributions with Symbolic Awards: A Large-Scale Natural Field Experiment at Wikipedia," *Management Science* (63:12), pp. 3999–4015 (doi: 10.1287/mnsc.2016.2540).
- Ganzach, Y., and Karsahi, N. 1995. "Message framing and buying behavior: A field experiment," *Journal of Business Research* (32:1), pp. 11–17 (doi: 10.1016/0148-2963(93)00038-3).
- Gebauer, J. E., Bleidorn, W., Gosling, S. D., Rentfrow, P. J., Lamb, M. E., and Potter, J. 2014. "Cross-Cultural Variations in Big Five Relationships with Religiosity: A Socio-Cultural Motives Perspective," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* (107:6), pp. 1064–1091.
- Gensler, S., Dekimpe, M. G., and Skiera, B. 2007. "Evaluating channel performance in multi-channel environments," *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* (14:1), pp. 17–23 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretconser.2006.02.001).
- Gensler, S., Verhoef, P. C., and Böhm, M. 2012. "Understanding consumers' multichannel choices across the different stages of the buying process," *Marketing Letters* (23:4), pp. 987–1003 (doi: 10.1007/s11002-012-9199-9).
- Giudice, M. Del, Booth, T., and Irwing, P. 2012. "The Distance Between Mars and Venus: Measuring Global Sex Differences in Personality," *PLOS ONE* (7:1), p. e29265 (doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029265).
- Goes, P. B. 2013. "Information systems research and behavioral economics," *MIS Quarterly* (37:3), pp. iii–viii.

- Goldstein, D. G., Johnson, E. J., Herrmann, A., and Heitmann, M. 2008. "Nudge Your Customers Toward Better Choies," *Harvard Business Review* (December), pp. 99–105.
- Goodwin, T. 2012. "Why We Should Reject 'Nudge," *Politics* (32:2), pp. 85–92 (doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9256.2012.01430.x).
- Goswami, I., and Urminsky, O. 2016. "When Should the Ask Be a Nudge? The Effect of Default Amounts on Charitable Donations," *Journal of Marketing Research* (53:3), pp. 829–846.
- von Grafenstein, M., Hölzel, J., Irgmaier, F., and Pohle, J. 2018. "Nudging: Regulierung durch Big Data und Verhaltenswissenschaften.,"
- Graham, A., Toon, I., Wynn-Williams, K., and Beatson, N. 2017. "Using 'nudges' to encourage student engagement: An exploratory study from the UK and New Zealand," *The International Journal of Management Education* (15:2), pp. 36–46 (doi: 10.1016/j.ijme.2017.04.003).
- Graham, T., and Abrahamse, W. 2017. "Communicating the climate impacts of meat consumption: The effect of values and message framing," *Global Environmental Change* (44), pp. 98–108 (doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.03.004).
- Graupner, E., and Maedche, A. 2015. "Process digitisation in retail banking: An empirical examination of process virtualization theory," *International Journal of Electronic Business* (12:4), pp. 364–379 (doi: https://doi.org/10.1504/IJEB.2015.074613).
- Gregor, S. 2006. "The Nature of Theory in Information Systems," *MIS Quarterly* (30:3), pp. 611–642 (doi: 10.2307/25148742).
- Gregor, S. 2017. "On Theory," in *The Routledge Companion to Management Information Systems*R. Galliers and M.-K. Stein (eds.), Routledge, pp. 57–72.
- Gregor, S., and Lee-Archer, B. 2016. "The digital nudge in social security administration," *International Social Security Review* (69:3–4), pp. 63–83 (doi: 10.1111/issr.12111).
- Gu, L., and Wang, J. 2009. "A study of exploring the 'Big Five' and task technology fit in web-based decision support systems," *Issues in Information Systems* (10:2), pp. 210–217.
- Guerassimoff, G., and Thomas, J. 2015. "Enhancing energy efficiency and technical and marketing tools to change people's habits in the long-term," *Energy and Buildings* (104), pp. 14–24 (doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2015.06.080).
- Gupta, A., Su, B., and Walter, Z. 2004. "An Empirical Study of Consumer Switching from Traditional to Electronic Channels: A Purchase-Decision Process Perspective," *International Journal of Electronic Commerce* (8:3), pp. 131–161 (doi: 10.1080/10864415.2004.11044302).
- Gurevitch, J., Koricheva, J., Nakagawa, S., and Stewart, G. 2018. "Meta-analysis and the science of research synthesis," *Nature* (555:7695), pp. 175–182 (doi: 10.1038/nature25753).
- Hair, J. F., Anderson, R., Tatham, R., and Black, W. 1998. *Multivariate Data Analysis*, Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.
- Hair, J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C. M., and Sarstedt, M. 2017. *A Primer on Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM)* (Second Edi.), Los Angeles: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., and Sarstedt, M. 2011. "PLS-SEM: Indeed a Silver Bullet," *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice* (19:2), pp. 139–152 (doi: 10.2753/MTP1069-6679190202).
- Halpern, D. 2016. Inside the nudge unit: How small changes can make a big difference, Random House.

- Halpern, S. D., Loewenstein, G., Volpp, K. G., Cooney, E., Vranas, K., Quill, C. M., McKenzie, M. S., Harhay, M. O., Gabler, N. B., Silva, T., Arnold, R., Angus, D. C., and Bryce, C. 2013. "Default Options In Advance Directives Influence How Patients Set Goals For End-Of-Life Care," *Health Affairs* (32:2), pp. 408–417.
- Hamari, J., Sjöklint, M., and Ukkonen, A. 2016. "The Sharing Economy: Why People Participate in Collaborative Consumption," *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology* (67:9), pp. 2047–2059 (doi: 10.1002/asi).
- Hammond, S. B. 1966. "An Interactionist Approach to Personality," *Australian Journal of Psychology* (18:3), pp. 185–196 (doi: 10.5296/ije.v7i4.8260).
- Hampson, S. E., Andrews, J. A., Barckley, M., Lichtenstein, E., and Lee, M. E. 2006. "Personality Traits, Perceived Risk, and Risk-Reduction Behaviors: A Further Study on Smoking and Radon," *Health Psychology* (25:4), pp. 530–536.
- Hanks, A. S., Just, D. R., Smith, L. E., and Wansink, B. 2012. "Healthy convenience: Nudging students toward healthier choices in the lunchroom," *Journal of Public Health* (34:3), pp. 370–376 (doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fds003).
- Hansen, P. G. 2016. "The Definition of Nudge and Libertarian Paternalism: Does the Hand Fit the Glove ?," *European Journal of Risk Regulation* (7:1), pp. 155–174.
- Hansen, P. G., and Jespersen, A. M. 2013. "Nudge and the Manipulation of Choice," *European Journal* of Risk Regulation (4:1), pp. 3–28 (doi: 10.2307/2489305).
- Hariwibowo, I. N. 2017. "The Influence of Personality on the Decision to Use a Technology," *Review* of Integrative Business and Economics Research (6:2), pp. 274–294.
- Hedlin, S., and Sunstein, C. R. 2016. "Does Active Choosing Promote Green Energy Use? Experimental Evidence," *Ecology Law Quarterly* (43:1), pp. 107–141 (doi: 10.2139/ssrn.2624359).
- Heitz-Spahn, S. 2013. "Cross-channel free-riding consumer behavior in a multichannel environment: An investigation of shopping motives, sociodemographics and product categories," *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* (20:6), pp. 570–578 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretconser.2013.07.006).
- Hendriks, A. A. J., Hofstee, W. K. B., and De Raad, B. 1999. "The Five-Factor Personality Inventory (FFPI)," *Personality and Individual Differences* (27), pp. 307–325.
- Herhausen, D., Binder, J., Schoegel, M., and Herrmann, A. 2015. "Integrating Bricks with Clicks: Retailer-Level and Channel-Level Outcomes of Online-Offline Channel Integration," *Journal of Retailing* (91:2), pp. 309–325 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretai.2014.12.009).
- Hermstrüwer, Y., and Dickert, S. 2017. "Sharing is daring: An experiment on consent, chilling effects and a salient privacy nudge," *International Review of Law and Economics* (51), pp. 38–49 (doi: 10.1016/j.irle.2017.06.001).
- Hershfield, H. E., Goldstein, D. G., Sharpe, W. F., Fox, J., Yeykelis, L., Carstensen, L. L., and Bailenson, J. N. 2011. "Increasing Saving Behavior Through Age-Progressed Renderings of the Future Self," *Journal of Marketing Research* (48), pp. S23–S37 (doi: 10.1509/jmkr.48.SPL.S23).
- Hilton, D., Charalambides, L., Demarque, C., Waroquier, L., and Raux, C. 2014. "A tax can nudge: The impact of an environmentally motivated bonus/malus fiscal system on transport preferences," *Journal of Economic Psychology* (42), pp. 17–27 (doi: 10.1016/j.joep.2014.02.007).
- Hoehle, H., and Huff, S. 2009. "Electronic Banking Channels and Task-Channel Fit," in *Proceedings of* the 30th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS), Phoenix, Arizona, USA, pp. 1–

10.

- Hoehle, H., Scornavacca, E., and Huff, S. 2012. "Three decades of research on consumer adoption and utilization of electronic banking channels: A literature analysis," *Decision Support Systems* (54:1), pp. 122–132 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2012.04.010).
- Hoffmann, R. M., and Borders, L. D. 2001. "Twenty-Five Years After the Bem Sex-Role Inventory: A Reassessment and New Issues Regarding Classification Variability," *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development* (34:1), pp. 39–55.
- Holt, C. L., and Ellis, J. B. 1998. "Assessing the Current Validity of the Bem Sex-Role Inventory," *Sex Roles* (39:11/12), pp. 929–941.
- Holt, T. A., Thorogood, M., Griffiths, F., Munday, S., Friede, T., and Stables, D. 2010. "Automated electronic reminders to facilitate primary cardiovascular disease prevention: Randomised controlled trial," *British Journal of General Practice* (60:573), pp. 137–143 (doi: 10.3399/bjgp10X483904).
- Hoong, V. 2013. "The digital transformation of customer services Our point of view," (available at http://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/nl/Documents/technology/deloitte-nl-paper-digital-transformation-of-customer-services.pdf).
- Hosseini, S., Merz, M., Röglinger, M., and Wenninger, A. 2018. "Mindfully going omni-channel: An economic decision model for evaluating omni-channel strategies," *Decision Support Systems* (109), pp. 74–88 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2018.01.010).
- Hsiao, C.-C., Yen, H. J. R., and Li, E. Y. 2012. "Exploring consumer value of multi-channel shopping: A perspective of means-end theory," *Internet Research* (22:3), pp. 318–339 (doi: 10.1108/10662241211235671).
- Huang, Y., White, C., Xia, H., and Wang, Y. 2017. "A computational cognitive modeling approach to understand and design mobile crowdsourcing for campus safety reporting," *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies* (102), pp. 27–40 (doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2016.11.003).
- Hummel, D., Herbertz, S., and Maedche, A. 2018. "Biological sex vs. psychological gender-roles in online channel choices: Evidence form two studies in the financial services industry," in *Proceedings of the 4th Conference on Gender & IT - GenderIT '18*, New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, pp. 199–208 (doi: 10.1145/3196839.3196870).
- Hummel, D., and Maedche, A. 2018. "How Effective Is Nudging? A Quantitative Literature Review on the Effect Sizes and Limits of Empirical Nudging Studies," *Under review in Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics*, pp. 1–29.
- Hummel, D., Schacht, S., and Maedche, A. 2016. "Determinants of Multi-Channel Behavior: Exploring Avenues for Future Research in the Services Industry," in *Proceedings of the 37th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*, pp. 1–12.
- Hummel, D., Schacht, S., and Maedche, A. 2017a. "Designing Adaptive Nudges for Multi-Channel Choices of Digital Services: A Laboratory Experiment Design," in *Proceedings of the 25th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*, pp. 1–12.
- Hummel, D., Schacht, S., and Maedche, A. 2017b. "Multi-Channel Choice in Retail Banking Services: Exploring the Role of Service Characteristics," in 13th International Conference on Wirtschaftsinformatik, pp. 619–633.
- Hummel, D., Toreini, P., and Maedche, A. 2018. "Improving Digital Nudging Using Attentive User

Interfaces: Theory Development and Experiment Design," *Research in Progress Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Design Science Research in Information Systems and Technology (DESRIST)*, pp. 1–8.

- Hummel, D., Vogel, T., and Maedche, A. 2018. "Individualized Digital Nudges for Sustainable Product Choices in E-Commerce: The Moderating Role of Personality Traits," *Working Paper*, pp. 1–32.
- Hummel, D., Vogel, T., Schacht, S., and Maedche, A. 2018. "From the Why to the Who in Channel Choices: The Role of Personality Traits and Gender Roles to Individualize Digital Channels," *Under review in European Journal of Information Systems*, pp. 1–24.
- Hunt, K., Lewars, H., Emslie, C., and Batty, G. D. 2007. "Decreased risk of death from coronary heart disease amongst men with higher 'femininity' scores: A general population cohort study," *International Journal of Epidemiology* (36:3), pp. 612–620 (doi: 10.1093/ije/dym022).
- Inman, J. J., Shankar, V., and Ferraro, R. 2004. "The Roles of Channel-Category Associations and Geodemographics in Channel Patronage.," *Journal of Marketing* (68:2), pp. 51–71 (doi: 10.1509/jmkg.68.2.51.27789).
- Innocenti, A. 2017. "Virtual reality experiments in economics," *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics* (69), pp. 71–77 (doi: 10.1016/j.socec.2017.06.001).
- Jahng, J. J., Jain, H., and Ramamurthy, K. 2002. "Personality traits and effectiveness of presentation of product information in e-business systems," *European Journal of Information Systems* (11:3), pp. 181–195 (doi: 10.1057/palgrave.ejis.3000431).
- Jasperson, J., Carter, P. E., and Zmud, R. W. 2005. "A Comprehensive Conceptualization of Post-Adoptive Behaviors Associated With Information Technology Enabled Work Systems," *MIS Quarterly* (29:3), pp. 525–557 (doi: 10.2307/25148694).
- John, O. P., and Srivastava, S. 1999. "The Big-Five Trait Taxonomy: History, Measurement, and Theoretical Perspectives," in *Handbook of personality: Theory and research*L. Pervin and O. P. John (eds.) (2nd ed.), New York: Guilford.
- Johnson, E. J., and Goldstein, D. G. 2003. "Do Defaults Save Lives?," *Science* (302:5649), pp. 1338–1339 (doi: 10.1126/science.1091721).
- Johnson, E. J., Shu, S. B., Dellaert, B. G. C., Fox, C., Goldstein, D. G., Häubl, G., Larrick, R. P., Payne, J. W., Peters, E., Schkade, D., Wansink, B., and Weber, E. U. 2012. "Beyond nudges: Tools of a choice architecture," *Marketing Letters* (23:2), pp. 487–504 (doi: 10.1007/s11002-012-9186-1).
- Johnston, A. C., Warkentin, M., McBride, M., and Carter, L. 2016. "Dispositional and situational factors: influences on information security policy violations," *European Journal of Information Systems* (25:3), pp. 231–251.
- Joshi, Y., and Rahman, Z. 2015. "Factors Affecting Green Purchase Behaviour and Future Research Directions," *International Strategic Management Review* (3:1–2), pp. 128–143 (doi: 10.1016/j.ism.2015.04.001).
- Juaneda-Ayensa, E., Mosquera, A., and Sierra Murillo, Y. 2016. "Omnichannel Customer Behavior: Key Drivers of Technology Acceptance and Use and Their Effects on Purchase Intention," *Frontiers in Psychology* (7:1117), pp. 1–11 (doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01117).
- Jung, D., and Dorner, V. 2018. "Decision Inertia and Arousal: Using NeuroIS to Analyze Bio-Physiological Correlates of Decision Inertia in a Dual Choice Paradigm," *Information Systems and Neuroscience*, pp. 159–166.

- Jung, D., Dorner, V., and Hariharan, A. 2018. "A Practical Guide for Human Lab Experiments in Information Systems Research: A Tutorial with Brownie," *Journal of Systems and Information Technology* (19:3), pp. 228–256.
- Jung, J. Y., and Mellers, B. A. 2016. "American attitudes toward nudges," *Judgment and Decision Making* (11:1), pp. 62–74 (available at http://ideas.repec.org/a/jdm/journl/v11y2016i1p62-74.html).
- Junglas, I. A., Johnson, N. A., and Spitzmüller, C. 2008. "Personality traits and concern for privacy: An empirical study in the context of location-based services," *European Journal of Information Systems* (17:4), pp. 387–402 (doi: 10.1057/ejis.2008.29).
- Kahneman, D. 2003. "A Perspective on Judgment and Choice Mapping Bounded Rationality," *American Psychologist* (58:9), pp. 697–720 (doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.58.9.697).
- Kahneman, D. 2011. Thinking, fast and slow, New York, New York, USA: Penguin Books.
- Kahneman, D., and Tversky, A. 1979. "Prospect Theory: An Analysis of Decision under Risk," *Econometrica* (47:2), pp. 263–292.
- Kallbekken, S., and Sælen, H. 2013. "Nudging' hotel guests to reduce food waste as a win-win environmental measure," *Economics Letters* (119:3), pp. 325–327 (doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2013.03.019).
- Karlan, D., Mcconnell, M., Mullainathan, S., and Zinman, J. 2016. "Getting to the Top of Mind: How Reminders Increase Saving," *Management Science* (62:12), pp. 3393–3411.
- Kattelmann, K. K., Bredbenner, C. B., White, A. A., Greene, G. W., Hoerr, S. L., Kidd, T., Colby, S., Horacek, T. M., Phillips, B. W., Koenings, M. M., Brown, O. N., Olfert, M. D., Shelnutt, K. P., and Morrell, J. S. 2014. "The Effects of Young Adults Eating and Active for Health (YEAH): A Theory-Based Web-Delivered Intervention," *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* (46:6), pp. S27–S41 (doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2014.08.007).
- Keen, C., Wetzels, M., de Ruyter, K., and Feinberg, R. 2004. "E-tailers versus retailers: Which factors determine consumer preferences," *Journal of Business Research* (57:7), pp. 685–695 (doi: 10.1016/S0148-2963(02)00360-0).
- Keller, C., Markert, F., and Bucher, T. 2015. "Nudging product choices: The effect of position change on snack bar choice," *Food Quality and Preference* (41), pp. 41–43 (doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.11.005).
- De Keyser, A., Schepers, J., and Konuş, U. 2015. "Multichannel customer segmentation: Does the aftersales channel matter? A replication and extension," *International Journal of Research in Marketing* (32:4), pp. 453–456 (doi: 10.1016/j.ijresmar.2015.09.005).
- Khern-am-nuai, W., Yang, W., and Li, N. 2017. "Using Context-Based Password Strength Meter to Nudge Users' Password Generating Behavior: A Randomized Experiment," in *Proceedings of the* 50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS), pp. 587–596 (doi: 10.24251/HICSS.2017.071).
- Kim, D. J., Ferrin, D. L., and Rao, H. R. 2008. "A trust-based consumer decision-making model in electronic commerce: The role of trust, perceived risk, and their antecedents," *Decision Support Systems* (44:2), pp. 544–564 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2007.07.001).
- Kirk, R. E. 2003. "Experimental Design," in *Handbook of PsychologyJ.* A. Schinka, W. F. Velicer, and I. B. Weiner (eds.), Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., pp. 3–32.

- Kitchenham, B. 2004. "Procedures for performing systematic reviews," *Keele, UK, Keele University* (33), pp. 1–28 (doi: 10.1.1.122.3308).
- Kongsbak, I., Skov, L. R., Nielsen, B. K., Ahlmann, F. K., Schaldemose, H., Atkinson, L., Wichmann, M., and Pérez-Cueto, F. J. A. 2016. "Increasing fruit and vegetable intake among male university students in an ad libitum buffet setting: A choice architectural nudge intervention," *Food Quality* and Preference (49), pp. 183–188 (doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2015.12.006).
- Konuş, U., Neslin, S. A., and Verhoef, P. C. 2014. "The effect of search channel elimination on purchase incidence, order size and channel choice," *International Journal of Research in Marketing* (31:1), pp. 49–64 (doi: 10.1016/j.ijresmar.2013.07.008).
- Konus, U., Verhoef, P. C., and Neslin, S. A. 2008. "Multichannel Shopper Segments and Their Covariates," *Journal of Retailing* (84:4), pp. 398–413 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretai.2008.09.002).
- Kosters, M., and Van der Heijden, J. 2015. "From mechanism to virtue: Evaluating Nudge theory," *Evaluation* (21:3), pp. 276–291 (doi: 10.1177/1356389015590218).
- Krasnova, H., Veltri, N. F., Eling, N., and Buxmann, P. 2017. "Why men and women continue to use social networking sites: The role of gender differences," *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, p. (doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsis.2017.01.004).
- Kristensson, P., Wästlund, E., and Söderlund, M. 2017. "Influencing consumers to choose environment friendly offerings: Evidence from field experiments," *Journal of Business Research* (76), pp. 89– 97 (doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.03.003).
- Kroese, F. M., Marchiori, D. R., and Ridder, D. T. D. De. 2015. "Nudging healthy food choices: A field experiment at the train station," *Journal of Public Health* (38:2), pp. 133–137 (doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdv096).
- Krosnick, J. A., Lavrakas, P. J., and Kim, N. 2014. "Survey Research," in *Handbook of Research Methods in Social and Personality Psychology* (Vol. 2), pp. 223–252 (doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.50.1.537).
- Krüger, T., Vogel, T., and Wänke, M. 2016. "Framing effects in consumer judgement and decisionmaking," in *International handbook of consumer psychology*, Sussex, UK: Taylor & Francis.
- Kuechler, B., and Vaishnavi, V. 2008. "Theory Development in Design Science Research: Anatomy of a Research Project," *European Journal of Information Systems* (17:5), pp. 489–504.
- Kuhfuss, L., Préget, R., Thoyer, S., Hanley, N., Coent, P. Le, and Désolé, M. 2016. "Nudges, Social Norms, and Permanence in Agri-environmental Schemes," *Land Economics* (92:4), pp. 641–655 (doi: 10.3368/le.92.4.641).
- Kumar, V., and Venkatesan, R. 2005. "Who are the multichannel shoppers and how do they perform?: Correlates of multichannel shopping behavior," *Journal of Interactive Marketing* (19:2), pp. 44–63 (doi: 10.1002/dir.20034).
- Kushwaha, T., and Shankar, V. 2013. "Are Multichannel Customers Really More Valuable? The Moderating Role of Product Category Characteristics," *Journal of Marketing* (77:4), pp. 67–85.
- Kwok, Y. L. A., Juergens, C. P., and McLaws, M. L. 2016. "Automated hand hygiene auditing with and without an intervention," *American Journal of Infection Control* (44:12), pp. 1475–1480 (doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2016.08.014).
- Lamberti, L., Benedetti, M., and Chen, S. 2014. "Benefits sought by citizens and channel attitudes for multichannel payment services: Evidence from Italy," *Government Information Quarterly* (31:4),

pp. 596-609 (doi: 10.1016/j.giq.2014.03.002).

- Lane, T. 2017. "How does happiness relate to economic behaviour? A review of the literature," *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics* (68), pp. 62–78 (doi: 10.1016/j.socec.2017.04.001).
- Lang, F. R., Lüdtke, O., and Asendorpf, J. B. 2001. "Testgüte und psychometrische Äquivalenz der deutschen Version des Big Five Inventory (BFI) bei jungen, mittelalten und alten Erwachsenen," *Diagnostica* (47:3), pp. 111–121 (doi: 10.1026//0012-1924.47.3.111).
- Laukkanen, T. 2007. "Customer preferred channel attributes in multi-channel electronic banking," *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management* (35:5), pp. 393–412 (doi: 10.1108/09590550710743744).
- Lee, A. S. 1999. "Rigor and relevance in MIS research: Beyond the approach of positivism alone," *MIS Quarterly* (23:1), pp. 29–33 (doi: 10.2307/249407).
- Lee, B., Fraser, I., and Fillis, I. 2017. "Nudging Art Lovers to Donate," *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly* (46:4), pp. 837–858.
- Lehmann, B. A., Chapman, G. B., Franssen, F. M., Kok, G., and Ruiter, R. A. 2016. "Changing the default to promote influenza vaccination among health care workers," *Vaccine* (34:11), pp. 1389– 1392 (doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.01.046).
- Lehner, M., Mont, O., and Heiskanen, E. 2016. "Nudging A promising tool for sustainable consumption behaviour?," *Journal of Cleaner Production* (134), pp. 166–177 (doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.11.086).
- Lehrer, C., and Jung, R. 2017. "Save money, book now! Nudging users to complete online travel bookings," in *Proceedings of the 23rd Americas Conference on Information Systems (AMCIS)*, Boston, Massachusetts, USA (available at http://aisel.aisnet.org/amcis2017/HumanCI/Presentations/5).
- Levin, A. M., Levin, I. R., and Heath, C. E. 2003. "Product Category Dependent Consumer Preferences for Online and Offline Shopping Features and Their Influence on Multi-Channel Retail Alliances," *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research* (4:3), pp. 85–93.
- Levitt, S. D., and List, J. A. 2007. "What Do Laboratory Experiments Measuring Social Preferences Reveal About the Real World?," *Journal of Economic Perspectives* (21:2), pp. 153–174.
- Li, Y. 2012. "Theories in online information privacy research: A critical review and an integrated framework," *Decision Support Systems* (54), pp. 471–481 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2012.06.010).
- Libotte, E., Siegrist, M., and Bucher, T. 2014. "The influence of plate size on meal composition. Literature review and experiment," *Appetite* (82), pp. 91–96 (doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2014.07.010).
- List, J. A., Sadoff, S., and Wagner, M. 2011. "So you want to run an experiment, now what? Some simple rules of thumb for optimal experimental design," *Experimental Economics* (14:4), pp. 439– 457 (available at List\_EE11.pdf).
- Liu, C., Gao, G., and Agarwal, R. 2016. "The Dark Side of Positive Social Influence," in *Proceedings* of the 37th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS), pp. 1–14.
- Liu, Y., Li, H., and Hu, F. 2013. "Website attributes in urging online impulse purchase: An empirical investigation on consumer perceptions," *Decision Support Systems* (55:3), pp. 829–837 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2013.04.001).
- Loeb, K. L., Radnitz, C., Keller, K., Schwartz, M. B., Marcus, S., Pierson, R. N., Shannon, M., and

DeLaurentis, D. 2017. "The application of defaults to optimize parents' health-based choices for children," *Appetite* (113), pp. 368–375 (doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2017.02.039).

- Loewenstein, G., and Chater, N. 2017. "Putting nudges in perspective," *Behavioural Public Policy* (1:1), pp. 26–53 (doi: 10.1017/bpp.2016.7).
- Löfgren, A., Martinsson, P., Hennlock, M., and Sterner, T. 2012. "Are experienced people affected by a pre-set default option Results from a field experiment," *Journals of Environmental Economics and Management* (63), pp. 66–72 (doi: 10.1016/j.jeem.2011.06.002).
- Lowry, P. B., Dinev, T., and Willison, R. 2017. "Why Security and Privacy Research Lies at the Centre of the Information Systems (IS) Artefact: Proposing A Bold Research Agenda," *European Journal* of Information Systems (26:6), pp. 546–563.
- Luchs, M. G., and Mooradian, T. A. 2012. "Sex, Personality, and Sustainable Consumer Behaviour: Elucidating the Gender Effect," *Journal of Consumer Policy* (35:1), pp. 127–144 (doi: 10.1007/s10603-011-9179-0).
- Luoto, J., Levine, D., Albert, J., and Luby, S. 2014. "Nudging to use: Achieving safe water behaviors in Kenya and Bangladesh," *Journal of Development Economics* (110), pp. 13–21 (doi: 10.1016/j.jdeveco.2014.02.010).
- Ly, K., Mazar, N., Zhao, M., and Soman, D. 2013. "A Practitioner's Guide to Nudging," Toronto, Canada.
- Lycett, K., Miller, A., Knox, A., Dunn, S., Kerr, J. A., Sung, V., and Wake, M. 2017. "'Nudge' interventions for improving children's dietary behaviors in the home: A systematic review," *Obesity Medicine* (doi: 10.1016/j.obmed.2017.06.001).
- Macintyre, M., Glenn, P., and Angelis, J. (Eds.). 2011. *Service Design and Delivery*, Springer Science & Business Media (doi: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004).
- Maity, M., and Dass, M. 2014. "Consumer decision-making across modern and traditional channels: Ecommerce, m-commerce, in-store," *Decision Support Systems* (61:1), pp. 34–46 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2014.01.008).
- Malone, T., and Lusk, J. L. 2017. "The excessive choice effect meets the market: A field experiment on craft beer choice," *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics* (67), pp. 8–13 (doi: 10.1016/j.socec.2017.01.008).
- Markovikj, D., Gievska, S., Kosinski, M., and Stillwell, D. 2013. "Mining Facebook Data for Predictive Personality Modeling," in *Proceedings of the 7th International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media (ICWSM)*, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, pp. 23–26.
- Mathwick, C., Malhotra, N., and Rigdon, E. 2001. "Experiential value: Conceptualization, measurement and application in the catalog and Internet shopping environment," *Journal of Retailing* (77:1), pp. 39–56 (doi: 10.1016/S0022-4359(00)00045-2).
- Matthies, B. D., Kalliokoski, T., Eyvindson, K., Honkela, N., Hukkinen, J. I., Kuusinen, N. J., Räisänen, P., and Valsta, L. T. 2016. "Nudging service providers and assessing service trade-offs to reduce the social inefficiencies of payments for ecosystem services schemes," *Environmental Science & Policy* (55), pp. 228–237 (doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2015.10.009).
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., and Schoorman, F. D. 1995. "An Integrative Model of Organizational Trust," *Academy of Management Review* (20:3), pp. 709–734.
- McCrae, R. R., and Costa, P. T. 1987. "Validation of the Five-Factor Model of Personality Across

Instruments and Observers," Journal of Personality and Social Psychology (52:1), pp. 81-90.

- McCrae, R. R., and Costa, P. T. 1991. "Adding Liebe und Arbeit: The Full Five-Factor Model and Well-Being," *Personality and Social Psychology* (17:2), pp. 227–323.
- McCrae, R. R., and John, O. P. 1992. "An introduction to the five-factor model and its applications.," *Journal of Personality* (60:2), pp. 175–215 (doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1992.tb00970.x).
- McCrae, R. R., Martin, T. A., and Costa, P. T. 2005. "Age Trends and Age Norms for the NEO Personality Inventory-3 in Adolescents and Adults," *Assessment* (12:4), pp. 363–373 (doi: 10.1177/1073191105279724).
- McFadden, J. P., White, I. R., Johansen, J., and Bruze, M. 2005. "Statistical Analysis of Choice Experiments and Surveys," *Marketing Letters* (15:3–4), pp. 183–196 (doi: 10.1111/j.0105-1873.2005.00610.x).
- McGoldrick, P. J., and Collins, N. 2007. "Multichannel retailing: profiling the multichannel shopper," *The International Review of Retail, Distribution and Consumer Research* (17:2), pp. 139–158 (doi: 10.1080/09593960701189937).
- McKenzie, C. R. M., Liersch, M. J., and Finkelstein, S. R. 2006. "Recommendations Implicit in Policy Defaults," *Psychological Science* (17:5), pp. 414–420 (doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01721.x).
- McKnight, D. H., Lankton, N. K., Nicolaou, A., and Price, J. 2017. "Distinguishing the effects of B2B information quality, system quality, and service outcome quality on trust and distrust," *Journal of Strategic Information Systems* (26), pp. 118–141.
- Mehrabian, A., and Russell, J. A. 1974. *An approach to environmental psychology*, Cambridge, MA, US: The MIT Press.
- Melis, K., Campo, K., Breugelmans, E., and Lamey, L. 2015. "The Impact of the Multi-channel Retail Mix on Online Store Choice: Does Online Experience Matter?," *Journal of Retailing* (91:2), pp. 272–288 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretai.2014.12.004).
- Melville, N. P. 2010. "Information Systems Innovation for Environmental Sustainability," *MIS Quarterly* (34:1), pp. 1–21.
- Meske, C., and Potthoff, T. 2017. "The DINU-model A process model for the design of nudges," in *Proceedings of the 25th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*, pp. 2587–2597.
- Meth, H. 2013. "A Design Theory for Requirements Mining Systems," University of Mannheim (available at https://ub-madoc.bib.uni-mannheim.de/33327).
- Michaelidou, N., Arnott, D. C., and Dibb, S. 2005. "Characteristics of Marketing Channels: A Theoretical Framework," *The Marketing Review* (5:1), pp. 45–57.
- Miesler, L., Scherrer, C., Seiler, R., and Bearth, A. 2017. "Informational nudges as an effective approach in raising awareness among young adults about the risk of future disability," *Journal of Consumer Behaviour* (16), pp. 15–22 (doi: 10.1002/cb.1592).
- Milkman, K. L., Beshears, J., Choi, J. J., Laibson, D., and Madrian, B. C. 2011. "Using implementation intentions prompts to enhance influenza vaccination rates," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* (108:26), pp. 10415–10420 (doi: 10.1073/pnas.1103170108).
- Miller, G. F., Gupta, S., Kropp, J. D., Grogan, K. A., and Mathews, A. 2016. "The effects of pre-ordering and behavioral nudges on National School Lunch Program participants' food item selection," *Journal of Economic Psychology* (55), pp. 4–16 (doi: 10.1016/j.joep.2016.02.010).

- Mirsch, T., Lehrer, C., and Jung, R. 2016a. "Transitioning to an Omnichannel Approach: A Dynamic Capability Perspective," in *Proceedings of the 37th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*, pp. 1–12.
- Mirsch, T., Lehrer, C., and Jung, R. 2016b. "Channel Integration Towards Omnichannel Management: A Literature Review," in *Proceedings of the 20th Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems* (*PACIS*).
- Mirsch, T., Lehrer, C., and Jung, R. 2017. "Digital Nudging: Altering User Behavior in Digital Environments," in *13th International Conference on Wirtschaftsinformatik*, pp. 634–648.
- Missbach, B., and König, J. S. 2016. "Middle choice preference and snack choice: The role of selfregulatory resources to nudge healthier food choice," *Food Quality and Preference* (53), pp. 127– 131 (doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.06.007).
- Momsen, K., and Stoerk, T. 2014. "From intention to action: Can nudges help consumers to choose renewable energy?," *Energy Policy* (74), pp. 376–382 (doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2014.07.008).
- Montoya-Weiss, M. M., Voss, G. B., and Grewal, D. 2003. "Determinants of Online Channel Use and Overall Satisfaction with a Relational, Multichannel Service Provider," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* (31:4), pp. 448–458 (doi: 10.1177/0092070303254408).
- Morana, S., Schacht, S., Scherp, A., and Maedche, A. 2017. "A review of the nature and effects of guidance design features," *Decision Support Systems* (97), pp. 31–42 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2017.03.003).
- Mostafa, M. M. 2007. "Gender differences in Egyptian consumers? Green purchase behaviour: the effects of environmental knowledge, concern and attitude," *International Journal of Consumer Studies* (31:3), pp. 220–229 (doi: 10.1111/j.1470-6431.2006.00523.x).
- Mousavizadeh, M., Kim, D. J., and Chen, R. 2016. "Effects of assurance mechanisms and consumer concerns on online purchase decisions: An empirical study," *Decision Support Systems* (92), pp. 79–90 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2016.09.011).
- Mowrer, O. H. 1960. Learning theory and behavior, Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Münscher, R., Vetter, M., and Scheuerle, T. 2016. "A Review and Taxonomy of Choice Architecture Techniques," *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making* (29:5), pp. 511–524 (doi: 10.1002/bdm.1897).
- Myers-Briggs, I. 1962. *The Myers-Briggs type indicator manual*, Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service.
- Neslin, S. A., Grewal, D., Leghorn, R., Shankar, V., Teerling, M. L., Thomas, J. S., and Verhoef, P. C. 2006. "Challenges and Opportunities in Multichannel Customer Management," *Journal of Service Research* (9:2), pp. 95–112 (doi: 10.1177/1094670506293559).
- Neslin, S. A., and Shankar, V. 2009. "Key Issues in Multichannel Customer Management: Current Knowledge and Future Directions," *Journal of Interactive Marketing* (23:1), pp. 70–81 (doi: 10.1016/j.intmar.2008.10.005).
- Newell, R. G., and Siikamäki, J. 2013. "Nudging Energy Efficiency Behavior," *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists* (1:4), pp. 555–598 (doi: 10.3386/w19224).
- Nicholson, M., Clarke, I., and Blakemore, M. 2002. "One brand, three ways to shop': Situational variables and multichannel consumer behaviour," *The International Review of Retail, Distribution*

and Consumer Research (12:2), pp. 131-148 (doi: 10.1080/09593960210127691).

- Nickerson, D. W., and Rogers, T. 2010. "Do You Have a Voting Plan? Implementation Intentions, Voter Turnout, and Organic Plan Making," *Psychological Science* (21:2), pp. 194–199.
- Nickerson, R. C., Varshney, U., and Muntermann, J. 2013. "A method for taxonomy development and its application in information systems," *European Journal of Information Systems* (22:3), pp. 336–359 (doi: 10.1057/ejis.2012.26).
- Noble, S. M., Griffith, D. A., and Weinberger, M. G. 2005. "Consumer derived utilitarian value and channel utilization in a multi-channel retail context," *Journal of Business Research* (58:12), pp. 1643–1651 (doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2004.10.005).
- Nov, O., Arazy, O., López, C., and Brusilovsky, P. 2013. "Exploring personality-targeted UI design in online social participation systems," in *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pp. 361–370.
- Nov, O., Arazy, O., Lotts, K., and Naberhaus, T. 2013. "Motivation-targeted personalized UI design: A novel approach to enhancing citizen science participation," in *Proceedings of the 13th European Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work*, Cyprus, pp. 281–293.
- Nunnally, J. C., and Bernstein, I. H. 1994. Psychometric Theory (3rd ed.), New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Ogletree, S. M., Fancher, J., and Gill, S. 2014. "Gender and texting: Masculinity, femininity, and gender role ideology," *Computers in Human Behavior* (37), pp. 49–55.
- Okoli, C., and Schabram, K. 2010. "A Guide to Conducting a Systematic Literature Review of Information Systems Research," *Working Papers on Information Systems* (10:26), pp. 1–51 (doi: 10.2139/ssrn.1954824).
- Ölander, F., and Thøgersen, J. 2014. "Informing Versus Nudging in Environmental Policy," *Journal of Consumer Policy* (37:3), pp. 341–356 (doi: 10.1007/s10603-014-9256-2).
- Olstad, D. L., Goonewardene, L. A., Mccargar, L. J., and Raine, K. D. 2014. "Choosing healthier foods in recreational sports settings: A mixed methods investigation of the impact of nudging and an economic incentive," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* (11:6), pp. 1–14.
- Oppewal, H., Tojib, D. R., and Louvieris, P. 2013. "Experimental analysis of consumer channel-mix use," *Journal of Business Research* (66:11), pp. 2226–2233 (doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.02.002).
- Östervall, L. W. 2017. "Nudging to prudence? The effect of reminders on antibiotics prescriptions," *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* (135), pp. 39–52 (doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2017.01.001).
- Oulasvirta, A., and Blom, J. 2008. "Motivations in personalisation behaviour," *Interacting with Computers* (20:1), pp. 1–16 (doi: 10.1016/j.intcom.2007.06.002).
- Ozdemir, Z. D., Smith, H. J., and Benamati, J. H. 2017. "Antecedents and Outcomes of Information Privacy Concerns in a Peer Context: An Exploratory Study," *European Journal of Information Systems* (26:6), pp. 642–660.
- Pahuja, A., and Tan, C.-H. 2017. "Breaking the Stereotypes: Digital Nudge to Attenuate Racial Stereotyping in the Sharing Economy," in *Proceedings of the 38th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*, pp. 1–8.
- Palmer, S. E. 1975. "The effects of contextual scenes on the identification of objects," Memory &

Cognition (3:5), pp. 519–526 (doi: 10.3758/BF03197524).

- Pantano, E., and Viassone, M. 2015. "Engaging consumers on new integrated multichannel retail settings: Challenges for retailers," *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* (25), pp. 106–114 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretconser.2015.04.003).
- Park, C., and Jun, J.-K. 2003. "A cross-cultural comparison of Internet buying behavior: Effects of Internet usage, perceived risks, and innovativeness," *International Marketing Review* (20:5), pp. 534–553 (doi: 10.1108/02651330310498771).
- Parry, G., Newnes, L., and Huang, X. 2011. "Goods, Products and Services," in *Service Design and Delivery*, pp. 19–29 (doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-8321-3).
- Peng, C., and Kim, Y. G. 2014. "Application of the Stimuli-Organism-Response (S-O-R) Framework to Online Shopping Behavior," *Journal of Internet Commerce* (13:3–4), pp. 159–176 (doi: 10.1080/15332861.2014.944437).
- Peter, J. P., and Tarpey, L. X. 1975. "A Comparative Analysis of Three Consumer Decision Strategies," *Journal of Consumer Research* (2:1), pp. 29–37.
- Pickering, C., and Byrne, J. 2014. "The benefits of publishing systematic quantitative literature reviews for PhD candidates and other early career researchers," *Higher Education Research and Development* (33:3), pp. 534–548.
- Pieterson, W., and van Dijk, J. 2007. "Channel choice determinants: An exploration of the factors that determine the choice of a service channel in citizen initiated contacts," *8th Annual International Conference on Digital Government Research* (228), pp. 173–182.
- Pookulangara, S., Hawley, J., and Xiao, G. 2011. "Explaining consumers' channel-switching behavior using the theory of planned behavior," *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* (18:4), pp. 311–321 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretconser.2011.02.005).
- Prat, N., Comyn-Wattiau, I., and Akoka, J. 2015. "A Taxonomy of Evaluation Methods for Information Systems Artifacts," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (32:3), pp. 229–267 (doi: 10.1080/07421222.2015.1099390).
- Prothero, A., Dobscha, S., Freund, J., Kilbourne, W. E., Luchs, M. G., Ozanne, L. K., and Thøgersen, J. 2011. "Sustainable Consumption: Opportunities for Consumer Research and Public Policy," *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing* (30:1), pp. 31–38 (doi: 10.1509/jppm.30.1.31).
- Puaschunder, J. M. 2017. "Ethical decision making under social uncertainty: An introduction to Überethicality," *Sustainable Production and Consumption* (12:May), pp. 78–89 (doi: 10.1016/j.spc.2017.05.005).
- PwC. 2012. "Rebooting the branch: Reinventing branch banking in a multichannel, global environment," *FS Viewpoint* (available at https://www.pwc.com/us/en/industries/financial-services/library/viewpoints/reinventing-branch-banking-network.html).
- Rammstedt, B. 2007. "Who worries and who is happy? Explaining individual differences in worries and satisfaction by personality," *Personality and Individual Differences* (43:6), pp. 1626–1634 (doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2007.04.031).
- Rammstedt, B., and Danner, D. 2017. "Die Facettenstruktur des Big Five Inventory (BFI)," *Diagnostica* (63:1), pp. 70–84 (doi: 10.1026/0012-1924/a000161).
- Rawson, A., Duncan, E., and Jones, C. 2013. "The Truth About Customer Experience," *Harvard Business Review* (September), pp. 1–12.

- Reisch, L. A., and Sunstein, C. R. 2016. "Do Europeans like nudges?," *Judgment and Decision Making* (11:4), pp. 310–325.
- Ressing, M., Blettner, M., and Klug, S. J. 2009. "Systematic Literature Reviews and Meta-Analyses," *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International* (106:27), pp. 456–464 (doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2009.0456).
- Reynolds, K. J., Turner, J. C., Branscombe, N. R., Mavor, K. I., Bizumic, B., and Subasic, E. 2010. "Interactionism in Personality and Social Psychology: An Integrated Approach to Understanding the Mind and Behaviour," *European Journal of Personality* (24:5), pp. 458–482 (doi: 10.1088/1751-8113/44/8/085201).
- Riggs, W. 2017. "Painting the fence: Social norms as economic incentives to non- automotive travel behavior," *Travel Behaviour and Society* (7), pp. 26–33 (doi: 10.1016/j.tbs.2016.11.004).
- Rivers, N., Shenstone-Harris, S., and Young, N. 2017. "Using nudges to reduce waste? The case of Toronto's plastic bag levy," *Journal of Environmental Management* (188), pp. 153–162 (doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.12.009).
- Roberts, B. W. 2009. "Back to the Future: Personality and Assessment and Personality Development," *Journal of Research in Personality* (43:2), pp. 137–145 (doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2008.12.015.Back).
- Roberts, B. W., and Jackson, J. J. 2009. "Sociogenomic Personality Psychology," *Journal of Personality* (76:6), pp. 1523–1544 (doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2008.00530.x.Sociogenomic).
- Rodríguez-Priego, N., van Bavel, R., and Monteleone, S. 2016. "The disconnection between privacy notices and information disclosure: An online experiment," *Economia Politica* (33:3), pp. 433–461 (doi: 10.1007/s40888-016-0040-4).
- Rodríguez-Torrico, P., San José Cabezudo, R., and San-Martín, S. 2017. "Tell me what they are like and I will tell you where they buy. An analysis of omnichannel consumer behavior," *Computers in Human Behavior* (68), pp. 465–471 (doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.11.064).
- Rommel, J., Buttmann, V., Liebig, G., Schönwetter, S., and Svart-Gröger, V. 2015. "Motivation crowding theory and pro-environmental behavior: Experimental evidence," *Economics Letters* (129), pp. 42–44 (doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2015.01.025).
- Rosenkranz, S., Vringer, K., Dirkmaat, T., Broek, E. Van Den, Abeelen, C., and Travaille, A. 2017. "Using behavioral insights to make firms more energy efficient: A field experiment on the effects of improved communication," *Energy Policy* (108), pp. 184–193 (doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2017.05.056).
- Rozin, P., Scott, S., Dingley, M., Urbanek, J. K., Jiang, H., and Kaltenbach, M. 2011. "Nudge to nobesity I: Minor changes in accessibility decrease food intake," *Judgment and Decision Making* (6:4), pp. 323–332 (doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00206.x).
- Saghiri, S., Wilding, R., Mena, C., and Bourlakis, M. 2017. "Toward a three-dimensional framework for omni-channel," *Journal of Business Research* (77), pp. 53–67 (doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.03.025).
- Samuelson, W., and Zeckhauser, R. 1988. "Status quo bias in decision making," *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty* (1:1), pp. 7–59 (doi: 10.1007/BF00055564).
- Schmitt, D. P., Long, A. E., McPhearson, A., Brien, K. O., Remmert, B., and Shah, S. H. 2017. "Personality and gender differences in global perspective," *International Journal of Psychology* (52:1), pp. 45–56 (doi: 10.1002/ijop.12265).
- Schneider-Düker, M., and Kohler, A. 1988. "Die Erfassung von Geschlechtsrollen Ergebnisse zur

deutschen Neukonstruktion des Bem Sex-Role-Inventory," Diagnostica (34:3), pp. 256-270.

- Schneider, A. L. J., and Graham, T. C. N. 2017. "Nudging and shoving: Using in-game cues to guide player exertion in exergames," *Entertainment Computing* (19), pp. 83–100 (doi: 10.1016/j.entcom.2017.01.002).
- Schneider, C., Weinmann, M., and vom Brocke, J. 2018. "Digital Nudging-Influencing Choices by Using Interface Design," *Communications of the ACM* (January), pp. 1–11.
- Schneider, D., Lins, S., Grupp, T., and Benlian, A. 2017. "Nudging Users Into Online Verification: The Case of Carsharing Platforms," in *Proceedings of the 38th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*, pp. 1–20.
- Schoenbachler, D. D., and Gordon, G. L. 2002. "Multi-channel shopping: understanding what drives channel choice," *Journal of Consumer Marketing* (19:1), pp. 42–53 (doi: 10.1108/07363760210414943).
- Schröder, H., and Zaharia, S. 2008. "Linking multi-channel customer behavior with shopping motives: An empirical investigation of a German retailer," *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* (15:6), pp. 452–468 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretconser.2008.01.001).
- Schultz, P. W., Nolan, J. M., Cialdini, R. B., Goldstein, N. J., and Griskevicius, V. 2007. "The Constructive, Destructive, and Reconstructive Power of Social Norms," *Psychological Science* (18:5), pp. 429–434.
- See, Y. H. M., Valenti, G., Ho, A. Y. Y., and Tan, M. S. Q. 2013. "When message tailoring backfires: The role of initial attitudes in affect-cognition matching," *European Journal of Social Psychology* (43:6), pp. 570–584 (doi: 10.1002/ejsp.1967).
- Selinger, E., and Whyte, K. 2011. "Is There a Right Way to Nudge? The Practice and Ethics of Choice Architecture," *Sociology Compass* (5:10), pp. 923–935 (doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9020.2011.00413.x).
- Seward, M. W., Block, J. P., and Chatterjee, A. 2016. "A Traffic-Light Label Intervention and Dietary Choices in College Cafeterias," *American Journal of Public Health* (106:10), pp. 1808–1814 (doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303301).
- Shankar, V., Smith, A. K., and Rangaswamy, A. 2003. "Customer satisfaction and loyalty in online and offline environments," *International Journal of Research in Marketing* (20:2), pp. 153–175 (doi: 10.1016/S0167-8116(03)00016-8).
- Sidorova, A., Evangelopoulos, N., Valacich, J. S., and Ramakrishnan, T. 2008. "Uncovering the Intellecture Core of the Information Systems Discipline," *MIS Quarterly* (32:3), pp. 467–482.
- Sieverding, M. 2009. "Gender," in *Handbuch der Gesundheitspsychologie und Medizinischen Psychologie*, Jürgen Bengel und Matthias Jerusalem, pp. 130–138.
- Simon, H. 1972. "Theories of Bounded Rationality," Decision and Organization (1:1), pp. 161-176.
- Skov, L. R., Lourenço, S., Hansen, G. L., Mikkelsen, B. E., and Schofield, C. 2013. "Choice architecture as a means to change eating behaviour in self-service settings: A systematic review," *Obesity Reviews* (14:3), pp. 187–196 (doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2012.01054.x).
- Social and Behavioral Sciences Team. 2016. "Social and Behavioral Sciences Team 2016 Annual Report.,"
- Sonderegger-Wakolbinger, L. M., and Stummer, C. 2015. "An agent-based simulation of customer multi-channel choice behavior," *Central European Journal of Operations Research* (23:2), pp.

459-477 (doi: 10.1007/s10100-015-0388-5).

- Sonnenschein, R., Loske, A., and Buxmann, P. 2016. "Gender Differences in Mobile Users' IT Security Appraisals and Protective Actions: Findings from a Mixed-Method Study," in *Proceedings of the 37th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*, pp. 1–21.
- Sonntag, A., and Zizzo, D. J. 2015. "On Reminder Effects, Drop-Outs and Dominance: Evidence from an Online Experiment on Charitable Giving," *PLOS ONE* (10:8), p. e0134705 (doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0134705).
- Soopramanien, D. G. R., and Robertson, A. 2007. "Adoption and usage of online shopping: An empirical analysis of the characteristics of 'buyers', 'browsers' and 'non-internet shoppers," *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* (14:1), pp. 73–82 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretconser.2006.04.002).
- Sopadjieva, E., Dholakia, U. M., and Benjamin, B. 2017. "A Study of 46,000 Shoppers Shows That Omnichannel Retailing Works," *Harvard Business Review* (available at https://hbr.org/2017/01/a-study-of-46000-shoppers-shows-that-omnichannel-retailing-works; retrieved December 31, 2017).
- Sorce, P., Perotti, V., and Widrick, S. 2005. "Attitude and age differences in online buying," *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management* (33:2), pp. 122–132 (doi: 10.1108/09590550510581458).
- Specht, J., Egloff, B., and Schmukle, S. C. 2011. "Stability and Change of Personality across the Life Course: The Impact of Age and Major Life Events on Mean-Level and Rank-Order Stability of the Big Five: Stability and Change of Personality across the Life Course: The Impact of Age and Major Life Even," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* (101:4) (available at http://hdl.handle.net/10419/150922).
- Stämpfli, A. E., and Brunner, T. A. 2016. "The art of dieting: Exposure to thin sculptures effortlessly reduces the intake of unhealthy food in motivated eaters," *Food Quality and Preference* (50), pp. 88–93 (doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.01.012).
- Stämpfli, A. E., Stöckli, S., and Brunner, T. A. 2017. "A nudge in a healthier direction: How environmental cues help restrained eaters pursue their weight-control goal," *Appetite* (110), pp. 94–102 (doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2016.11.037).
- Stanley, T. 2001. "Wheat From Chaff: Meta-Analysis As Quantitative Literature Review," Journal of Economic Perspectives (15:3), pp. 131–150 (doi: 10.1257/jep.15.3.131).
- Statista. 2018. "Demografie der Internetnutzer," *Statistiken zur Internetnutzung in Deutschland* (available at https://de.statista.com/themen/2033/internetnutzung-in-deutschland/; retrieved September 9, 2018).
- Steffel, M., Williams, E. F., and Pogacar, R. 2016. "Ethically Deployed Defaults: Transparency and Consumer Protection Through Disclosure and Preference Articulation," *Journal of Marketing Research* (53:5), pp. 865–880 (doi: 10.1509/jmr.14.0421).
- Stemmler, G., Hagemann, D., Amelang, M., and Bartussek, D. 2011. *Differentielle Psychologie und Persönlichkeitsforschung* (7th ed.), Stuttgart, Germany: Verlag W. Kohlhammer.
- Strahilevitz, L. J., and Porat, A. 2014. "Personalizing Default Rules and Disclosure with Big Data," *Michigan Law Review* (112), pp. 1417–1478.
- Straub, D. W. 1989. "Validating Instruments in MIS Research," *MIS Quarterly* (13:2), p. 147 (doi: 10.2307/248922).

- Strebel, J., Erdem, T., and Swait, J. 2004. "Consumer Search in High Technology Markets: Exploring the Use of Traditional Information Channels," *Journal of Consumer Psychology* (14:1–2), pp. 96– 104 (doi: 10.1207/s15327663jcp1401&2\_11).
- Stryja, C., Dorner, V., and Riefle, L. 2017. "Overcoming Innovation Resistance beyond Status Quo Bias
  A Decision Support System Approach," in *Proceedings of the 50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS)*, pp. 567–576.
- Stutzer, A., Goette, L., and Zehnder, M. 2011. "Active Decisions and Prosocial Behaviour: A Field Experiment on Blood Donation," *The Economic Journal* (121:556), pp. 476–493.
- Sudarshan, A. 2017. "Nudges in the marketplace: The response of household electricity consumption to information and monetary incentives," *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* (134), pp. 320–335 (doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2016.12.015).
- Sullivan, U., and Thomas, J. S. 2004. "Customer Migration: An Empirical Investigation Across Multiple Channels," *Working Paper, University of Illinois at Urbana - Champaign and Northwestern University*, p. 41.
- Sunstein, C. R. 2014. "Nudging: A Very Short Guide," *Journal of Consumer Policy* (37:4), pp. 583–588 (doi: 10.1177/1477878503001001003).
- Sunstein, C. R. 2016. *The ethics of influence: Government in the age of behavioral science*, New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press.
- Sunstein, C. R. 2017. "Nudges that fail," *Behavioural Public Policy* (1:1), pp. 4–25 (doi: 10.1017/bpp.2016.3).
- Sunstein, C. R. 2018. "Misconceptions About Nudges," *Journal of Behavioral Economics for Policy* (2:1), pp. 61–67.
- Sunstein, C. R., and Thaler, R. H. 2003. "Libertarian Paternalism Is Not an Oxymoron," *The University* of Chicago Law Review2 (70:4), pp. 1159–1202.
- Svendsen, G. B., Johnsen, J. A. K., Almås-Sørensen, L., and Vittersø, J. 2013. "Personality and technology acceptance: The influence of personality factors on the core constructs of the Technology Acceptance Model," *Behaviour and Information Technology* (32:4), pp. 323–334 (doi: 10.1080/0144929X.2011.553740).
- Székely, N., Weinmann, M., and vom Brocke, J. 2016. "Nudging People To Pay Co2 Offsets The Effect of Anchors in Flight Booking Processes," in *Proceedings of the 24th European Conference* on Information Systems (ECIS), Istanbul, Turkey, pp. 1–10.
- Tasoff, J., and Letzler, R. 2014. "Everyone believes in redemption: Nudges and overoptimism in costly task completion," *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* (107), pp. 107–122 (doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2014.08.011).
- Te'eni, D., Seidel, S., and vom Brocke, J. 2017. "Stimulating dialog between information systems research and practice," *European Journal of Information Systems* (26), pp. 541–545 (doi: 10.1057/s41303-017-0067-9).
- Teng, C.-C., and Wang, Y.-M. 2015. "Decisional factors driving organic food consumption: Generation of consumer purchase intentions," *British Food Journal* (117:3), pp. 1066–1081 (doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/MRR-09-2015-0216).
- Tett, R. P., and Burnett, D. D. 2003. "A Personality Trait-Based Interactionist Model of Job Performance," *Journal of Applied Psychology* (88:3), pp. 500–517 (doi: 10.1037/0021-

9010.88.3.500).

- Thaler, R. 2017. "Much Ado About Nudging," *Behavioral Public Policy Blog* (available at https://bppblog.com/2017/06/02/much-ado-about-nudging/; retrieved August 1, 2018).
- Thaler, R. H., and Benartzi, S. 2004. "Save More Tomorrow<sup>™</sup>: Using Behavioral Economics to Increase Employee Saving," *Journal of Political Economy* (112:S1), pp. S164–S187 (doi: 10.1086/380085).
- Thaler, R. H., and Sunstein, C. R. 2003. "Libertarian Paternalism," *American Economic Association* (93:2), pp. 175–179.
- Thaler, R. H., and Sunstein, C. R. 2008. *Nudge: Improving Decisions About Health, Wealth, and Happiness*, Yale University Press: New Haven & London (doi: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004).
- The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences. 2017. "Richard H. Thaler: Integrating Economics with Psychology," pp. 1–37.
- Theotokis, A., and Manganari, E. 2015. "The Impact of Choice Architecture on Sustainable Consumer Behavior: The Role of Guilt," *Journal of Business Ethics* (131:2), pp. 423–437 (doi: 10.1007/s10551-014-2287-4).
- Thomas, J. S., and Sullivan, U. Y. 2005. "Managing Marketing Communications with Multichannel Customers," *Journal of Marketing* (69:4), pp. 239–251 (doi: 10.1509/jmkg.2005.69.4.239).
- Thorndike, A. N., Riis, J., Sonnenberg, L. M., and Levy, D. E. 2014. "Traffic-Light Labels and Choice Architecture: Promoting Healthy Food Choices," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* (46:2), pp. 143–149 (doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.10.002).
- Thorndike, A. N., Sonnenberg, L., Riis, J., Barraclough, S., and Levy, D. E. 2012. "A 2-Phase Labeling and Choice Architecture Intervention to Improve Healthy Food and Beverage Choices," *American Journal of Public Health* (102:3), pp. 527–533 (doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2011.300391).
- Tietz, M., Simons, A., Weinmann, M., and vom. 2016. "The Decoy Effect in Reward-Based Crowdfunding: Preliminary Results from an Online Experiment," in *Proceedings of the 37th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*, pp. 1–11.
- Tijssen, I., Zandstra, E. H., de Graaf, C., and Jager, G. 2017. "Why a 'light' product package should not be light blue: Effects of package colour on perceived healthiness and attractiveness of sugar- and fat-reduced products," *Food Quality and Preference* (59), pp. 46–58 (doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2017.01.019).
- Tov, W., Nai, Z. L., and Lee, H. W. 2016. "Extraversion and Agreeableness: Divergent Routes to Daily Satisfaction With Social Relationships," *Journal of Personality* (84:1), pp. 121–134 (doi: 10.1111/jopy.12146).
- Trenz, M. 2015. "The Blurring Line Between Electronic and Physical Channels: Reconceptualising Multichannel Commerce," in *Proceedings of the 23rd European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*, pp. 1–17.
- Trenz, M., and Veit, D. 2015. "Multichannel integration services: Consumer decision making in integrated sales channels," *Proceedings of the 36th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*, pp. 1–20.
- Tse, A. C. B., and Yim, F. 2001. "Factors Affecting the Choice of Channels: Online vs. Conventional," *Journal of International Consumer Marketing* (14:2/3), pp. 137–152 (doi: 10.1300/J046v14n02).

- Turkyilmaz, C. A., Erdem, S., and Uslu, A. 2015. "The Effects of Personality Traits and Website Quality on Online Impulse Buying," *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences* (175), pp. 98–105 (doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.1179).
- Tversky, A., and Kahneman, D. 1973. "Availability: A heuristic for judging frequency and probability," *Cognitive Psychology* (5:2), pp. 207–232 (doi: 10.1016/0010-0285(73)90033-9,).
- Tversky, A., and Kahneman, D. 1974. "Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases," *Science* (185:4157), pp. 1124–1131.
- Tversky, A., and Kahneman, D. 1981. "The Framing of Decisions and the Psychology of Choice," *Science* (211:4481), pp. 453–458 (available at papers2://publication/uuid/82602C0D-4B0E-46E3-8627-ED158AE8CED9).
- United Nations. 2018. "Sustainable Development Goals," (available at https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals/; retrieved June 30, 2018).
- Venkatesan, R., Kumar, V., and Ravishanker, N. 2007. "Multichannel Shopping: Causes and Consequences," *Journal of Marketing* (71:2), pp. 114–132 (doi: 10.1509/jmkg.71.2.114).
- Venkatesh, V., and Davis, F. D. 1996. "A Model of the Antecedents of Perceived Ease of Use: Development and Test," *Decision Sciences* (27:3), pp. 451–481 (doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5915.1996.tb01822.x).
- Venkatesh, V., and Morris, M. G. 2000. "Why Don't Men Ever Stop to Ask for Directions? Gender, Social Influence, and Their Role in Technology Acceptance and Usage Behavior," *MIS Quarterly* (24:1), pp. 115–139.
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., and Davis, F. D. 2003. "User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View," *MIS Quarterly* (27:3), pp. 425–478.
- Verhoef, P. C., Kannan, P. K., and Inman, J. J. 2015. "From Multi-Channel Retailing to Omni-Channel Retailing. Introduction to the Special Issue on Multi-Channel Retailing.," *Journal of Retailing* (91:2), pp. 174–181 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretai.2015.02.005).
- Verhoef, P. C., Neslin, S. A., and Vroomen, B. 2007. "Multichannel customer management: Understanding the research-shopper phenomenon," *International Journal of Research in Marketing* (24:2), pp. 129–148 (doi: 10.1016/j.ijresmar.2006.11.002).
- Vermeir, I., and Verbeke, W. 2006. "Sustainable food consumption: exploring the consumer 'attitude behavioral intention' gap," *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics* (19), pp. 169–194 (doi: 10.1007/s10806-005-5485-3).
- Vogel, T., Hütter, M., and Gebauer, J. E. 2017. "Is evaluative conditioning moderated by Big Five personality traits?," *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, pp. 1--9 (doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550617740193).
- Vogel, T., and Wänke, M. 2016. *Attitudes and attitude change* (2nd ed.), New York, NY, US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Walczuch, R., and Lundgren, H. 2004. "Psychological antecedents of institution-based consumer trust in e-retailing," *Information & Management* (42:1), pp. 159–177 (doi: 10.1016/j.im.2003.12.009).
- Walsh, J., and Godfrey, S. 2000. "The Internet: A New Era in Customer Service," *European Management Journal* (18:1), pp. 85–92.
- Wang, S., Wang, S., and Wang, M. T. 2006. "Shopping Online or Not? Cognition and Personality Matters," *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research* (1:3), pp. 68–80.
- Wansink, B., and Hanks, A. S. 2013. "Slim by Design: Serving Healthy Foods First in Buffet Lines Improves Overall Meal Selection," *PLOS ONE* (8:10), pp. 1–5 (doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077055).
- Watson, G. F., Worm, S., Palmatier, R. W., and Ganesan, S. 2015. "The Evolution of Marketing Channels: Trends and Research Directions," *Journal of Retailing* (91:4), pp. 546–568 (doi: 10.1016/j.jretai.2015.04.002).
- Webster, J., and Watson, R. T. 2002. "Analyzing the Past to Prepare for the Future: Writing a Literature Review," *MIS Quarterly* (26:2), pp. 13–23.
- Weinmann, M., Schneider, C., and vom Brocke, J. 2016. "Digital Nudging," *Business & Information Systems Engineering*, Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden (doi: 10.2139/ssrn.2708250).
- Weinmann, M., Schneider, C., and vom Brocke, J. 2018. "Digital Nudging," *Enzyklopädie der Wirtschaftsinformatik*.
- Weinmann, M., Simons, A., Tietz, M., and vom Brocke, J. 2017. "Get It before It's Gone? How Limited Rewards Influence Backers' Choices in Reward-Based Crowdfunding," in *Proceedings of the 38th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*, pp. 1–10.
- Weisberg, Y. J., Deyoung, C. G., and Hirsh, J. B. 2011. "Gender differences in personality across the ten aspects of the Big Five," *Frontiers in Psychology* (2:178), pp. 1–11 (doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00178).
- Wilkie, W. L., and Pessemier, E. A. 1973. "Issues In Marketing's Use Of Multi-Attribute Attitude Models," *Journal of Marketing Research* (10:4), pp. 428–441.
- Willis, L. E. 2013. "When Nudges Fail: Slippery Defaults," *The University of Chicago Law Review* (80:3), pp. 1155–1229.
- Wilson, A. L., Buckley, E., Buckley, J. D., and Bogomolova, S. 2016. "Nudging healthier food and beverage choices through salience and priming: Evidence from a systematic review," *Food Quality* and Preference (51), pp. 47–64 (doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.02.009).
- Wimmer, H., and Yoon, V. Y. 2017. "Counterfeit product detection: Bridging the gap between design science and behavioral science in information systems research," *Decision Support Systems* (104), Elsevier B.V., pp. 1–12 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2017.09.005).
- Wolfinbarger, M., and Gilly, M. 2001. "Shopping Online for Freedom, Control and Fun," California Management Review (43:2), pp. 34–55.
- Wong, M. S., Nau, C., Kharmats, A. Y., Vedovato, G. M., Cheskin, L. J., Gittelsohn, J., and Lee, B. Y. 2015. "Using a computational model to quantify the potential impact of changing the placement of healthy beverages in stores as an intervention to 'nudge' adolescent behavior choice," *BMC Public Health* (15:1), pp. 1–7 (doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2626-0).
- Wood, W., and Neal, D. T. 2009. "The habitual consumer," *Journal of Consumer Psychology* (19:4), pp. 579–592 (doi: 10.1016/j.jcps.2009.08.003).
- Yadav, R., and Pathak, G. S. 2016. "Intention to purchase organic food among young consumers: Evidences from a developing nation," *Appetite* (96), pp. 122–128 (doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2015.09.017).

- Yoon, S.-J. 2002. "The Antecedents and Consequences of Trust in Online-Purchse Decisions," *Journal* of Interactive Marketing (16:2), pp. 47–63.
- Youyou, W., Kosinski, M., and Stillwell, D. 2015. "Computer-based personality judgments are more accurate than those made by humans," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* (112:4), pp. 1036–1040 (doi: 10.1073/pnas.1418680112).
- Zarghamee, H. S., Messer, K. D., Fooks, J. R., Schulze, W. D., Wu, S., and Yan, J. 2017. "Nudging charitable giving: Three field experiments," *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics* (66), pp. 137–149 (doi: 10.1016/j.socec.2016.04.008).
- Zhang, K. Z. K., and Benyoucef, M. 2016. "Consumer behavior in social commerce: A literature review," *Decision Support Systems* (86), pp. 95–108 (doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2016.04.001).

# Appendix

# Appendix A: Zusammenfassung (deutsch)

# Motivation

Der Aufstieg neuer Technologien hat in der Vergangenheit kontinuierlich zur Entwicklung und Implementierung neuer digitaler Absatzkanäle (z.B. Online- oder Mobile-Kanal) geführt (Avalaunch Media 2009; Watson et al. 2015). Dies hat ein verändertes Konsumentenverhalten ermöglicht, welches sich durch die Kombination verschiedener Kanäle innerhalb des Kaufprozesses auszeichnet (z.B. Sopadjieva et al., 2017; Verhoef et al., 2007). Sowohl für Konsumenten als auch für Unternehmen hat das veränderte Konsumentenverhalten zahlreiche Auswirkungen. Unternehmen könnten von negativen Konsequenzen betroffen sein, wenn Konsumenten Kanäle mit höheren Transaktionskosten wählen (PwC 2012) oder wenn sie sich in Kanälen eines Unternehmens informieren, aber in Kanälen anderer Unternehmen abschließen (Chiu et al. 2011; Chou et al. 2016). Aber auch Konsumenten profitieren noch nicht vollends von neuen Technologien, beispielsweise indem sich der Kaufprozess verlängern oder es zu konkurrierende Informationen und Erfahrungen zwischen den Kanälen kommen kann (Brynjolfsson et al. 2013; Rawson et al. 2013). Folglich verlassen sich nur wenige Konsumenten ausschließlich auf digitale Kanäle (Sopadjieva et al. 2017).

Das Design von digitalen Kanälen ist ein Lösungsansatz für diese Herausforderungen, da digitale Kanäle eine flexibel gestaltbare Schnittstelle zwischen Konsumenten und Unternehmen bilden. Insbesondere die Individualisierung von digitalen Benutzeroberflächen auf Basis von Persönlichkeitseigenschaften ist in vielerlei Hinsicht effektiver als ein generisches Design für alle (Nov, Arazy, López, et al. 2013) und könnte die Nutzung neuer Technologien erhöhen (Oulasvirta and Blom 2008). Für ein individualisiertes Design ist jedoch Wissen über Interaktionseffekte zwischen den Eigenschaften der digitalen Kanäle und den Nutzereigenschaften notwendig. Innerhalb von digitalen Kanälen ist zudem unklar, wie stark die Effekte einer Individualisierung von digitalen Kanälen auf bestimmte Outcomes, beispielsweise die Wahl von nachhaltigen Produkten, wirken. Designer von digitalen Kanälen können entsprechende Entscheidungen mittels Konzepten aus der Verhaltensökonomie, sogenannten "Nudges" (Thaler and Sunstein 2008), beeinflussen. Auch hier scheinen individualisierte Nudges einen Mehrwert über standardisierte Nudges zu bieten (Strahilevitz and Porat 2014; Thaler and Sunstein 2008). Allerdings bleibt unklar, auf Basis welcher Eigenschaften eine Individualisierung erfolgen kann.

Alle Studien dieser Doktorarbeit beschäftigen sich daher mit der Analyse und der Individualisierung von Konsumentenverhalten in digitalen Kanälen. Eine grundlegende Analyse von individualisierten (Absatz-)Kanalentscheidungen (Studien 1 und 2) ist dabei Voraussetzung für ein individualisiertes Nudging von Konsumentenentscheidungen (Studien 3 und 4). Dabei werden auch auf Konzepte und

Theorien aus benachbarten Disziplinen zurückgegriffen. Während die ersten beiden Studien auf Konzepte aus dem Marketing und der Psychologie zurückgreifen, basieren Teil 3 und 4 auf Theorien der Verhaltensökonomie, einer Subdisziplin der Volkswirtschaftslehre.

### Individualisierte Kanalentscheidungen (Studien 1 und 2)

Die erste Studie<sup>6</sup> widmet sich den Einflussfaktoren von Multikanalverhalten, welches heutiges Konsumentenverhalten auszeichnet (Sopadjieva et al. 2017). Obwohl bereits empirische Studien (z.B. Gensler et al., 2012; Verhoef et al., 2007) und Literaturanalysen (z.B. Trenz and Veit 2015; Zhang and Benyoucef 2016) zum Multikanalverhalten von Konsumenten durchgeführt wurden, ist nicht ganzheitlich geklärt, welche Faktoren zu welcher Kanalnutzung führen und ob alle Studien zu gleichen Ergebnissen kommen. Zudem ist unklar, ob sich die Einflussfaktoren zwischen Produkten und Dienstleistungen unterscheiden. Daher stellen wir folgende Forschungsfrage auf:

# Was sind Einflussfaktoren auf das Multikanalverhalten für Produkte und Dienstleistungen?

Die Forschungsfrage wurde mittels einer systematischen Literaturanalyse von 53 wissenschaftlichen Studien beantwortet. Aus diesen Studien wurde eine morphologische Box erstellt, welche Einflussfaktoren und Ergebnisse von Multikanalverhalten in vier Dimensionen gliedert: Kanal, Kontext, Konsument und Produkt. Durch eine numerische Auswertung von Einflussfaktoren für Produkte und Dienstleistungen werden Forschungsschwerpunkte und -lücken herausgearbeitet. Die Studie leistet folglich einen wissenschaftlichen Beitrag, indem sie die Einflussfaktoren von Multikanalverhalten systematisiert und Forschungsfragen für zukünftige Untersuchungen aufzeigt, beispielsweise wie die Kanalwahl von unterschiedlichen Arten von Dienstleistungen moderiert wird.

Basierend auf der systematischen Gliederung der Einflussfaktoren von Multikanalverhalten, widmet sich die zweite Studie<sup>7</sup> der Frage, wie die einzelnen Dimensionen untereinander zusammenhängen und was dies für die Kanalentscheidung bedeutet. Das Wissen über entsprechende Zusammenhänge würde die Möglichkeit zur Individualisierung von Kanälen schaffen. Zwar haben vorherige Studien bereits Persönlichkeitseigenschaften in Online-Kontexten untersucht, dies jedoch nur auf qualitativer Ebene (Florenthal and Shoham 2010; Pieterson and van Dijk 2007) oder mit anderen abhängigen Variablen (Bansal et al. 2010; Bosnjak et al. 2007; Turkyilmaz et al. 2015). Insbesondere ist unklar, ob es Verbindungen zwischen Persönlichkeitseigenschaften, Geschlechterrollen und Kanaleigenschaften gibt, welche beispielsweise für eine Individualisierung des Kanaldesigns genutzt werden könnten. Dies spiegelt sich auch in der folgenden Forschungsfrage wider:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Hummel et al. (2016)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Hummel, Vogel, Schacht et al. (2018)

Was ist der Einfluss von Persönlichkeitseigenschaften und Geschlechterrollen auf das wahrgenommene Risiko, Vertrauen und den wahrgenommenen Nutzen von Online-Kanälen?

Zur Beantwortung der Forschungsfrage haben wir auf einem existierenden Modell (Kim et al. 2008) aufgebaut und im Sommer 2017 ein Laborexperiment mit 236 Teilnehmern durchgeführt. Die gewonnenen Daten wurden mittels eines Strukturgleichungsmodells analysiert (kovarianzbasierter Ansatz). Dabei fanden wir einen Zusammenhang zwischen Persönlichkeitseigenschaften, Geschlechterrollen und Kanaleigenschaften. Beispielsweise korreliert die Eigenschaft Verträglichkeit positiv mit Vertrauen und die Eigenschaft Neurotizismus stark negativ mit dem wahrgenommenen Nutzen des Online-Kanals. Die Ergebnisse sind eine theoretische Erweiterung des ursprünglichen Grundmodells (Kim et al. 2008) um Persönlichkeitseigenschaften und Geschlechterrollen. Designer von digitalen Kanälen können die Erkenntnisse nutzen, um die Kanäle auf die individuellen Eigenschaften der Konsumenten zu individualisieren, z.B. indem Daten über Persönlichkeitseigenschaften aus sozialen Medien abgeleitet werden (Bachrach et al. 2012; Markovikj et al. 2013).

Mit dem Verständnis, wie individuelle Charakteristika mit Kanaleigenschaften zusammenhängen, können nun Konsumentenentscheidungen in digitalen Kanälen beeinflusst werden. Dies kann insbesondere mit Konzepten der Verhaltensökonomie, sogenannten "Nudges" (Thaler and Sunstein 2008), erreicht werden. Damit wird auch auf einen Forschungsaufruf reagiert, Konzepte der Verhaltensökonomie in die Disziplin der Wirtschaftsinformatik einzubeziehen (Goes 2013).

# Nudging von Konsumentenentscheidungen in digitalen Kanälen (Studie 3 und 4)

Die dritte Studie<sup>8</sup> greift das Konzept Nudging (Thaler and Sunstein 2008) auf, welches bereits von zahlreichen Regierungen für Gesetzesentwürfe angewendet wird (Behavioral Insights Team 2016; Social and Behavioral Sciences Team 2016). Allerdings lassen mehrere Studien (z.B. Sunstein, 2017) Zweifel aufkommen, ob Nudging uneingeschränkt wirksam ist. Insbesondere ist unklar, wie gut, und unter welchen Umständen, Nudging funktioniert. Bisherige Literaturanalysen zu dem Thema fokussieren sich entweder nur auf einen Bereich, wie beispielsweise Gesundheit (Adam and Jensen 2016; Wilson et al. 2016), erheben keine Effektstärken (Mirsch et al. 2017) oder umfassen nur wenige Studien (Benartzi et al. 2017; Skov et al. 2013). Daher untersuchen wir folgende Forschungsfrage:

Wie können Nudges klassifiziert werden und was sind die Einflussfaktoren für die Effektstärke von unterschiedlichen Kategorien von Nudges?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Hummel and Maedche (2018)

Um die Forschungsfragen zu beantworten haben wir eine quantitative Literaturanalyse durchgeführt. Basierend auf 100 empirischen Studien haben wir zunächst eine morphologische Box entwickelt, die bisherige Nudging-Studien anhand von acht Dimension klassifiziert. Aufbauend darauf wird eine quantitative Analyse zu den Effektstärken der Studien durchgeführt. Unsere Analyse zeigt beispielsweise, dass nur rund 2/3 der Effekte signifikant sind und stark nach Art des Nudges variieren. Zudem formulieren wir sechs zentrale Bereiche für zukünftige Forschungsvorhaben. Zusammenfassend erweitert diese Studie das theoretische Wissen zu Nudging und bietet praktische Implikationen, beispielsweise indem Entscheidungsträger bei Gesetzgebungsverfahren auf empirisches Wissen zurückgreifen können.

Die vierte und letzte Studie<sup>9</sup> greift die Ergebnisse von Studie 3 auf und beschäftigt sich mit dem akuten Problem von mangelndem nachhaltigen Konsumentenverhalten, insbesondere im Bereich von Kaufentscheidungen nachhaltiger Produkte. Obwohl viele Konsumenten angeben, mehr nachhaltige Produkte kaufen zu wollen, tun dies nur rund 20% (Kristensson et al. 2017). Dieses Phänomen wird auch als "Attitude-Behavior-Gap" bezeichnet (Ajzen 1991; Vermeir and Verbeke 2006). Digitale Nudges (Weinmann et al. 2018) können helfen, diese Lücke zu schließen und die Wahl nachhaltiger Produkte zu erhöhen. Basierend auf der quantitativen Literaturanalyse (Studie 3) sind besonders die Nudges der Vorauswahl, sozialen Normen und Warnungen von hohen Effektstärken gekennzeichnet. Darüber hinaus, und aufbauend auf Studie 2, beschäftigt sich die letzte Studie damit, ob die Effektivität von Digitalen Nudges von Persönlichkeitseigenschaften moderiert wird. Daher wird folgende Forschungsfrage untersucht:

Wie beeinflussen unterschiedliche Arten von digitalen Nudges (Vorauswahl, soziale Normen und Warnungen) die Wahl von nachhaltigen Produkten in Online-Kanälen unter Berücksichtigung von Persönlichkeitseigenschaften?

Zur Beantwortung dieser Forschungsfrage wurde im Sommer 2018 ein onlinebasiertes Fragebogenexperiment mit 452 Teilnehmern durchgeführt. Die Ergebnisse zeigen, dass die Vorauswahl von nachhaltigen Produkten deren Kaufwahrscheinlichkeit signifikant steigert, während soziale Normen zu einer Reduktion der Kaufwahrscheinlichkeit führen. Diese Effekte werden teilweise von Persönlichkeitseigenschaften moderiert, sodass beispielsweise eine Vorauswahl besser auf Teilnehmer wirkte, welche ein hohes Maß an Offenheit für neue Erfahrungen aufweisen. Die Studie trägt damit zu einer Weiterentwicklung des Digitalen Nudgings bei und wirft ein neues Licht auf das Zusammenspiel zwischen Digitalen Nudges und Persönlichkeitseigenschaften, welche die erwarteten Effekte verstärken oder abschwächen können.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Hummel, Vogel and Maedche (2018)

Theoretisch leistet diese Dissertation einen Beitrag zum Stand der Forschung in der Wirtschaftsinformatik und im Marketing. Erstens wird das theoretische Modell von Kim et al. (2008) erweitert und gezeigt, wie Persönlichkeitseigenschaften mit Kanaleigenschaften zusammenhängen. Insbesondere reicht es im digitalen Zeitalter nicht aus, die digitalen Kanäle isoliert zu entwerfen, sondern es müssen stets die Interaktionseffekte mit den individuellen Eigenschaften der Konsumenten berücksichtigt werden. Zweitens verbessert die Arbeit das Verständnis von Multikanalverhalten und zeigt auf, welche relevanten Faktoren zu welchem Kanalverhalten führen. Dabei werden auch Forschungslücken von Multikanalverhalten im Kontext von Dienstleistungen aufgedeckt. Drittens konzeptualisiert die Arbeit verschiedene Studien aus dem Bereich Nudging mittels einer morphologischen Box. Dabei werden die Stärken und Grenzen von Nudging aufgezeigt und mittels einer quantitativen Analyse die mittleren Effektstärken verschiedener Arten von Nudges beleuchtet. Darüber hinaus formulieren wir sechs zentrale Bereiche für zukünftige Forschungsvorhaben. Viertens trägt diese Arbeit zu einem verbesserten Verständnis der Wirkungsweise von digitalen Nudges bei, welche im Bereich von nachhaltigen Produktentscheidungen von Persönlichkeitseigenschaften moderiert werden. Zuletzt wird gezeigt, dass Nudges sowohl positive als auch negative Effekte haben können, und dass das Design von sozialen Normen behutsam erfolgen muss.

Praktische Anwendungen bestehen für Designer von digitalen Kanälen. So können diese die Zusammenhänge von Persönlichkeits- und Kanaleigenschaften (Studie 2) sowie von Digitalen Nudges und Persönlichkeitseigenschaften (Studie 4) für ein individualisiertes Design von digitalen Kanälen verwenden. In Zeiten, in denen Persönlichkeitseigenschaften von Daten aus sozialen Medien abgeleitet werden können (Bachrach et al. 2012; Markovikj et al. 2013), kann das Design von digitalen Kanälen adaptiv verändert werden. Denkbar wäre auch, Konsumenten die Option zu geben, diese Daten im Austausch für bessere Angebote oder einer Schließung des "Attitude-Behavior-Gap" selbst zur Verfügung stellen zu lassen. Zudem können Gesetzgeber und Entscheidungsträger im Umweltbereich die Ergebnisse von Studie 4 nutzen, um den Verkauf nachhaltiger Produkte zu stimulieren. Dabei sind Vorauswahl von Produkten im digitalen Kontext, soweit gesetzlich zulässig, effektiver als soziale Normen.

	Table 24. Measurem	tent items (Study 2)	
Construct	Measurement items (German)	Measurement items (English)	Source
	Wie würden Sie insgesamt Ihre Risikowahrnehmung dieser	How would you rate your overall perception of risk from this site?	
	Webseite beurteilen?		
	Von dieser Webseite zu kaufen, würde mehr Produktrisiken (z.B.	Purchasing from this Website would involve more product risk (i.e.	
Darrained rich	falsches Produkt) mit sich bringen verglichen mit traditionelleren	not working, defective product) when compared with more	Kim et al.
	Einkaufsmöglichkeiten.	traditional ways of shopping.	(2008)
	Von dieser Webseite zu kaufen, würde mehr finanzielle Risiken	Purchasing from this Website would involve more financial risk	
	(z.B. Betrug, schwierig zurückzugeben) mit sich bringen verglichen	(i.e. fraud, hard to return) when compared with more traditional	
	mit traditionelleren Einkaufsmöglichkeiten.	ways of shopping.	
	Wenn ich die Webseite einer Bank nutze, kann ich Zeit sparen.	I can save time by using this Website.	
Perceived	Ich finde es bequem, die Webseite einer Bank zu nutzen.	I think using this Website is convenient.	Kim et al.
benefits	Durch das Nutzen von Webseiten von Banken kann ich die	Using this Website enables me to accomplish a shopping task more	(2008)
	Aufgabe viel schneller durchführen, als über die Filiale.	quickly than using traditional stores.	
	Bewerten Sie das Ausmaß, mit welchem Sie den folgenden	Rate the extent to which you agree with the following statements:	
	Aussagen zustimmen: Internet-Webseiten sind sichere	Internet websites are safe environments in which to exchange	
	Umgebungen, um Informationen mit anderen auszutauschen	information with others.	Diney and
Internet trust	Internet-Webseiten sind zuverlässige Umgebungen, um	Internet websites are reliable environments in which to conduct	
	geschäftliche Transaktionen durchzuführen.	business transactions.	11a11 (2000)
	Internet-Webseiten behandeln persönliche Informationen, die	Internet websites handle personal information submitted by	
	von Nutzern übermittelt wurden, in einer kompetenten Weise.	users in a competent fashion.	
Extraversion	gesprächig ist, sich gerne unterhält.	Is talkative	

	eher zurückhaltend und reserviert ist.	Is reserved	John and
	voller Energie und Tatendrang ist.	Is full of energy	Srivastava
	begeisterungsfähig ist, andere mitreißen kann.	Generates a lot of enthusiasm	(1999); Lang
	eher still und wortkarg ist.	Tends to be quiet	et al. (2001)
	durchsetzungsfähig und energisch ist.	Has an assertive personality	
	manchmal schüchtern und gehemmt ist.	Is sometimes shy, inhibited	
	aus sich herausgeht, gesellig ist.	Is outgoing, sociable	
	dazu neigt, andere zu kritisieren.	Tends to find fault with others	
	hilfsbereit und selbstlos gegenüber anderen ist.	Is helpful and unselfish with others	
	häufig in Streitereien verwickelt ist.	Starts quarrels with others	John and
A greeableness	nicht nachtragend ist, anderen leicht vergibt.	Has a forgiving nature	Srivastava
	anderen Vertrauen schenkt.	Is generally trusting	(1999); Lang
	sich kalt und distanziert verhalten kann.	Can be cold and aloof	et al. (2001)
	rücksichtsvoll und einfühlsam zu anderen ist.	Is considerate and kind to almost everyone	
	schroff und abweisend zu anderen sein kann.	Is sometimes rude to others	
	Aufgaben gründlich erledigt.	Does a thorough job	
	etwas achtlos sein kann.	Can be somewhat careless	
	zuverlässig ist und gewissenhaft.	Is a reliable worker	Tohn and
Conscientious-	dazu neigt, unordentlich zu sein.	Tends to be disorganized	Srivectava
-cuonico -cuonico - cuonico - cuonico - cuonico - cuone - cuon	bequem ist und zur Faulheit neigt.	Tends to be lazy	(1999). I and
	nicht aufgibt, ehe die Aufgabe erledigt ist.	Perseveres until the task is finished	et al. (2001)
	tüchtig ist und flott arbeitet.	Does things efficiently	
	Pläne macht und diese auch durchführt.	Makes plans and follows through with them	
	leicht ablenkbar ist, nicht bei der Sache bleibt.	Is easily distracted	
Neuroticism	deprimiert, niedergeschlagen ist.	Is depressed, blue	

143

	entspannt ist, sich durch Stress nicht aus der Ruhe bringen lässt.	Is relaxed, handles stress well	John and
	leicht angespannt reagiert.	Can be tense	Srivastava
	sich viele Sorgen macht.	Worries a lot	(1999); Lang
	nicht leicht aus der Fassung zu bringen ist.	Is emotionally stable, not easily upset	et al. (2001)
	ruhig bleibt, selbst in angespannten Situationen ausgeglichen ist.	Remains calm in tense situations	
	leicht nervös und unsicher wird.	Gets nervous easily	
	originell ist, neue Ideen entwickelt.	Is original, comes up with new ideas	
	vielseitig interessiert ist.	Is curious about many different things	
	tiefsinnig ist, gern über Sachen nachdenkt.	Is ingenious, a deep thinker	
	eine lebhafte Vorstellungskraft hat, fantasievoll ist.	Has an active imagination	John and
Onenness	erfinderisch und einfallsreich ist.	Is inventive	Srivastava
	künstlerische und ästhetische Eindrücke schätzt.	Values artistic, aesthetic experiences	(1999); Lang
	routinemäßige und einfache Aufgaben bevorzugt.	Prefers work that is routine	et al. (2001)
	gerne Überlegungen anstellt, mit Ideen spielt.	Likes to reflect, play with ideas	
	nur wenig künstlerisches Interesse hat.	Has few artistic interests	
	sich gut in Musik, Kunst und Literatur auskennt.	Is sophisticated in art, music, or literature	
	Verteidige eigene Meinung	Defend my own beliefs	
	Unabhängig	Independent	
	Durchsetzungsfähig	Assertive	Hunt et al
	Starke Persönlichkeit	Strong personality	(2007).
Masculinity	Kraftvoll	Forceful	Sieverding
	Habe Führungsqualitäten	Have leadership abilities	(2009)
	Bereit, etwas zu riskieren	Willing to take risks	
	Dominant	dominant	
	Bereit, Stellung zu beziehen	Willing to take a stand	

	Table 25. Measuremen	it items (Study 4)	
Construct	Measurement items (German)	Measurement items (English)	Source
Extraversion	See above	See above	See above
Agreeableness	See above	See above	See above
Conscientious.	See above	See above	See above
Neuroticism	See above	See above	See above
Openness	See above	See above	See above
	Wenn es Bio-Lebensmittel in Supermärkten gibt, würde ich sie		
	kaufen.	If organic foods were available in the shops, I would buy them.	Teno and
Intention	Ich bin bereit, trotz höherer Preise Bio-Lebensmittel zu kaufen.	I am willing to buy organic foods despite their higher prices.	Wang (2015)
	Die Wahrscheinlichkeit, dass ich Bio-Lebensmittel kaufen würde, ist		
	sehr hoch.	the probability I would buy organic foods is very high.	

145

	Bio-Lebensmittel haben geringere chemische Rückstände als	Organic foods have lower chemical residues than conventional	
	herkömmliche Lebensmittel.	foods.	
	Bio-Lebensmittel sind sicherer zu essen als herkömmliche		
Attitude	Lebensmittel.	Organic foods are safer to eat than conventional foods.	
	Bio-Lebensmittel sind gesünder zu essen als herkömmliche		
	Lebensmittel.	Organic foods are healthier to eat than conventional foods.	
	Bio-Lebensmittel haben eine bessere Qualität als konventionelle		
	Lebensmittel.	Organic foods have superior quality than conventional food.	
	Ich denke, dass sich Unternehmen im Bereich der Bio-Lebensmittel	I think that corporations in the field of organic foods are aware of	
	ihrer Verantwortung bewusst sind.	their responsibilities.	
	Ich vertraue darauf, dass diejenigen, die zertifizierte Bio-Lebensmittel	I trust those who sell certified organic foods indeed sell quality	
18111	verkaufen, auch tatsächlich hochwertige Bio-Lebensmittel verkaufen.	organic foods.	
	Ich vertraue auf ein hochwertiges Bio-Label oder -Logo.	I trust a quality organic food label or logo.	
	Ich vertraue den Institutionen, die Bio-Lebensmittel zertifizieren.	I trust the institutions certifying organic food products.	
	Meine Familie denkt, ich sollte Bio-Lebensmittel kaufen.	My family think I should buy organic foods.	
	Meine Freunde denken, ich sollte Bio-Lebensmittel kaufen.	My friends think I should buy organic foods.	
Norm	Nachrichten und Zeitschriften beeinflussen meine	News and magazines affect my purchase decisions of organic	
	Kaufentscheidungen für Bio-Lebensmittel.	foods.	
	Staatliche Unterstützung für Bio-Lebensmittel beeinflusst meine	Government supports for organic foods affect my decisions to	
	Kaufentscheidung für Bio-Lebensmittel.	buy organic foods.	
	Ich weiss, dass ich Produkte und Verpackungen kaufe, die	I know that I buy products and packages that are environmentally	
Environmentel	umweltfreundlich sind.	safe.	Mostafa
knowledge	Ich weiss mehr über Recycling als eine durschnittliche Person.	I know more about recycling than the average person.	(2007)
	Ich weiß, wie man Produkte und Verpackungen auswählt, die das	I know how to select products and packages that reduce the	(1007)
	Abfallaufkommen auf Deponien reduzieren.	amount of waste ending up in landfills.	

	Ich verstehe die Umwelt-Formulierungen und -Symbole auf	I understand the environmental phrases and symbols on product	
	Produktverpackungen.	package.	
	Ich kenne mich mit Umweltfragen sehr gut aus.	I am very knowledgeable about environmental issues.	
	Die Bundesregierung fordert ein "Ampelsystem" für Lebensmittel,	The federal government requires a "traffic lights" system for	
	bei dem gesunde Lebensmittel mit einem kleinen grünen Etikett,	food, by which healthy foods would be sold with a small green	
	ungesunde Lebensmittel mit einem kleinen roten Etikett und	label, unhealthy foods with a small red label, and foods that are	
	Lebensmittel, die weder besonders gesund noch besonders ungesund	neither especially healthy nor especially unhealthy with a small	
	sind, mit einem kleinen gelben Etikett verkauft werden.	yellow label.	
	Ein Gesetz verlangt von allen großen Lebensmittelgeschäften, dass	A state law requires all large grocery stores to place their most	
	sie ihre gesündesten Lebensmittel an einer prominenten, sichtbaren	healthy foods in a prominent, visible location.	
	Stelle platzieren.		
	Um Fettleibigkeit bei Kindern zu reduzieren, führt die Regierung eine	To reduce childhood obesity, the national government adopts a	
	öffentliche Aufklärungskampagne durch, die aus Informationen	public education campaign, consisting of information that parents	Reisch and
Nudge rating	besteht, die Eltern nutzen können, um gesündere Entscheidungen für	can use to make healthier choices for their children.	Sunstein
	ihre Kinder zu treffen.		(2016)
	Die Bundesregierung verlangt von den Fluggesellschaften, dass sie	The federal government requires airlines to charge people, with	
	mit ihren Flugtickets einen bestimmten Betrag zum Ausgleich ihrer	their airline tickets, a specific amount to offset their carbon	
	CO2-Emissionen berechnen (ca. 10 EUR pro Ticket); im Rahmen des	emissions (about 10 EUR per ticket); under the program, people	
	Programms kann man sich aus der Zahlung zurückziehen, wenn man	can opt out of the payment if they explicitly say that they do not	
	ausdrücklich erklärt, dass man sie nicht bezahlen will.	want to pay it.	
	Aus Gründen der öffentlichen Gesundheit und des Klimaschutzes	For reasons of public health and climate protection, the federal	
	verlangt die Bundesregierung, dass Kantinen in öffentlichen	government requires canteens in public institutions (schools,	
	Einrichtungen (Schulen, öffentliche Verwaltungen u.ä.) einen	public administrations and similar) to have one meat-free day per	
	fleischfreien Tag pro Woche haben.	week.	

147

# Appendix C: Additional material for Study 2 and Study 4



# Study 2: The Role of Personality Traits and Gender Roles to Individualize Digital Retail Channels

Study 4: Individualized Digital Nudges for Sustainable Product Choices in Digital Retail Channels

Table 26. Regression output of mixed effects logistic regression model of main treatment effects							
Treatment	Estimate	Std. error	T value	P-value			
Intercept	1.0255 0.2758 3.718 <b>p&lt;0.001***</b>						
Default	1.5151 0.3641 4.162 <b>p&lt;0.001</b> ***						
Social	-0.6814	0.3653	-1.865	0.0621(.)			
Warnings	0.1516	0.1516 0.3311 0.458 0.6470					
Product category bread	-1.0710 0.1885 -5.682 <b>p&lt;0.001</b> ***						
Product category coffee	-0.4344	0.1871	-2.322	0.0202*			
Product category milk	0.1986	0.1901	1.044	0.2963			
Product category pasta	-1.9020	0.1974	-9.636	p<0.001***			
Product category tomatoes	0.7573	0.1968	3.847	p<0.001***			
AIC / BIC	2,799.6 / 2,858.6						
Observations / ids	2,712 / 452						
Significance codes: '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '(.)' 0.1; bananas serve as the reference category							

Table 27. Regression output of	mixed effect	ts logistic reg	gression model	including per	rsonality traits
Treatment	Category	Estimate	Std. error	T value	P-value
Intercept	Intercept	0.9740	0.2758	3.532	p<0.001***
Default		1.4389	0.3646	3.947	p<0.001***
Social norms	Treatment	-0.6378	0.3646	-1.749	0.080(.)
Warnings		0.2400	0.3328	0.721	0.471
Extraversion		-0.0391	0.2724	-0.144	0.886
Openness		-0.2530	0.2763	-0.916	0.360
Agreeableness	Personality	0.3491	0.2489	1.403	0.162
Conscientiousness		0.3295	0.2402	1.372	0.171
Neuroticism		0.1993	0.2484	0.802	0.422
Default x Extraversion		-0.4965	0.4195	-1.184	0.237
Social norms x Extraversion		0.0472	0.3918	0.120	0.904
Warnings x Extraversion		0.1503	0.3712	0.405	0.686
Default x Openness		0.7579	0.4164	1.820	0.069(.)
Social norms x Openness		0.2111	0.3932	0.537	0.591
Warnings x Openness		0.3552	0.3632	0.978	0.328
Default x Agreeableness	F	-0.0740	0.3878	-0.191	0.849
Social norms x Agreeableness	Interaction	-0.2752	0.3712	-0.741	0.458
Warnings x Agreeableness		0.0290	0.3484	0.083	0.934
Default x Conscientiousness		0.1666	0.3895	0.428	0.669
Social norms x Conscientiousness		-0.4073	0.3751	-1.086	0.278
Warnings x Conscientiousness		-0.5900	0.3454	-1.708	0.088(.)
Default x Neuroticism		-0.2140	0.3861	-0.554	0.579
Social x Neuroticism		-0.2929	0.3702	-0.791	0.429
Warnings x Neuroticism		-0.1635	0.3562	-0.459	0.646
Product category bread		-1.0723	0.18861	-5.685	p<0.001***
Product category coffee	Product	-0.4350	0.18722	-2.323	0.020*
Product category milk	categories	0.1989	0.19029	1.045	0.296
Product category pasta	categories	-1.9035	0.19747	-9.639	p<0.001***
Product category tomatoes		0.7585	0.19701	3.850	p<0.001***
AIC / BIC			2,821.9 / 2,99	9.0	
Observations / ids			2,712 / 452		
Significance codes: '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '(.)' 0.1; product category bananas serves as the reference category for the other product categories					

# Appendix D: List of primary studies for systematic literature reviews

# Study 1: Determinants of Multi-Channel Behavior: Exploring Avenues for Future Research in the Services Industry

Albesa 2007; Ansari et al. 2008; Balasubramanian et al. 2005; Bellman et al. 1999; Bickle et al. 2006; Black et al. 2002; Burke 2002; Chiu et al. 2011; Choi and Park 2006; Chou et al. 2016; Cortinas et al. 2010; Dholakia et al. 2005, 2010; Farag et al. 2006; Florenthal and Shoham 2010; Frambach et al. 2008; Frasquet et al. 2015; Gensler et al. 2007, 2012; Gupta et al. 2004; Heitz-Spahn 2013; Hsiao et al. 2012; Inman et al. 2004; Keen et al. 2004; De Keyser et al. 2015; Konus et al. 2008; Konuş et al. 2014; Kumar and Venkatesan 2005; Lamberti et al. 2014; Laukkanen 2007; Levin et al. 2003; Maity and Dass 2014; Mathwick et al. 2001; McGoldrick and Collins 2007; Melis et al. 2015; Michaelidou et al. 2005; Montoya-Weiss et al. 2003; Nicholson et al. 2002; Noble et al. 2005; Pantano and Viassone 2015; Pookulangara et al. 2011; Schoenbachler and Gordon 2002; Schröder and Zaharia 2008; Sonderegger-Wakolbinger and Stummer 2015; Soopramanien and Robertson 2007; Sorce et al. 2005; Strebel et al. 2004; Sullivan and Thomas 2004; Thomas and Sullivan 2005; Tse and Yim 2001; Venkatesan et al. 2007; Verhoef et al. 2007; Wolfinbarger and Gilly 2001

The spreadsheet with the coding of the primary studies can be obtained from the authors upon request.

# Study 3: How Effective Is Nudging? A Quantitative Literature Review on the Effect Sizes and Limits of Empirical Nudging Studies

Agarwal et al. 2017; Aldrovandi et al. 2015; Allcott 2011; Almuhimedi et al. 2015; Altmann and Traxler 2014; Apesteguia et al. 2013; Baek et al. 2014; Bartke et al. 2017; Bettinger and Baker 2011; Bronchetti et al. 2013; Brune et al. 2017; Bull 2012; Calzolari and Nardotto 2016; Campbell-Arvai et al. 2014; Castleman and Page 2015; Chang et al. 2016; Chapman et al. 2010; Cioffi et al. 2015; Cohen et al. 2017, 2015; Costa and Kahn 2011; Cravener et al. 2015; Cyan et al. 2017; Czap et al. 2012, 2015; D'Adda et al. 2017; Damgaard and Gravert 2016; Dayan and Bar-Hillel 2011; Demarque et al. 2015; Dinner et al. 2011; Dogruel et al. 2017; Egebark and Ekström 2016; Ensaff et al. 2015; Esposito et al. 2017; Fellner et al. 2013; Fonseca and Grimshaw 2017; Friis et al. 2017; Gallus 2016; Goswami and Urminsky 2016; Graham et al. 2017; Guerassimoff and Thomas 2015; Hanks et al. 2012; Hedlin and Sunstein 2016; Hermstrüwer and Dickert 2017; Hershfield et al. 2011; Hilton et al. 2014; Holt et al. 2010; Huang et al. 2017; Kongsbak et al. 2016; Kristensson et al. 2017; Kroese et al. 2015; Kuhfuss et al. 2016; Kwok et al. 2016; Lee et al. 2017; Lehmann et al. 2016; Libotte et al. 2014; Loeb et al. 2017; Löfgren et al. 2012; Luoto et al. 2014; Malone and Lusk 2017; Matthies et al. 2016; Miesler et al. 2017; Milkman et al. 2017; Milkman et al. 2011; Milton et al. 2017; Milkman et al. 2012; Luoto et al. 2017; Milkman et al. 2017; Matthies et al. 2016; Miesler et al. 2017; Milkman et al. 2017; Milkman et al. 2011; Milton et al. 2017; Milkman et al. 2012; Luoto et al. 2014; Malone and Lusk 2017; Matthies et al. 2016; Miesler et al. 2017; Milkman et al. 2011;

Miller et al. 2016; Missbach and König 2016; Momsen and Stoerk 2014; Newell and Siikamäki 2013; Nickerson and Rogers 2010; Ölander and Thøgersen 2014; Olstad et al. 2014; Östervall 2017; Puaschunder 2017; Rivers et al. 2017; Rodríguez-Priego et al. 2016; Rommel et al. 2015; Rosenkranz et al. 2017; Rozin et al. 2011; Schneider and Graham 2017; Schneider et al. 2017; Seward et al. 2016; Sonntag and Zizzo 2015; Stämpfli et al. 2017; Stämpfli and Brunner 2016; Steffel et al. 2016; Stutzer et al. 2011; Sudarshan 2017; Székely et al. 2016; Tasoff and Letzler 2014; Theotokis and Manganari 2015; Thorndike et al. 2012, 2014; Tietz et al. 2016; Tijssen et al. 2017; Wansink and Hanks 2013; Wong et al. 2015; Zarghamee et al. 2017

The spreadsheet with the coding of the primary studies can be obtained from the authors upon request.

# Appendix E: Screenshots of experiment prototypes

# Study 2: The Role of Personality Traits and Gender Roles to Individualize Digital Retail Channels

3itte nehmen Sie sich nun ein paar Minuten Zeit, um sich mit der Webseite dieser Bank vertraut zu machen. Lesen Sie dazu die erläuternden Texte und Angebote. Der Button "Kredit berechnen" ist solange deaktiviert. Sobald die Zeit zum Informieren abgelaufen ist und der Button freigegeben wird, dicken Sie auf "Kredit berechnen".				
Konten	Kredite	Wertpapier	Vorsorge	
Girokonto Sparkonto Kreditka	rte			
Gerade für Leute, die gern und viel reis Versicherungsschutz kann Ihnen und Ih zusammen mit einem unserer Konten. Auf Reisen kann immer etwas Unvorher umfassenden Versicherungsschutz bau	en, ist die Premium Kreditka ren Angehörigen praktisch r gesehenes passieren. Wen en, auch wenn Sie die Karte	rte der optimale Reisebegleiter. Durch den nichts passieren. Die exklusive Kreditkarte n Sie mit der Premium Kreditkarte unterwe e gar nicht benutzt haben:	umfangreichen erhalten Sie ausschließlich gs sind, können Sie auf einen	
<ul> <li>Reise-Rücktrittskosten-Versicher</li> <li>Reise-Abbruch-Versicherung</li> <li>Auslandreise-Unfallversicherung</li> <li>Reise-Service- und -Notrufversicher</li> <li>Auslandsreise-Krankenversicherung</li> <li>Reisegepäck-Versicherung</li> <li>Flugverspätungs-Versicherung</li> <li>Handymissbrauchschutz</li> </ul>	ing ierung ing		MasterCard VISA Diners Club TAKE ADVANTAGE	
			Kredit berechnen	
Figure 23. Scre	enshot of banking	website for information stag	ge (Study 2)	
Bitte schließen Sie nun den Studienkredit a Wählen Sie dazu aus, welchen Bankkanal S nicht rückgängig machen, nachdem Sie auf	). ie nutzen möchten. Es steht "Weiter" geklickt haben. Wel	Ihnen das Online-Formular oder die Filiale z chen Vertriebsweg möchten Sie für die Bear	ur Verfügung. Sie können Ihre Eingabe tragung des Studienkredits nutzen?	

Figure 24. Screenshot of banking website for channel choice (Study 2)

○ Filiale

Weiter

○ Online-Formular



### Study 4: Individualized Digital Nudges for Sustainable Product Choices in Digital Retail Channels





# Publication List: Dennis Kaiser (geb. Hummel)

### **Peer-reviewed publications**

- Hummel, D., Toreini, P. and Maedche, A. (2018). Improving Digital Nudging Using Attentive User Interfaces: Theory Development and Experiment Design. *Research in Progress Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Design Science Research in Information Systems and Technology (DESRIST)*, 1–8.
- Hummel, D., Herbertz, S., and Maedche, A. 2018. "Biological Sex vs. Psychological Gender-Roles in Online Channel Choices: Evidence Form Two Studies in the Financial Services Industry," in *Proceedings of the 4th Conference on Gender & IT - GenderIT '18*, New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, pp. 199–208.
- Hummel, D., Schacht, S. and Maedche, A. (2017). Designing Adaptive Nudges for Multi-Channel Choices of Digital Services: A Laboratory Experiment Design. In: *Proceedings of the 25th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*. pp.1–12.
- Hummel, D., Schacht, S. and Maedche, A. (2017). Multi-Channel Choice in Retail Banking Services: Exploring the Role of Service Characteristics. In: 13th International Conference on Wirtschaftsinformatik. pp.619–633.
- Hummel, D., Schacht, S. and Maedche, A. (2016). Determinants of Multi-Channel Behavior:
  Exploring Avenues for Future Research in the Services Industry. In: *Proceedings of the 37th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*. pp.1–12.

### Papers under review

- Hummel, D., Vogel, T., Schacht, S. and Maedche, A. (2018). From the Why to the Who in Channel Choices: The Role of Personality Traits and Gender Roles to Individualize Digital Channels. Under review in European Journal of Information Systems, 1–24.
- Hummel, D. and Maedche, A. (2018). How Effective Is Nudging? A Quantitative Literature Review on the Effect Sizes and Limits of Empirical Nudging Studies. Under review in Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics, 1–29.

# Working papers

Hummel, D., Vogel, T. and Maedche, A. (2018). Individualized Digital Nudges for Sustainable Product Choices in Digital Retail Channels: The Moderating Role of Personality Traits. *Working Paper*, 1–32.

# **Practice oriented publications**

Hummel, D., and Maedche, A. 2017. "IT-Trends in Der Finanzbranche," *HI:TECH CAMPUS It* (2), pp. 32–35.

# Eidesstattliche Versicherung

gemäß § 6 Abs. 1 Ziff. 4 der Promotionsordnung des Karlsruher Instituts für Technologie für die Fakultät für Wirtschaftswissenschaften

- Bei der eingereichten Dissertation zu dem Thema Individualized Choices and Digital Nudging: Multiple Studies in Digital Retail Channels handelt es sich um meine eigenständig erbrachte Leistung.
- Ich habe nur die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt und mich keiner unzulässigen Hilfe Dritter bedient. Insbesondere habe ich wörtlich oder sinngemäß aus anderen Werken übernommene Inhalte als solche kenntlich gemacht.
- 3. Die Arbeit oder Teile davon habe ich *bislang nicht* an einer Hochschule des In- oder Auslands als Bestandteil einer Prüfungs- oder Qualifikationsleistung vorgelegt.
- 4. Die Richtigkeit der vorstehenden Erklärungen bestätige ich.
- 5. Die Bedeutung der eidesstattlichen Versicherung und die strafrechtlichen Folgen einer unrichtigen oder unvollständigen eidesstattlichen Versicherung sind mir bekannt. Ich versichere an Eides statt, dass ich nach bestem Wissen die reine Wahrheit erklärt und nichts verschwiegen habe.

Karlsruhe, den 10.10.2018

**Dennis Hummel**